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Finance I Utility Department 

203 S. Padlk:\n:nue. PO Box 8 19 Kd;:o, \V.-\ 98626 

Phone: 360-+2 3-0900 FAX: 

June 25. 20 18 

To the Honorable Nancy Malone. Mayor 
Members of the Ci ty Counci t 
Stephen Taylor. City Manager 
Citizens ofthe City of Kelso 

360-+25 -9807 

State taw requires that att local governments publish within 150 days of the close of each 
ti scal year tinancial statements covering the full period of each tiscal year. in accordance 
with the forms and methods prescribed by the Washington State Auditor's Office. In 
addition to the State reporting requirements, the City has chosen to issue our tinancial 
report in conformity with generally accepted accounting practices (GAAP) and hereby 
submit this comprehensive annual tinanciat report (CAFR) of the City of Kelso fo r the 
ti scat year ended December 31. 20 18. 

This report consists of management· s representations concerning the ti nances of the City 
of Kelso (City). Consequently. management assumes full responsibility for the 
completeness and reliability of all of the information presented in this report. To provide 
a reasonable basis for making these representations. management of the City has 
established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to protect 
the government' s assets from toss. theft. or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable 
in fo rmation for the preparation of the City's ti nanciat statements in conformity with 
GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their bene ti ts. the 
City's comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide 
reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the ti nanciat statements will be free from 
materi al misstatement. As management. we assert that. to the best of our knowledge and 
belief. thi s tinanciat report is complete and reliable in att material respects. 

The City of Ke lso·s tinanciat statements have been audited by the Washington State 
Auditor's Oftice. The goat of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance 
that the tinanciat statements of the City fo r the ti scat year ended December 3 I. 20 t 8. are 
free of materia l misstatement . The independent audit involved examining. on a test basis. 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements: assessing 
the accounting principles used and signiticant estimates made by management: and 
e\'aluating the overall tinancial statement presentation. The independent auditor 
concluded. based upon the audit. that there vvas a reasonable basis fo r rendering an 

.., 
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unmodi fied opinion that the City of Kelso·s financ ial statements fo r the fiscal year ended 
December 31. 20 18. are fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. The independent 
auditor·s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report. 

GAAP require that management provide a narrati ve introduction. overview·. and analysis 
to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and 
Analysis (M D&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and 
should be read in conjunction with it. The Ciry ·s MD&A can be found immediately 
fo llowing the report of the independent auditors. 

Profile of the Government 

The City of Kelso. incorporated in 1889. is located in southwestern Washington on the 
Cowlitz River. approximately 127 miles south o f the City of Seattle. Washington and 50 
miles north of the City of Portland. Oregon. The City, which serves as the Cowlitz 
County seat. lies adjacent to the City of Longview. Together. these two cities comprise 
of the Kelso/Longview metropoli tan area. the major population center of Cowlitz County. 
The City of Kelso currently occupies a land area of 8 square miles and serves a 
population of 12,080. 

The City of Kelso operates under the Council-Manager form of government. The 
Council is responsible. among other things. for passing ordinances. adopting the budget. 
appointing committees. and hiring both the City Manager and Attorney. The City 
Manager is responsible fo r carrying out the policies and ordinances of the Council , fo r 
overseeing the day-to-day operations of the City. and for appointing the heads of the 
various departments. The Council is elected via City-wide vote. Council members serve 
four-year staggered terms. with three/ four Council members elected every two years. 
The City Council elects a Mayor from the Council membership for a two-year term. 

The City of Kelso provides a full range of services. including police. fire protection (C ity 
contracts with Cowlitz County Fire Distric t No. 2). refuse removal (City contracts with 
Waste Control Equipment Inc.). street maintenance. transit system (C ity contracts with 
Ri ver Cities Transit). water and sewer utilities. library services. and parks and recreation 
fac ili ties. 

Cities and counties of the State of Washington must comply with the Budgeting. 
Accounting, and Reporting System (BARS) prescribed by the Otllce of the State Auditor 
as authori zed under RCW 43.09.200 and RCW 43.09.230. State law also provides for 
annual independent audits by the Washington State Audi tor·s Office and requ ires timely 
submission of annual financial reports to the State fo r rev iew. The tinancial system of 
the City of Kelso incorporates a system of financial and administrative controls that 
ensure the safeguarding of assets and the reliability of tinancial reports. Consequently 
they are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are executed in 
accordance vvith management authori zation. recorded in conformity with GAAP. that 
accountability of control over assets and obligations exists. and that suftlcient reporting 
and revievv exists to provide adequate information for analysis and comparability of data. 



Internal control is an area of audit by the State Aud itor as we ll and City management 
takes action upon recommendations made by the State. 

The City o r Kelso prepares a biennial budget in accordance with RCW J5.A.J 4. The 
biennial budget serves as the foundation lor the City's financial planning and control. 
The budget process begins in mid-summer of even-numbered years. All departments of 
the City arc required to submit req uests for appropriation to the City Clerk on or before 
the fourth Monday in September. The City Manager uses these requests as the starting 
point lo r developing a proposed budget. The City Manager then submits the preliminary 
budget to the City Council lo r review prior to November I. The City Council is required 
to hold public hearings on the preliminary budget and to adopt a final budget by no later 
than December J I , the close of the City's tiscal year. The appropriated budget is 
prepared by fund . The Ci ty Manager is authorized to transfe r budgt:ted amounts between 
departments wi thin any fund and object classes within departments; however, any 
revisions that alter the tota l expenditures or a fund must be approved by the Council. 
Budget-to-actual comparisons are provided in this report to r each individual 
governmenta l fund to r which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. for the 
general and arterial street funds this comparison is presented on pages 35-36 as part or 
the basic financial statements to r the governmental funds. For governmental fund s, other 
than those previously ment ioned, with appropriated annual budgets, this compar ison IS 

presented in the governmental fund subsection of this report , which starts on page I 00. 

Factors Affecting Financial Condition 

The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best unde rstood when it 
is considered from the broader perspecti ve or the speci fic environment within which the 
City of Kelso operates. 

Local economy. Kelso ' s economy is predominately retail , commercial and service 
oriented. The largest employers in the City include f oster Farms Poultry Processing 
Plant, Cowlitz County, and Kelso School Distri ct. The Ci ty al so has a mall that 
encompasses over 420,000 square teet and includes two anchor stores; Sportsman's 
Warehouse, and .I .C. Penney. Additional employment is provided by regional employers 
such as KapStone Paper and Packaging Corp., Peacel-l ealth/St. John llospital, and 
Nippon Paper Industries Company, LTD, which are located in neighboring Longview, 
Washington and in Cowlitz County, Washington. 

The economy of the region is based on a mixture or industrial , commercial and service 
activit y. Wood and paper products processing, stee l processing, trade and port activ ity, 
as well as healthcare, make up the economic fo undation o f the area. The economy as a 
whole has become more dive rsified in recent years, but remains materially dependent on 
the fort:st products industry and, as a resu lt , is relati vely vulnt:rable to the cycl ical 
downturns of that industry. The average unemployment rate lo r the Kelso/Longview 
metropolitan area in 20 18 was 5.9 percent compared with statt: and national rates o r 4.5 
perct:nt and 3.9 percent, respecti ve ly. 
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Long-term financial planning. As always the City of Kelso wi ll strive to continue 
providing basic services at current levels. Funding priorities for long-term operating and 
capital needs are reviewed and updated annually during the budget process and again at 
the council retreat. Over the past decade the City has been particularly successful in 
obtaining grants and lovv interest loans for the upgrade of roadway and utility 
infrastructure. One of the primary goals of the City is to upgrade its infrastructure to help 
attract new business to the region which. in turn. will increase our tax base. 

Acknowledgements 

The Government Finance Offers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) 
awarded a Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City 
of Kelso for its comprehensive annual tinancial report (CAFR) for the tiscal year ended 
December 31. 2017. This was the fourteenth consecutive year that the City has received 
this prestigious award. In order to be awarded a Certiticate of Achievement. the City 
published an easi ly readable and efficiently organized CAFR. This rep011 satisfied both 
GAAP and applicable legal requirements. 

A Certificate o f Achievement is va lid for a period o f one year only. We believe that our 
current CAFR continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program ·s requirements 
and we are submitting it to GFOA to detetmine its eligibility for another certificate. 

The preparation of this Comprehensive Annual Financial Repott represents the 
culmination of months of concerted teamwork and could not have been accomplished 
without the professional. efficient and dedicated staff of the Finance Department. To 
each. I share my sincerest appreciation. 

Credit also must be given to the Mayor and the City Council for their unfailing support 
for maintaining the highest standards of professionalism in the management of the City of 
Kelso·s tinances. 
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Finance Director 
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Office of the Washington State Auditor 
Pat McCarthy 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

June 25. 20 19 

Mayo r and Ci ty Council 
City of Kelso 
Kelso. Washington 

REPORT ON THE FINANCI AL STATEMENTS 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 

acti vities. each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Kelso, as o f and 
for the year ended December 31. 20 18. and the related notes to the financial statements. which 

co llecti ve ly compri se the City"s bas ic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

M a nag eme nt's Respons ibility fo r th e F in a ncia l S ta te ments 

Management is responsible fo r the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generall y accepted in the United States of America: this includes 
the des ign. implementation. and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement. whether due to fraud or 

error. 

A udito r's Res pon s ibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these tinancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generall y accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards. issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free fro m material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit ev idence about the amounts and di sclosures in 
the tinanc ial statements. The procedures se lected depend on the auditor' s judgment. including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements. whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those ri sk assessments. the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City"s 
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preparati on and fa ir presentation of the tinancial statements in order to des ign audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
o f the City's internal control. Accordingly. we express no such opinion. An audit also inc ludes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness o f s ibTflificant 
accounting estimates made by management, as we ll as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to prov ide a basis for 
our aud it opinions. 

Opinion 

In our opinion. the financial statements refetTed to above present fa irly. in all material respects. the 
respective financial position of the gove rnmental acti vities. the business-type activ ities, each major fund 
and the aggregate remaining fund in fo rmation of the City of Kelso. as of December 31. 20 18. and the 
respective changes in tinancial position and. where applicable. cash flows thereof. and the respective 
budgetary comparison fo r the General and Arterial Street funds for the year then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generall y accepted in the United States of Ameri ca. 

Matters of Emp hasis 

As discussed in Note V to the fi nancial statements. in 201 8. the City adopted new accounting guidance. 
Governmenta l Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 75. rlccounting and Financial Reportingfor 

Postemploy ment Benefits Other Thon Pens ions. Our op inion is not modified with respect to thi s matter. 

Other Matters 

R equired Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generall y accepted in the United States of Ameri ca require that the management 's 
di scuss ion and analys is and required supplementary informati on listed in the table of contents be 
presented to supplement the bas ic ti nancial statements. Such informati on. although not a part of the 
basic financial statements. is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers 
it to be an essential part of ti nancial reporting for plac ing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic or historical context. We have app lied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with audi ting standards generall y accepted in the United States 
of Ameri ca. which consisted of inquiri es of management about the methods of preparing the informati on 
and comparing the information for consistency with management" s responses to our inquiries. the basic 
tinancia l statements. and other knowledge we obtained during our audit o f the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or prov ide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with suffic ient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

I ~ 



Supplem entary and Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of fo rming opinions on the financial statements that co llectively 
comprise the City"s basic financial statements . The combining financial statements and schedules are 
presented for the purposes of additional ana lysis and is not a required part of the basic tinancial 
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was deri ved from and relates 
directl y to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the tinancial statements. This 
information has been subjected to auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures. including comparing and reconciling such in format ion 
direct ly to the underl ying accounting and other records used to prepare the tinancial statements or to the 
financia l statements themselves. and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion. the information is fairly stated. in 
all material respects. in re lation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. 

Our audit was conducted for the sole purpose of fo rming opinions on the tinancia l statements that 
co llecti vely comprise the City"s basic financ ia l statements as a whole. The Introductory and Statistical 
Secti ons are presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic fi nancial 
statements of the City. Such in formation has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the aud it of the bas ic financial statements and. accordingly. we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on it. 

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards. we will also issue our report dated June 25. 20 19. 
on our consideration of the City" s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations. contracts and grant agreements and other 
matters. That report will be issued under separate cover in the City"s Single Audit Report. The purpose 
of that report is to describe the scope of our test ing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial 
reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part o f an aud it performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City"s internal control over tinancial reporting and 
compliance. 

Sincerely. 

Pat McCarthy 

State Auditor 

O lympia. W A 
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Management's Discussion and Anal ys is 

As management-ot=-the-Eity---oH~:elso:-we-offe,-readers-ohhe-Eity---o t=-Ke lsti-s-financial------­

statements thi s narrati ve overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City for 
the fiscal year ended December 31. 20 18. We encourage readers to consider the 
information presented in conjunction with additional information that we have furni shed 
in our letter of transmittal. All amounts reported in the MD&A. unless otherwise 
indicated. are expressed in thousands of dollars. 

Financial Highlights 

• The assets and defeiTed outtlows of resources o f the C ity of Kel so exceeded its 
liabilities and deferred intlows of resources at the close of the most recent ti scal 
year by $99.283 (net position). Capital assets. net of depreciation and related 
debt. account for $84.703 or 85.3% of tota l net position. $13.158 or 13.3% of 
total net position (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the 
government' s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

• The government 's total net position increased by $4,642 during 2018. 
• As of the close of the current fi scal year. the C ity of Kelso· s governmental funds 

reported combined ending fund balances of $10,823 an increase of $627 in 
comparison with the prior year. Approximately 91% of this amount. $9.880. is 
available for spending at the government' s discretion (unrestricted fund balance). 

• At the end of the current fi scal year. unrestricted fund balance (the total of the 
committed. assigned. and unassigned components of fund balance) for the 
general fund was $6.434, or 57% of total general fund expenditures. 

• The C ity of Kelso's total debt (exclusive of compensated absences. bond 
di scounts/premiums. and pension obligations) increased by $2,875 during the 
cuiTent fi scal year. 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and ana lysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Kelso· s 
basic financial statements. The C ity's basic financia l statements comprise three 
components: I) government-wide financial statements. 2) fund tinancial statements, and 
3) notes to the tinancial statements. This report also contains other supplementary 
information in addition to the basic financial statements themse lves. 

Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are 
designed to provide readers with a broad overview o f the City's finances. 111 a manner 
similar to a private-sector business. 

The statement of net position presents information on all of the City's assets. liabilities. 
and deferred intlovvs/outtlovvs of resources. with the difference reported as net posi tion. 
Over time. increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of 
whether the tinancia l pos ition of the City is improving or deteriorating. 
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The statement of activities presents information showing how the government"s net 
position changed during the most recent fi scal year. All changes in net position are 
reported as soon as the underlying event giving ri se to the change occurs. regardless of 
the timing of related cash tlovis. Thus. revenues and expenses are reported in this 
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future tiscal periods (e.g .. 
uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish function s of the City that 
are principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental 
activities) from other functions that are intended to recove r all or a signi ticant portion of 
their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental 
activities of the City include general government. security of persons and property. 
physical environment. transportation. economic environment. and culture and recreation. 
The business-type activities of the City include a water/sewer enterprise. a so lid waste 
enterprise. and a storm water drainage enterprise. 

Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to 
maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or 
objectives. The City of Kelso, like other State and local governments. uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with tinance-related legal 
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be di vided into three categories: 
governmental funds. proprietary funds. and fiduciary funds. 

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same 
functions reported as governmental activities in the government-wide tinancial 
statements. However, unlike the government-wide tinancial statements. governmental 
fund financial statements focus on near-term intlows and outflows of spendable 
resources. as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fi scal 
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government"s near-tenn financial 
requirements. 

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide 
tinancial statements. it is useful to compare the in formation presented for governmental 
funds with similar information presented for governmental activities in the government­
wide tinancial statements. By doing so. readers may better understand the long-term 
impact of the City's near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance 
sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues. expenditures. and changes in 
fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental 
funds and governmental activities. 

The City of Kelso maintains ten individual governmental funds. In formation is presented 
separately in the governmental fund balance sheets and in the governmental fund 
statement of revenues. expenditures. and changes in fund balances for the general fund 
and the at1eri al street fund, which are considered to be major funds. Data from the other 
eight governmental funds are combined into a single. aggregated presentation. Individual 
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fund data for each of these nonmajor governmental funds 1s pro,·ided Ill the form of 
combining statements elsewhere in thi s repo11. 

The City of Kelso adopts a biennial appropriated budget for all of its governmental funds. 
Budgetary comparison statements have been provided for these funds to demonstrate 
compliance with this budget. 

Proprietary funds. The City of Kelso maintains two different types of proprietary 
funds. Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type 
acti vities in the government-wide tinancial statements. The City uses enterprise funds to 
account for its water/sewer. solid waste. and its storm water drainage depat1ments. 
Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs 
internally among the City's various func tions. The City uses an internal service fund to 
account for the acquisition of its vehicle tleet. A portion of the acquisition fund has been 
included within the business-type functions. The remainder of these services 
predominantly benefit governmental rather than business-type functions and have been 
included within governmental activities in the government-wide fi nancial statements. 

Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financia l 
statements. only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide 
separate information for the water/sewer, solid waste. and storm water drainage 
departments. However, only the water/sewer and solid waste funds are considered to be 
major funds of the City. The internal service fund is also presented separate ly in the 
proprietary fund tinancial statements. 

Fitluciary funds. Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the bene tit 
of parties outside the City. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide 
fi nancial statement because the resources of those funds are not available to supp011 the 
City's own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is much li ke that used for 
proprietary funds. 

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide add itional information that is 
essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund 
tinancial statements. 

Other information. In addition to the basic financi al statements and accompanymg 
notes. this report also presents the combining statements. referred to earli er in connection 
wi th nonmajor governmental funds. which are presented immediately following the notes 
and required supplemental infonnation. 

Government-wide Financial Analysis 

As noted earlier. net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a City"s 
tinancial position. In the case or the City of Kelso. assets and deferred outtlows of 
resources exceeded liabilities and deferred intlows of resources by $99.283 at the close of 
the most recent fi scal year. The follo\ving is a condensed version of the Government-
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Wide Statement of Net Position as of December 31. 20 18 with comparable data provided 
for the previous year. 

City of Kelso' s Net Pos it ion 

Governmental Business-type 
activities activities Total 

20 18 20 17 20 18 20 17 20 18 20 17 
Current and other assets $14.6 10 $ 12.-ll 7 S I 1.520 $ 11.602 s 26, 130 $ 14.0 19 
Capital assets (net) 63.714 6 1.833 33.083 29. 111 96.807 90.944 

Total assets 78.334 7-1.250 -14.603 -10.7 13 122.93 7 11-1.963 
Tota l deferred outtlows of 

resources 520 384 179 155 _______Q2__2 539 
Long-term liabili ties outstanding 12, 177 9.3 7-1 8.770 5.806 10 ,947 15. 180 
Other liabil ities 86 1 604 1.1 7-1 1.353 1.035 1.957 

Total liabili ties 13.038 9.978 9.944 7.1 59 22.982 ...!.1.ill 
Total deferred inflows of 

resources 1. 107 605 764 153 ___Llli ~ 
Net posit ion: 
Net investment in capital assets 59,015 56.850 25,678 24.876 84 .703 81.726 
Restricted 944 1.1 15 478 479 1.-122 1.594 
Unrestricted 4.740 6.086 8.-1 18 8.20 1 13. 158 14,287 

Total net position $.Q:l,]0_2 SQ<!_,Qil $34Sl'J $33 ,556 $99,283 $97,60_7 

By far the largest portion of the City"s net position (85.3 percent) retlects its investment 
in capital assets (e.g .. land, bui ldings, machinery. and equipment). less any related debt 
used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding. The City uses these capital assets to 
provide services to citizens: consequently. these assets are not available for future 
spending. Although the City"s investment in its capital assets is reported net of re lated 
debt. it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided 
from other sources. since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 

An additional portion of the City of Kelso ·s net pos ition ( 1.4 percent ) represents 
resources that are subject to ex ternal restrictions on how they may be used. The 
remaining balance o f unrestricted net position $13.1 58 may be used to meet the City"s 
ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

At the end of the current fi scal year. the City of Kelso is able to report positive balances 
in all three categories of net position. both fo r the government as a whole. as well as for 
its separate governmental and business-type activities. 

Governmenta l activities. Governmental activities increased the City of Kelso's net 
position by $3.624 in 201 8. Revenues increased by $2.548 and expenditures decreased 
by $2.534 in 20 18. Key elements for these changes are as follows: 

• Capital grant revenues fo r roadvvay improvements increased by $ 1.983 from prior 
year. 
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• Roadway maintenance expenditures decreased by $2,070 over prior year. In 20 17, 
the City completed two major street overlay projects. 

• Expenditures related to the funding of certain law enforcement related retirement 
benefits decreased by $657 in 2018. 

City of Kelso's Changes in Net Position 

Governmental Business-type 
activities activities Total 

20 18 20 17 2018 2017 2018 2017 
Revenues: 
Program revenues: 

Charges for services $ 1, 108 $1,384 $11 ,863 $ ll ,.B7 $ 12,971 $ 12,821 
Operating grants and contributions 5J.l 261 6 -l4 520 305 
Capital grants and contributions 2,584 60 1 146 165 2,730 766 

General revenues: 
Property taxes 1,506 1,300 1,506 1,300 
Sales and use taxes 2,932 2,883 2,932 2,883 
Utility taxes 3,358 3,320 3,358 3.320 
Business taxes 986 945 986 945 
Excise taxes 450 263 450 263 
Penalties and interest 9 5 9 5 
State entitlements 978 804 978 804 
Investment earnings 142 93 148 70 290 163 
Miscellaneous 75 286 75 286 
Gain/( loss) on sale of capital assets 186 !35 _____(lQ:!} __ill ___ill.2) 

Total revenues 14.828 12.280 12. 163 11 .452 26.99 1 23.732 

Expenses: 
General government 2,036 2,031 2,036 2,03 1 
Security of persons and property 4,661 5,392 4,661 5,392 
Physical environment 295 324 295 324 
Transportation 2,489 4,287 2,489 4,287 
Economic environment 302 343 302 343 
Culture and recreation 1,228 1, 161 1,228 1, 161 
Interest on long-term debt 149 156 149 156 
Water/Sewer 8,836 8.008 8,836 8,008 
Storm water 678 665 678 665 
Solid waste 1.675 1.575 1.675 1.575 

Total expenses 11.160 13 694 11.189 10.248 22.349 23 ,942 
Change in net position before transfers 3,668 (1.414) 974 1,204 4,642 (2 10) 
Transfers ______(:!1.l -l4 - --- ---
Change in net position 3,624 ( 1,414) 1,018 1,204 4,642 (2 10) 
Net position - beginning, restated* 6 1.085 65,465 33,556 32.352 94.64 1 97 817 
Net position - ending $.M...1Q2 $61,05 I ~ ~ $99 283 ~ 
•Restated for 20 17. see note V.I. 
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Business-type activities. Business-type activities increased the City of Kelso·s net 
position by $ 1.018. Business-type activity revenues increased by $446 and 
expenditures increased by $94 1 in ?0 18. Operating revenues exceeded operating 
expenses in ?0 18 by $648 in the water/sewer fund. 

Expenses a nd Program Revenues - Business-type Activities 
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Key elements for the change in net position are as follows: 

• Repair and maintenance costs increased by $500 for the replacement o f the 
roof at the City" s operations center. 

• The City increased the water and sewer rates by 3% and 2%. respec ti vely in 
20 18. 

• The City increased the garbage collection rates by 2% in 20 18. 
• The City increased the storm water drainage collection rates by 4% in 2018. 

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds 

As noted earlier. the City of Kelso uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate 
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. 

Governmental Funds. The focus of the City of Kelso ·s governmental fund s is to provide 
information on near-term intlows. outtlows. and balances of spendable resources. Such 
information is useful in assessing the City of Kelso·s tinancing requirements. In 
particular. unrestricted fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government' s net 
resources available for discretionary use as they represent the portion of fund balance 
which has not yet been limi ted to use for a parti cular purpose by ei ther an external party. 
the City of Kelso. or a group or individual that has been delegated authority to assign 
resources for use for particular purposes by the City Council. 

As of the end of the current tiscal year. the City of Ke lso · s governmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of $ 10.823 an increase of $627 in compari son with the 
prior year. Approximately 9 1% of ending fund balance ($9,880) constitutes unrestricted 
fund balance (unassigned. assigned. and committed). which is availab le for spending at 
the City" s di sc retion. The remainder of fund balance is restricted to indicate that it is not 
available for new spending because it is restricted I) to pay for housing rehabilitation 
($332). 2) to pay for low income housing ($43 ). 3) to pay for street maintenance & 
construction ($60). 4) to pay for construction or debt service on certain capital projects 
($342), 5) for a variety of other restricted purposes ($ 167) 

As mentioned earlier. the City of Kelso maintains ten individual governmental funds. 
Tvvo of these funds are class ified as major funds for the purposes of this report. based on 
criteria set forth by the GASB. Those funds are the General Fund and the Arterial Street 
Fund. 

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Kelso. At the end of the 
current tiscal year. total fund balance of the general fund was $6.53 7. All but $427 of 
this fund balance is unassigned. $103 is restricted for lovv income housing. criminal 
justice. and public education. $323 has been assigned by the City for maintenance of City 
owned bridges. Unass igned fund balance represents 59 percent of total general fund 
operating expenditures (excludes capital expenditures and transfers). 



The fund balance of the City of Kelso ·s general fund increased by $ 108 during the 
current tiscal year. 

The arteri al street fund accounts for the receipt and expenditure of various grants. road 
maintenance fees. as well as transfers from the other funds. Revenues are designated for 
construction. improvement. chip sealing. seal coating. and repair of streets or for payment 
of related municipal indebtedness. In 20 18. the arteri al street fund expended in excess of 
$2.9 million on roadway improvements. 

Proprietary funds. The City of Kelso ·s proprietary funds provide the same type of 
information found in the government-wide tinancial statements. but in more detail. 

Unrestricted net position of the water/sew·er fund at the end of the year amounted to 
$7.093. and for the solid waste fund amounted to $268. The total net position for the 
\Vater/sewer fund increased by $856 and the total net position for the solid waste fund 
decreased by $30. Factors concerning the tinances of these two funds have already been 
addressed in the discussion o f the City of Kelso·s business-type acti vities. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

Differences between the original budget and the fina l amended budget amounted to a 
$324 increase in appropriations. 

At the end of the year. operating revenues exceeded budgetary estimates by $395 
Operating expenditures and transfers were $295 less than budgetary estimates. 

Some of the factors that contributed to the revenue surplus are as follows: 
• Sales tax came in $76 above budgeted amount due to increased economic activity 

and certain one-time amounts related to \York being done by private entities 
within Kelso ·s city limits. 

• State and federal grants exceeded budgeted amounts by $353 . 

Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

Capital Assets. The City of Kelso·s investment in capital assets for its governmental and 
business type acti vities as of December 31. 20 I 8 amounts to $84. 703 (net of related debt 
and accumulated deprec iation). This investment in capital assets includes land. buildings 
and structures. improvements. machinery and equipment. park facil ities. and 
infrastructure (roads. highways. and bridges constructed after December 3 1. 1979). 

Major capital asset events during the current tiscal year included the following: 

• In 2018. construction was completed on the new 2-million-gallon Minor Road 
Reservo ir. It replaced two 90 plus year old concrete tanks. The old reservoirs did 
not meet current se ismic bu ilding codes and \vere a high ri sk of failure from 
earthquake damage. The project was funded primarily through a Drinking Water 
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State Revolving Loan and a State grant. The total cost of this project through 
December 3 I. 20 18. \·Vas $5.514. 

• In 20 18. the City also completed major improvements to South Pacific Avenue. 
This project provided pavement rehabi litation. sidewalk repairs. storm drain 
system upgrades. and the replacement of a di lapidated sew·er line on Pacitic 
Avenue between Vine and Cherry. The total cost of thi s proj ect through 
December 3 I. 20 I 8. was $1.526. 

City of Kelso's Capita l Assets 
(net of depreciation) 

Governmental Business-type 
activities activities Tota l 

20 18 20 17 20 18 20 17 20 18 20 17 
Land $23. 120 $23 .022 $ 29 $ 29 S23. 1-l9 $23.05 1 
Bui ldings and structures 7. 125 7.034 12.895 7.587 20.020 14.62 1 
Improvements other than 

3.689 3.704 18.39 1 17.936 22.080 2 1.640 buildings 
Machinery and equipment 966 1.053 1.6 11 1.752 2.577 2. 805 
Infrastructure 26.834 26.367 26.83-l 26.367 
Construction in progress 1.990 653 _____liZ 1.807 2. 147 2.460 
Total $_6.3, 724 $6 1,833 lli,083 $29, 11 1 $2.6.. 80 7 S2Q,2:H 

Add itional information on the City of Kelso·s capital assets can be found in note IV.C. 

Long-term debt. At the end of the current ti scal year. the City of Kelso had total bonded 
G.O. debt outstanding of $4.530. I 00% of this amount is backed by the fu ll faith and 
credit of the City. The remainder of the City of Ke lso's debt represents bonds secured 
solely by specified revenue sources (i.e .. revenue bonds). 

G.:n.:r<J I obl igation bonds 
R.:v.:nu.: bonds 
rota I 

City of Kelso 's Outstand ing Debt 
General Obligation ami R.:\.:nu.: Bonds 

Go\-crnm.:ntal 13 usiness-typ.: 
acti\ iti.:s act ivities 

20 18 20 17 20 18 20 17 
S-U30 $-1.800 $- $-

- - 3.665 3.880 -- --
S.:l,ill $-1,.800 $.3..665 SJ..8.lill 

l"ota l 
20 18 
$-1.530 
3.665 

$lU95 

20 17 
S-1.800 

3.880 
~ 

The City of Kelso· s total bonded debt decreased by $485 during the current fiscal year. 

In addition to the bonded debt mentioned above. the City has three Drinking Water State 
Revolving Fund loans outstanding at year end. The total amount outstand ing at year end 
for these loans is $4.332. 

Addi tional information on the City ofKelso ·s long-term debt can be found in note IV.E. 

The City of Kelso is authorized to issue debt pursuant to the Acts of the State of 
Washington. With voter approval the City can issue debt up to 2.5 percent of the 
assessed valuation of taxable property within the City. Without a vote. the City can incur 

~6 



debt up to an amount equal to 1.5 percent of the assessed Yaluation. Further. \'Oted 
indebtedness is permitted for water. artiti cial lights. and sewerage up to 2.5 percent of 
assessed valuation. with an additional 2.5 percent available for acquiring open space for 
park fac ilities. The combination of unl imited tax (voted) and limited tax (non-voted) 
general obligation debt for all purposes cannot exceed 7.5 percent of assessed valuation. 

Economic Factors and Next Year' s Budgets and Rates 

• The annual average unemployment rate for the Kelso/Longview metropolitan area 
in 20 18 was 5.9 percent. which is a decrease from a rate o f 6 .1 percent in 20 17. 
This compares unfavorab ly to the State· s average unemployment rate of 4.5 
percent and the national average rate of 3.9 percent. 

• In 20 18. the City continued to experience a robust economy that pro,·ided higher 
than expected sales tax revenues. In addition. for the 201 9/2020 bienn ium. the 
City maintained the 2% increase for utility taxes on \Vater. sewer. and garbage 
that was implemented in the 20 17/20 18 biennium. 

• The City's ability to raise property taxes has been limited by Initiati ve 74 7. 1-747 
is a voter approved initiative that reduces the allowable property tax gro\v1h limi t 
to the lower of I percent or the Implicit Price Detlator. 

All of these factors were considered in preparing the City of Kelso· s budget fo r the 20 19 
tiscal year. 

At the end of the current fi scal year the unassigned fund balance in the general fund is 
$6. 111. In 20 19. the City anticipates spending down $35 1 of this unassigned fund 
balance. Most o f the anticipated de ti cit stems from conserYati ve revenue projections. 
enhanced street maintenance programs and certain technology upgrades planned for 
20 19. 

In 20 19. water and sevv·er non-industrial rates will be increased by 3% and 2%. 
respectively. Garbage and drainage rates will be increased by 4% and 3%. respecti vely. 
These rate increases are necessary to keep pace with intlation and fo r future capital 
upgrades. 

Requests for Information 

This ti nancial repo11 is designed to provide a general overview· of the City of Kelso ' s 
tinances for all those with an interest in the City' s finances. Questions concerning any of 
the information provided in thi s report or requests for additional tinancial information 
should be addressed to the Office of the Finance Direc tor. P.O. Box 8 19. Ke lso. 
Washington 98626. 
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City of Kelso 
Statement of ~et Position 

December 31,2018 

PRL'VIARY GOVER.YVIE:\T 
Governmental Business-type 

Activities Activities Tota l 

ASSETS 
Cash & cash equivalents $ 6,986 ,937 $ 7,749,694 $ 14,736,631 
Investments 1,788,054 795,946 2,584,000 
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectible): 2,930,962 2,160,771 5,091,733 
Net pension asset 2,445,593 2,445,593 
Long-term notes receivable 458,416 458,416 
Restricted assets 814,142 814,142 
Capital assets net of accumulated depreciation: 

Land 23,119,699 28,712 23,148,411 
Buildings 7,125,005 12,895,051 20,020,056 
Improvements other than buildings 3,689 ,328 18,390,516 22,079,844 
Machinery and equipment 966,017 1,611 ,153 2,577,170 
lnfrastructure 26,834,157 26,834,157 
Construction in progress 1,990,144 157,450 2,147,594 

Total assets 78,334,312 44,603,435 122,937,747 

DEFERRED OCTFLOWS OF RESOCRCES 
Deferred charge on refunding 33,212 33,212 
Deferred outflows related to pensions 423 ,504 178,507 602,011 
Deferred outflows related to OPEB 63,578 63,578 

Total deferred outflows of resources 520,294 178,507 698,801 

LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable and other current liabilities 771 ,804 810,260 1,582,064 
Interest payable 12,728 28,405 41 ' 133 
Unearned revenue 76,402 76,402 
Liabilities payable from restricted assets 335,632 335,632 
Long-term liabilities: 

Due within one year 390,175 657,450 1,047,625 
Due in more than one year 4,882 ,333 7,426,040 12,308,373 

Net pension liability 1,029,671 686,448 1,716,119 
Total OPEB liability 5,875,460 5,875,460 
Total liabilities 13,038,573 9,944,235 22,982,808 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOCRCES 
Deferred inflows related to pensions 1,107,249 264,240 1,371,489 

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,107,249 264,240 1,371 ,489 

:'II"ET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 59,025,290 25,677,353 84,702,643 
Restricted for: 

Debt service 478,510 478,510 
Capital projects 341 ,828 341 ,828 
Promotion of touri sm 103,662 103,662 
Paths and trails 3,102 3, 102 
Street maintenance/construction 60,160 60,160 
Criminal Justice 41 ,771 41 ,771 
Affordable housing 42,571 42,571 
Housing/neighborhood rehabilitation 331 ,959 331,959 
Public education 18,701 18,701 

Unrestricted 4,739,740 8,417,604 13,157,344 
Total net position $ 64,708,784 $ 34,573,467 $ 99,282,251 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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(.'UIH . .:IIUIISI PrugralllS 

l,rimar')' government: 
tiovcrnmcutal at.:tlvttrcs 

(.ierlcral government 

Securuy of persons and properly 
Physu.:al I.:IIVIfOIIIIlC..:I\1 

l 'rallSjJOrtUIIOII 

l:coltolliiC CIIVII'OillliC..:III 

Culture and re~,;rcatlon 

lnh:rcst on lortg-h;rlll debt 
' l'otal guvcrnllll!lllal at.:tiVItlcs 

Bus111css-typc a(.; IIV!llcs 

Water/Sewer 

Sol 1d waste 

Storlll watc1 

T otal bus mess-type a(.; II VIlle~ 

'l'otal pnllmry guvcnllllclll 

CITY ()II KEI.~O 

~tatement of Activities 

For the Year t•:nded December 3 1, 20tH 

Program Rl.!venucs 

()pcratlllg 

C harges t(,r Urams and Capital Urants & 

Expenses Savu.:cs Contributions COillribllllOIIS 

$ 2,035,802 $ 135,549 $ $ 

4,661 ,172 267,843 176,616 
294,896 38,591 

2,489,561 412,415 333,638 2,331 ,924 
302.234 155,765 

1,227.728 97,253 4,000 251 ,956 
148,730 

11 ,160,123 1,107,416 514,254 2,583,880 

8,835,725 9,377,140 145,500 
1,674,987 1,642,251 

677,951 843,433 6,240 
11 ,188,663 11,862,824 6,240 145,500 

$ 22,348,786 $ 12.970,240 $ 520 ,494 $ 2,729,380 

tieneral Revenues 
Property taxes 

Sales taxes 

Utility taxes 

Busrness taxes 

I ~xc 1:se taxes 

Penalties & Interest 

State entitlements ( unrestnctcd) 

Investment carn1ngs 

Ml:sccllalleous 
< iaull(loss) on sale of ~.:apr tal assets 

Translcrs 

Total general revenues 
Change 111 nc..:t puslllun 

Net position - bcglllnlllg, restated (sec note V I. ) 

Net po~Jtton · cwJ mg 

Th~.: notes to the linalll.:lal stalclllelllS arc an llltegral part or thiS statement 

Net (expense) Rewnue and 

Chaugcs in Net PosJIJUn 
Pnmary (iovcrnu1ent 

(lovemlllefltal llusincss-typc 
Acllvtltcs AciiVIIJ ~.:s Total 

$ (1 ,900,253) $ $ (1,900,253) 
(4,216, 713) (4 ,216,713) 

(256,305) (256,305) 
588,416 588,416 

(146,469) (146,469) 
(874,519) (874 .519) 
(148,730) (148,730) 

(6,954,5731 (6,954 ,573) 

686,915 686 ,915 
(32.736) (32,736) 
171 ,722 171 ,722 
825,901 825 ,901 

$ (6,954 .573) $ 825,901 $ (6,128,672) 

1,506.282 1,506,282 
2,931 ,788 2,931 .788 
3,358,475 3,358,475 

986 ,242 986,242 
449 ,828 449 ,828 

8,885 8,885 
978,482 978,482 
141 ,635 148,397 290,032 
74 ,511 74,511 

186,181 186,181 
(43 ,561) 43,561 

10,578,748 191,958 10,770,706 
3,624 .175 1,017 ,859 4,642.034 

61,084 ,609 33,555,608 94,640,217 
$ 64,708 ,784 $ 34,573,467 $ 99,282,251 



ASSETS 
Cash & cash eqUJvalents 
Lnvestments 
Receivables (net) 

Taxes 
Accoums 
-\ssessmenrs 

Due from other funds 
Due from Olher governments 
.A.dvances ro other funds 
Long·tenn notes receivable 

Total assets 

LL\B!LITIES 
-\ccounts payable 
Due to other funds 
Advances from other funds 
L·nearned revenue 

Total liabilities 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOlRCES 
C navrulable revenue-propeny tax 
L·navailable revenue·muruc1pal coun 
Cnava.J.Iable revenue~grants 

Total deferred inflows of resources 

Ft::'<D BALA:\C ES (DEFIC ITS) 
Restricted for : 

Paths and tratls 
Promotion of tourism 
Housing/neighborhood rehabilitanon 
Low rncome housmg 
Criminal JUStice 
Street maintenance/construcnon 
Capital projects 
Public education 

.-\ssrgned to: 
Debt servlce 
Bridge mamtenance 
Recreation 
>ieighborhood rehabilitation 
Criminal j usuce 
Street maintenancelconstrucoon 
Promouon of towism 

Cnassigned 
Total fund balances 
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and 

fund balances (defiCits) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

City of Kelso 
Balance Sheet 

Governmental Funds 
De<:ember 31. 2018 

GeneraJ 

Fund 
.-\rteriaJ Street 

Fund 

4.053.991 $ 9.430 
1.002.635 

1.538 .682 
226 .511 

11 ,203 

266 .562 796.259 

7.088 .381 $ 816,892 

389 .987 342,11 5 
32,000 

225,004 
11 ,203 

389,987 610,322 

66,961 
94 .049 

21 ,562 
161 .010 21 ,562 

42.571 
41 .771 

18.701 

323.477 

185.008 

6,110.864 
6.537,384 185.008 

7,088,381 $ 816,892 

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 2,613,199 
785.41 9 

7,682 
30,390 

32.000 
53.673 

225.004 
458.4 16 

$ 4,205,783 

39,702 

65,199 
104.901 

3, 102 
103,662 
331,959 

60,160 
341 ,828 

2,671 ,773 

7.500 
484,763 

74.233 

21 ,902 

4,100,882 

$ 4,205,783 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

$ 6.676.620 
1.788,054 

1,546,364 
256,901 

11 .203 
32 .000 

1' 116.494 
225 .004 
458.416 

$ 12.111 ,056 

771.804 
32,000 

225,004 
76.402 

1,105.210 

66,961 
94,049 
21 ,562 

182.572 

3, 102 
103.662 
331 ,959 
42,571 
41 ,771 
60,160 

341.828 
18,701 

2.671 . 773 
323.477 

7.500 
484.763 

74.233 
185,008 
21 ,902 

6,110,864 
10.823,274 

.-\mounts reported for governmental activmes m the statement of net 
posttlon are different because: 

Capttal assets used m governmental act.ivioes are not financial 
resources and. therefore. are not reported in the funds . 63.090.341 

Other assets are not avatlable to pay for current-period expendirures 
and, therefore. are deferred in the funds. 182,572 

\"et PensiOn and ~et OPEB .-\ssets or Obligauons are not constdered 
to represent a ftnancial resource or liability and. therelore, 
are not reponed tn rhc funds (5.079,705) 

lnternaJ serv1ce funds are used by management to charge rhe costs 
of fleet management to mdividual funds. The assets and liab1hhes 
of the mtemaJ sef\llce funds are mcluded m govenunentaJ actJvltles 
m the staternenr o f net positiOn. 944.326 

Long-term liabtliues, mcluding bonds payable, are not due and payable 
rn the currem period and therefore are not reponed m rhe funds (5,252,024) 

'\et posiUon of governmental acnvioes $ 64 .708,784 

The notes to lhe fmanc1aJ :itatements are an mtegraJ pan o f thts statement 
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City of Kelso 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and C hanges in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Other 
General Arterial Street Governmenta l 

Fund Fund Funds Total 
Revenues 

Taxes $ 8,227 ,226 $ 434,678 $ 592,553 $ 9,254,457 
Licenses and permits 168,834 168.834 
Intergovernmental 1,456,284 2,229,369 186,828 3,872,481 
Charges for services 1,075,747 165,510 4 ,712 1,245,969 
Fines 136,005 2,052 138,057 
Investment earnings 98,168 1,968 43,401 143,537 
Contributions 4,000 4,000 
Rental/lease income 101 ,821 10,920 112,741 
Miscellaneous 57,968 1,886 23,055 82,909 

Total revenues 11 ,326,053 2,833,411 863,521 15,022,985 

Expend itures 

Current: 
General government 2,492,394 2,492,394 
Security of persons and property 4,876,174 243,723 5,119,897 
Physical environment 578,221 578,221 
Transportation 1,244,536 247,154 1,491 ,690 
Economic environment 309,889 73 309,962 
Culture and recreation 860,898 226,469 1,087,367 

Debt service: 

Principal 270,000 270,000 
Interest and bond issuance costs 3,802 159,963 163,765 

Capital outlay: 
General government 8,432 8,432 
Transportation 2,660,789 2,660,789 
Culture and recreation 300,063 128,854 428,917 

Total expenditures 10,670,607 2,911,745 1,029,082 14 ,611,434 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 655,446 (78,334) (165,561) 411 ,551 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Sale of general capital assets 259,141 259,141 
Transfers in 61 ,000 347,800 553,454 962,254 
Transfers out (608,413) (397,402) (1,005,815) 

Total other financing sources (uses ) (547,413) 347,800 415,193 215,580 
Net change in fund balances 108,033 269,466 249,632 627,131 

Fund balances - beginning, restated (see note v u 6,429,351 (84,458) 3,851 ,250 10,196,143 
Fund balances - ending $ 6,537 ,384 $ 185,008 $ 4,100,882 $ 10,823,274 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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City of Kelso 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes In Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
To the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended December 31,20 18 

Amounts reported lor governmental activities in the statement of activities are 
different because: 

Net change in fund balances- total governmental funds (page 33) 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 
statement of activities the cost of those assets are allocated over their estimated 
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which 
depreciation exceeded capita l outlays in the current period. 

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets is to 
increase net assets. 

The net e ffect of funding the City's annual required contribution to the 
State Pension Fund. 

The net effect of funding the City's post-retirement health care benefits for LEOFF I 
(Law Enforcement Officers and Fire Fighters) employees. 

Some revenues reported in the governmental funds have already been reported in 
the statement of activities in prior years. 

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources 
are not reported as revenues in the funds. 

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds, notes) provides current financial 
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term 
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neithe r 
transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also. governmental funds 
report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, discounts. and similar items when 
debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized in the 
statement of activities. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the 
treatment of long-term debt and re lated items. 

Some expenses reported in the statement of acti vities do not require the use of 
current financial resources and, therefore. are not reported as expenditures in 
governmental funds. 

Some expenses reported in the governmental funds have already been reported in 
the statement of activities in prior years. 

Internal service funds are used by management to charge the costs of Oeet 
acquisition to individual funds. The net revenue of certain activities o f internal 
service funds is reported with governmental acti vities. 

Change in net pos ition of governmenta l acti vities (page 31) 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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$ 627,131 

1,877,539 

59,134 

581,710 

203,018 

(17,496) 

14,448 

270,000 

(5,543) 

602 

13,632 

$ 3,624,175 



City of Kelso 
G eneral Fund 

Sta tement of Revenues. Expenditures, a nd C ha nges in Fund Ba lance - Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended December J l , 2018 

Budge ted Amounts Va riance 

Actual With Fina l 

Original Final Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 6,947,919 $ 7,062,919 $ 7.086,212 $ 23,293 
Licenses and permits 150.900 150,900 168,834 17,934 
Inte rgovernmental 567,250 777,250 953.867 176,617 
C harges for services 957,350 957,350 1.053,505 96,155 
Fines 125,500 125,500 133,196 7,696 
lnvesnnent earn ings 32,500 32,500 84,378 51,878 
Contributions 7.500 7,500 4,000 (3,500) 
RentaV!ease income 3.589 3,589 
Other miscellaneous 12,000 12,000 33,177 21,177 

Total revenues 8.800,919 9,125,919 9,520,758 394,839 

Expeodilu res 
General government: 

Council 167,121 171,72 1 149,609 22,112 
Municipal court 234,600 299,600 325,076 (25,476) 
Manager 345,400 345,400 344,068 1.332 
Finance 643,600 643,600 651 ,128 (7.528) 
Attorney 169,575 169.575 123,903 45.672 
Other - unclassified 821,970 989,970 898,610 91,360 

Total general government 2,382,266 2,619,866 2,492.394 127,472 
Securi!)' of persons and property: 

Police 4.339,679 4.347,679 4,163,910 183,769 
Jail 315,000 315,000 327.089 (12,089) 
Fire 393.000 393,000 262 ,980 130,020 
Other 111 ,620 136,620 122,195 14,425 

Total sec uri!)' of persons and property 5, 159,299 5,192,299 4,876,174 316,125 
Physical environment 591,750 612,750 578,221 34,529 
Transportation 121,000 271,000 412,470 (1 41,470) 
Economic environment 313,830 332,030 309,889 22, 141 
Capital outlay 16.000 16,000 8,432 7,568 

Total expenditures 8,584,145 9,043,945 8,677,580 366,365 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 216,774 81,974 843,178 761 ,204 

Other financing sources (uses ) 
Transfers in 61,000 61,000 61 ,000 
Transfers out (673.662) (537,512) (608,824) (71 ,312) 

Total other fmanc ing sources (uses) (612.662) (476,512) (547,824) (71 ,312) 
Net change in fund balances 
budgetary basis (395,888) (394,538) 295,354 689,892 

Reconcilia tion of budgetary/GAAP basis: 
Bas is difference tSee note 111.8.) (187,321) 

Net change in fu nd balance 
GAAP basis 108,033 

Fund balance- beginning, restated ,,,.""" v 1, 6.429.351 
Fund balance- ending $ 6,537,384 

fhe notes to the financial statements are an integral pan of th1s statement. 
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City of Kelso 
Arteria l Street Fund 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance - Budget and Actua l 
For the Year Ended December 3 1, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 
Actual With Final 

Original Final Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ $ $ 434,678 $ 434,678 
Intergovernmental 700,000 3,807,200 2,229,369 (1 ,577,831) 
Charges fo r services 162,000 162,000 165,510 3,510 
Investment earnings 100 100 1,968 1,868 
Miscellaneous 2,000 2,000 1,886 (114) 

Total revenues 864,100 3,971,300 2,833,411 (1 ,137,889) 

Expenditures 
Transporta tion 400,000 235,000 247,154 (12,154) 
Capital outlay 1,100,000 4,130,000 2,660,789 1,469,211 
Debt Service: 

Principal 34,500 34,500 34,500 
Interest and bond issuance costs 1,450 1,450 3,802 (2,352) 

Total expendi tures 1,535,950 4,400,950 2,911 ,745 1,489,205 
Excess (de ficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (671 ,850) (429,650) (78,334) 351,316 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 423,950 487,800 347,800 (140,000) 

Tota l o ther financing sources (uses) 423,950 487,800 347,800 (140,000) 
Net change in fund balance (247,900) 58,150 269,466 211 ,316 

Fund balance - beginning (84,458) (84,458) (84,458) 
Fund balance - ending $ (332,358) $ (26,308) $ 185,008 $ 211 ,316 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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City of Kelso 
Statement of "iet Position 

Proprietary Funds 

December 31,20 18 

Business· lype Activities · Enterprise Funds 

~on -Major 

:VlaJor Funds Fund Equipment Reserve 
Solid Water- Storm Internal 
Waste Sewer Water Total Service Fund 

ASSETS 

Current Assets· 

Cash & cash eqUivalents $ 147.985 $ 6,533.443 $ 389,065 $ 7.070.493 $ 989,518 
Investments 795.946 795,946 
Resrncted cash, cash equ1valents, and 

mvestments: 

C ustomer deposits 335,632 335,632 
Accounts rece1vable 278.377 1,591 .863 145,031 2.015.271 
Due from other governments 145.500 145,500 

Total current assets 426,362 9.402.384 534,096 10,362.842 989,518 

Noncurrent assets: 

Res tricted cash, cash equivalents, and 

mvestments: 

Cash- revenue bond covenants 92.690 92.690 
Investments - revenue bond covenants 385.820 385.820 

Capital Assets. 

Land 28.712 28.712 
Buildings and structures 15.766.669 15.766.669 
Improvements other than bulidmgs 29,361 .289 1.307, 160 30.668.449 
Machmery and equipment 2.697.618 43.401 2,741 ,019 3.581 .585 
Construction m progress 157.450 157.450 

Less accumulated deprec~auon (16,444,619} (414.074} (16,858,693} (2,368,300} 
Total capual assets (net of 

accumulated deprec1at1on) 31,567,119 936.487 32,503,606 1,213.285 
Total noncurrent assets 32,045,629 936,487 32,982,116 1,213,285 
Total Assets 426,362 41 ,448,013 1.470,583 43,344,958 2,202,803 

DEFERRED OlTFLOWS OF RESOL'RCES 

Deferred outflows related to penswns 147,268 31.239 178,507 
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 147,268 31.239 178,507 

The notes to the financ1al statements are an mtegral pan of th1s statement. 
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Busmess-type Actl vtues - Enterpnse Funds 

'ion-YlaJor 

YlaJor Funds Fund Internal 

Solid Water- Storm Service 
Waste Sewer Water Total Funds 

LIABILITIES 

Current Ltablltucs. 

Accounts payable 158.459 642.976 8.825 810.260 
Compensated absences 18.309 3.211 21 .520 
Customer depos its 335.632 335.632 
Accrued mterest payable 28,405 28.405 
Current revenue bonds payable 225,000 225.000 
Current portion notes payable 410,930 410.930 

Total current habthttes 158.459 1,661 .252 12,036 1.831 ,747 

Noncurrent habthtles· 

Compensated absences 54.928 9.635 64.563 
Revenue bonds payable 3.440,000 3.440.000 
Notes payable 3,921,477 3.921 .477 
Net pension liabtlity 566,320 120,128 686,448 

Total noncurrent Jiabthties 7.982.725 129,763 8,112,488 
Total Ltabtlittes 158,459 9,643,977 141 .799 9.944,235 

DEFERRED I;'IIFLOWS OF RESOIJRCES 

Deferred mflows related to pensions 217.998 46,242 264,240 
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 217.998 46.242 264.240 

:'liET POSITIO'i 

Net mvestment in capt tal assets 24.161,590 936.487 25.098,077 1,213,285 
Restncted tor debt service 478.510 478.510 
U nrestncted 267,903 7.093,206 377,294 7,738,403 989,518 
Total net position $ 267,903 $ 31,733,306 $1 ,313,781 33,314.990 $ 2.202,803 

.\dj ustment to reflect the consohdatton of internal servtce fund actlvttles re lated to 

enterpnse funds: 1,258,477 

Net postllon of bus mess-type acttvtttes $ 34,573,467 
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City of Kelso 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and C ha nges in Fund \ et Position 

Proprietary Funds 

For the Year Ended December 3 1. 2018 

___ _ __ __,B:.:.us::::ine.:e:.:::ss:...:-'U'=<c.:..-\.:::c=tivn•es::_-:..:E:::.n:o:te::.Jrp::!.n:.:::·se,_F,_,u,n::;ds,__ _____ _ 

Operating reven ues 

Charges for serv1ces 

Other operating revenue 

Total operatmg reven ues 

Operatmg expenses 

General operations 

Contracted processing operations 

Mamtenance 

Depreciation 

Taxes 

Total operating expenses 

Operatmg mcome I loss ) 

Nonoperatmg revenues 1 expenses). 

Investment earnmgs 

Intergovernmental 

Other 

Interest expense 

Total nonoperatmg revenues (expenses) 

Income (lossl before capnal contnbut10ns, 

Capital contnbutlons 

Transfers m 

Transfers out 

Change m net position 

Total net position - beginn1ng 
Total net position - endmg 

Y'laJOr Funds 

Solid Wa ter-

Waste 

$ 1,641 .559 

692 
1,642.251 

897,418 
513.586 

14,838 

249,145 
1,674,987 

(32,736) 

2.617 

2,617 
(30,1 19) 

(30,1 19) 

298,022 
$ 267,903 

Sewer 

$ 9.104.108 

203.483 
9,307,591 

3.540.800 
2,940.777 

196.246 
776.514 

1,205.455 
8,659,792 

647,799 

126,306 

49.637 
(200.863) 

(24,920) 
622,879 

145,500 
87.122 

855.501 

30,877,805 
$ 31,733,306 

Adjustment to reflect the consolidation of mtemal serv1ce fund activities related to 

enterpnse funds· 
Change m net positiOn of busmess-type actiVIIles 

The notes to the linanc1a l state ments are an mtegral pan of th is statement. 
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~on-.VIaJor 

Fund 

Sto rm 

Water 

$ 797.428 
15.928 

813,356 

576.376 

76,430 
19,940 
11,276 

684,022 

129.334 

8,912 
6,240 

12,713 

27,865 
157,199 

(43,56 1) 
113.638 

1,200,143 
$ 1,313,781 

Total 

$ 11 .543,095 
220,103 

11 .763,198 

5.014.594 

3.454 .363 
287.5 14 
796,454 

1.465.876 
11.018.801 

744 ,397 

137,835 
6 ,240 

62,350 
(200.863) 

5.562 
749,959 

145.500 
87,122 

(43,561) 
939.020 

78,839 
$ 1,017,859 

$ 

$ 

Equipment Reserve 

Inte rna l 

Service Fund 

287.300 
10.0 12 

297,312 

587 

220.226 

220,8 13 

76.499 

15,972 

15,972 
92,471 

92,471 

2, 11 0,332 
2,202,803 



City of Kelso 
Statement of Cash flows 

Proprietary Funds 
for the year ended December 31, Z018 

Bus mesH~ Acuviues - Em!:!:ense Funds 

~·on· \o1ajor 

~laJor Funds FWld Equipment Reserve 
Solid \Vater- Storm lnteroal 
Waste Sewer Water Torals Service Fund 

Cash flows from operating activi ties 
Receipts from customers and users $ 1,635,956 $ 8,782.515 $ 781.054 $ 11.199.525 $ 
Recelpts from other sources 692 156.939 6,071 163,702 
Receipts from tnterfund servtces proVJded 93,088 15.928 109,016 298.278 
Payments to suppliers and service proVIders (1.567.727) (5.890.230) (268,673) (7 ,726,630) (587) 
Payments to employees (8,241 ) (1 .611.460) (308.383) (1 ,928,084) 
Payments for mterfund servtces used (87.401 ) l 445, 166) (108,385) (640 ,952) 

\let cash provided (used) by 
operating acrivines (26.721 ) 1,085,686 117.612 1,176,577 297 ,691 

Casb fl ows from noncapital financing activities 
Operating grants recelved 50,000 50,000 
Transfer from (to) other fund s 87,122 l 43.561 ) 43 ,561 

\let cash provided (used) by noncapnal 
financing activities 87.122 6.439 93,561 

Casb flows from capital and 
related fmancing activities 
Proceeds from capitaJ recovery fees 49 .637 12 ,713 62,350 
Proceeds from State Revolving Fund loan 3.747.977 3,747 .977 
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (4.528.634) (294.404) (4,823,038) (301 ,705) 
Princ ipal prud on capital debt (602.603) (602,603) 
Interest paid on capital debt (189,014) (189,014) 

\let cash provided (used) by capital 
financing activities ( 1 ,522.637) (281 ,691) ( 1 ,804,328) (301 .705) 

Casb flows from investing activities 
Interest rece1ved 2.61 7 120,951 8,912 132.480 15,972 

\let cash proVIded (used) by 
investing activities 2.617 120,951 8.912 132.480 15,972 

\iet mcrease (decrease) in cash and cash <!qwvalents (24 .104) (228.878) (148,728) (401.710) 11 ,958 

Cash and cash equivalents, January I 172,089 7.190 .643 537.793 7 ,900 ,525 977,560 

Cash and cash eqwvalents, December 3 I $ 147,985 $ 6,961,765 $ 389,065 $ 7.498 ,815 $ 989,518 

Reconciliation of operating income to net 
cash provided by operating activities: 

Operating income (loss) $ (32,736) $ 647,799 $ 129.334 $ 744 ,397 $ 76,499 
Adjustments to reconcLie operating income to net 
cash provided (used) by operating activities: 
Depreciation expense 776 ,514 19.940 796.454 220,226 
(lncrease) decrease in accounts receivable (5,603) (245. 158) (10.303) (26 1.064) 966 
lncrease (decrease) in customer deposits (29.891) (29 .891 ) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 11 .618 14,542 (4 ,958) 21.202 
lncrease (decrease) m compensated absences (362) 93 (269) 
Lncrease (decrease ) m pension expense (77.758) (1 6.494) (94 ,252) 

Total adjusanents 6 ,015 437,887 (11,722) 432.180 221,192 
\let cash provided (used) by operating acov10es $ (26 .721 ) $ 1,085 ,686 $ 117,612 $ 1.176,577 $ 297,69 1 

Schedule of oon-casb investing 
activities: 
Gain in fru.r market vaLue o f investments. $ $ 5,355 $ $ 5.355 $ 

The notes to the financtal statements are an mtegral pan of th1s statement. 
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Assets 

City of Kelso 
Sta tement of Fiduciary Net Position 

Fiduciary Funds 

December 31 ,2018 

Cash & cash equivalents 

Receivables 

Total assets 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable 

Due to other governments 

Custodial accounts 

Tota l li abilities 

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
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Airpo rt 

Agency 

Fund 

$ 584,426 

27,186 

61 1,612 

58,607 

150,000 

403,005 

$ 61 1,612 



CITY OF KELSO 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31 .. 2018 

I. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The financial statements of the City of Kelso have been prepared in conformity with 
genera lly accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard setting 
body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The 
signi ficant accounting policies are described below. 

A. Reporting Entity 

The City of Kelso was incorporated in January 1889 and operates under the laws of 
the State of Washington applicable to a Charter Code City with a Counci l-Manager 
form of government. 

The Southwest Washington Regional Airport provides airport services to the region 
surrounding the City of Kelso. This activity is neither directl y controlled nor 
dependent upon the City. It is directed by a board of directors composed of 
representatives from the City of Kelso. the City of Longview, Washington. Cowlitz 
County. Washington. and the Pot1 of Longview and derives some tinancial support 
from each of these entities. It is not a separate taxing authority. An additional 
interlocal agreement directs the City o f Kelso to maintain the financial records and 
reports as required by the laws of the State of Washington in addition to City's duty as 
Airport Treasurer. The combined financial statements therefore also include the 
Southwest Washington Regional Airport Agency fund . 

B. Government-wide and fund financial statements 

The government-wide tlnancial statements (i.e .. the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report in fo rmation on all of the nonfiduciary acti vities of the 
City. Governmental activities. which normally are supported by taxes and 
intergovernmental revenues. are reported separately from business-type acti vities, 
which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a 
given function are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are , 
clearl y identifi able with a specitic function. Certain indirect costs for centralized 
services are included in program expenses reported for individual functions and 
acttvtttes. Program revenues include I) charges to customers or applicants who 
purchase. use, or directly benefit from goods. services. or privileges provided by a 
given function and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the 
operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as 
general revenues. 
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CITY OF KELSO 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31, 20 18 

Separate fi nancial statements are provided for governmental funds. proprietary funds. 
and fi duciary funds. even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide 
tinancial statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual 
enterpri se funds are reported as separate columns in the fund ti nancial statements. 

C. Measurement focus, basis of accounting, and financial statement presentation 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and 
tiduciary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses 
are recorded when a liability is incurred. regardless of the timing of related cash tlows. 
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. 
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility 
requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current fi nancial 
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues 
are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues generally 
are considered to be available when they are collectible within the cu!Tent period or 
soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose. the 
City considers most revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the 
end of the current fi scal period. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However. debt service expenditures, as we ll 
as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, are 
recorded only when payment is due. 

Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures 
have been incurred and all other eligibility requirements have been met, and the 
amount is received during the period or within the availability period for this revenue 
source (within 90 days of year-end). Only the portion of special assessments 
receivable due within the current tiscal period is considered to be susceptible to 
acc rual as revenue of the current period. All other revenue items are considered to be 
measurable and available only when cash is received by the City. 

The City reports the following major governmental funds: 

The general fimd is the City's primary operating fund. It accounts fo r all tinancial 
resources of the general government except those requi red to be accounted for in 
another fund. 

The arterial street fund accounts for the receipt and expenditure of various grants. 
road maintenance fees. as we ll as transfers from the other funds. Revenues are 
des ignated for construction, improvement chip sealing. seal coating. and repair of 
streets and arterial streets or for payment of related municipal indebtedness. 
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The City reports the follo,-ving major proprietary funds: 

The water and sewer jimd accounts for operations of providing water and sewer 
servtces. 

The solid waste fund accounts for operations of providing garbage collection services. 

Additionally. the City reports the following fund types: 

The internal service j imd accounts for fleet management and acquisition servtces 
provided to other depat1ments of the City. 

As a general rule the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the 
government-wide financial statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges 
between the City's utility functions and various other functions of the City. 
Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues 
reported for the various functions concerned. 

Amounts reported as program revenues include I) charges to customers or applicants 
for goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions. and 
3) capital grants and contributions, including spec ial assessments. Internally dedicated 
resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. Likewise, 
general revenues include all taxes. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating 
items. Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and 
producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund 's principal 
ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the water/sewer enterprise 
fund, the solid waste enterprise fund, the stormwater drainage enterprise fund and the 
City" s internal service funds are charges to customers for sales and services. 
Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service funds include the cost of 
sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating 
revenues and expenses. 

D. Employee retirement systems and pension plans 

For purposes of measuring the net pension I iabi I ity, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense. information 
about the tiduciary net position of all State sponsored pension plans and additions 
to/deductions from those plans· fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they are reported by the Washington State Department of Retirement 
Systems. For this purpose. benefit payments (including refunds o f employee 
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 
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E. Assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources and net position or 
equity 

I. Deposits and investments 

The City"s cash and cash equi valents are considered to be cash on hand. demand 
deposits. and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or less 
from the date of acquisition. 

State statutes authorize the City to invest in obligations of the U. S. Treasury. U.S. 
Agencies, obligations of the State of Washington. general obligations of Washington 
State municipalities, bankers· acceptances. certificates of deposit wi th Washington 
State banks. and the State Treasurer· s Investment Pool. 

Investments Measured at Am011ized Cost 
As of December 31. 20 18 the City has $ 13.803. 129 invested in the Washington State 
Treasurer·s Investment Pool. These investments are reported at amortized cost. The 
State Treasurer·s Investment Pool operates in accordance with appropriate State laws 
and regulations. The reported value of the pool is the same as the fa ir value of the 
pool shares. The por1folio is invested in a manner that meets the maturity. quality, 
di versitication, and liquidity requirements set for1h by the GASB for external 
investment pools who wish to measure all of its investments at amortized cost. 

The City's investment in the State·s investment pool is not rated. However, the 
investment pool"s investment policy limits the types of securities avai lable for 
investment to obligations of the U.S. government or its agencies, obligations of 
government-sponsored corporations, bankers· acceptances. commercial paper, 
certiti cates of deposit. or obligations of the State of Washington or its political 
subdivisions. Bankers· acceptances and commercial paper must be rated with the 
highest short-term credit rating of any two Nationally Recognized Stati stical Rating 
Organizations at the time of purchase. 

Investments Measured at Fair Value 
The City measures and reports certain investments at fair value using the valuation 
input hierarchy established by generally accepted accounting principles. as fo llows: 

• Level I: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
• Level 2: Quoted market prices for similar assets, quoted prices for identical or 

similar assets in markets that are not acti ve, or other than quoted prices that are 
not observable: 

• Level 3: Unobservable inputs for an asset or liability. 
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At December 31. 2018. the City had the fo llowing investments measured at fa ir va lue: 

Investment type 
Federal Fann Credit Bank 

Total Investments by Fair 
Value Level 

Fair Value Measurements Using 
Level 1 Level 2 Levell 

$ $ 2.969.820 :._$ __ _ 

$ $, 2,969,820 $ 

These investments are valued daily by ICE Data Services using evaluations based on 
various market and industry inputs. 

2. Receivables am/ payables 

Customer accounts receivable consist of amounts owed by private individuals or 
organizations for goods and services provided, as well as. court ordered fines. Taxes 
receivable consist of property. sales. and utility taxes and related interest and penal ties 
(See Note V. B.). Special assessments consist of assessments which are recorded when 
levied and are liens against the property benefited. There is $20 I in delinquent specia l 
assessments as of December 31, 20 18. 

Because property taxes, special assessments, and utility billings are considered liens 
on property. no estimated uncollec tible amounts are established. Receivables from 
court ordered fines are shown net of allowance for uncollec ti bles. All other 
receivables are considered immaterial and the direct write off method is used. 

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements 
outstanding at the end of the fi scal year are referred to as either .. due to/from other 
funds .. (i.e., the current port ion of interfund loans) or .. advances to/ from other funds .. 
(i.e .. the non-current portion of interfund loans). All other outstanding balances 
between funds are reported as .. due to/from other funds.·· Any residual balances 
outstanding between the governmental acti vities and business-type activi ties are 
reported in the government-wide financial statements as .. internal balances:· 

3. Inventories 

Inventori es in governmental and proprietary funds consist of expendable supplies held 
for consumption. The cost is recorded as an expenditure/expense at the time 
individual inventory items are purchased. Ending inventories of materials and 
supplies are not recorded in governmental or proprietary funds as they are immaterial. 
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Certain proceeds of the City"s water/sewer fund revenue bonds. as we ll as certain 
resources set aside for their repayment. are class ified as restricted assets on the 
statement of net position because their use is limited by applicable bond covenants. In 
addition. deposits received from customers for water service are also restricted. 

The restricted assets of the enterprise fund s consists of $8 14. 142 which is cash and 
investments held for debt service and customer deposit refunds. 

5. Capital assets 

Capital assets - which include property. plant. equipment. and infrastructure assets 
(e.g .. roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items) - are reported in the applicable 
governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial 
statements. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if 
purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value at 
the date of donation. 

The City recognizes a di stinction between a capital assets acquired prior to December 
31. 20 16. and those acquired/placed in service after that date. Prior to December 31. 
2016, a capital asset was defined as an individual asset with an initial value in excess 
of $5.000 and a useful life in excess of one year. Subsequent to December 31. 2016. 
the City adjusted its definition of capital assets to identify the following thresholds: 

• A capital asset is defined as an individual asset with an initial value in excess 
of $5.000 and a useful life in excess of one year. 

• Public domain infrastructure consists of general use assets with an initial value 
of at least $100,000 and having a useful life of at least one year. Infrastructure 
typically includes streets and roads. sidewalks. curbs, gutters. and lighting. 

• System infrastructure is comprised of collections. treatment. and distribution 
systems related to the City"s utility operations with an initial value of at least 
$100,000 and having a useful life of at least one year. These include water 
treatment and distribution, sewer collection and treatment. and storm vvater 
co llection systems assets. 

The adjusted thresholds for infrastructure have been applied prospective ly for 
qualifying assets placed into service after December 31. 20 16. Assets capitalized 
under previous thresholds will be removed from inventory once fully depreciated. 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the va lue of the asset 
or materially extend assets li ves are not capitalized. 
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Property, plant. equipment and infrastructure of the City are depreciated usmg the 
straight line method over the following estimated useful lives: 

Assets 
Buildings 
Improvements 
Public domain infrastructure 
System infrastructure 
Vehicles 
Office equipment 
Computer equipment 

Years 
I 0- 75 
I 0- 75 
I 0- 75 
I 0- 75 
5 - 20 
3 - 15 
3 - I 0 

Water and sewer infrastructure assets are depreciated beginning in the year after they 
are put in service. 

6. Deferred outflows/inflows of resources 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred outtlows of resources. This separate tinancial statement 
element. deferred outflows of resources , represents a consumption of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/ expenditure) until then. 

In add ition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a 
separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element. deferred inflows of resources. represents an acquisition of net position that 
applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources 
(revenue) until that time. 

7. Compensated absences 

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation. 
comp-time. and sick pay benefits. All vacation pay, comp-time pay. and eligible sick 
pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial 
statements. A liabi lity for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if 
they have matured, for example. as a result of employee resignations and retirements. 

8. Long-term obligations 

In the government-wide tinancial statements. and proprietary fund types in the fund 
tinancial statements. long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the applicable governmental acti vities. business-type acti vities. or 
proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and discounts are 
amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight line method. Bonds payable are 
reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 
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In the fund financial statements. governmental fund types recognize bond premiums 
and discounts. as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face 
amount of debt issued is reported as other tinancing sources. Premiums received on 
debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while di scounts on debt 
issuances are reported as other tinancing uses. Issuance costs. whether or not withheld 
from the actual debt proceeds received. are reported as debt service expenditures. 

9. Net position/Fund balance 

The difference between fund assets plus defetTed outtlows of resources and liabilities 
plus deferred intlows of resources is ··net position .. on the government-wide and 
proprietary fund statements. and is .. fund balance.. on the governmental fund 
statements. 

I 0. Fund balance components 

The fund balance amounts for governmental funds have been classified in accordance 
with GASB Statement No. 54. Amounts are repot1ed as nonspendable. restricted. 
committed. assigned, or unassigned. 

• Nonspendable fund balance includes items that cannot be spent. This includes 
activity that is not in a spendable form (inventories. prepaid amounts. long­
term pot1ion of loans/notes receivable, or property held for resale un less the 
proceeds are restricted. committed or assigned) and activity that is legally or 
contractually required to remain intact. such as a principal balance in a 
permanent fund. 

• Restricted fund balances have constraints placed upon the use of the resources 
either by an external party or imposed by law through a constitutional 
provision or enabling legislation. 

• Committed fund balance can be used only for specitic purposes pursuant to 
constraints imposed by a tormal action of the City Council, the City"s highest 
level of decision-making authority. City Council can commit fund balance by 
passing an ordinance and may modify or rescind the ordinance at any time 
through the passage o f an additional ordinance. 

• Ass igned fund balance includes amounts that are constrained by the City"s 
intent to be used to r a speci fie purpose. but are neither restric ted nor 
committed. For governmental funds. other than the General Fund. this is the 
remaining amounts vvithin the fund that are not classified as nonspendable and 
are neither restricted nor committed. The City Council is the only body 
authorized to assign fund balances and can delegate that authority to other 
body"s or individuals. 
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• Unassigned fund balance is the residual amount of the General Fund not 
included in the four categories described above. Also. any deticit fund balances 
within the other governmental fund types are reported as unassigned. 

Each fund has been analyzed to classify the fund balance in accordance with GAS B 
Statement No. 54. 

Generall y, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use. it is 
the City's policy to use restricted resources first. followed in order by committed. 
assigned. and unassigned resources as they are needed. 

The City does not have a formal minimum fund balance policy. 

II. Data reclassifications 

Certain amounts presented in the prior year data may have been reclass itied in order to 
be consistent with the current year's presentation. 

II. Reconciliation of government-wide and fund financial statements 

A. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund balance 
sheet and the government-wide statement of net position. 

The governmental funds balance sheet includes a reconciliation betweenjimd balance­
tow/ gm·ernmental f unds and net position - go,·ernmenta/ activities as reported in the 
government-wide statement of net position. One element o f that reconciliation 
explains that "long-term liabilities, including bonds payable. are not due and payable 
in the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds:· The details of this 
$(5.252.024) difference are as fo llows: 

Bonds payable 
Deferred charges/loss on issuance (to be amortized 

over life of debt) 
Premium on G.O. Bond (to be amortized over life of debt) 
Accrued interest payable 
Compensated absences 

et adjustment to reducejimd balance - tout! governmental 
jimd\· to arrive at net position - gm·em mental activities 
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Another element of that reconciliation explains that "capital assets used in 
governmental activities are not fi nancial resources and, therefore are not reported in 
the funds." The details of thi s $63,090,341 difference are as follows: 

Capital assets used in governmental fund operations 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 

Net adjustment to increase fund balance - total governmental 
funds to arrive at net position - governmental activities 

$89,465,625 

(26,375,284) 

$63.090.341 

Another element of that reconciliation explains that "Net Pension and Net OPEB 
Assets or Obligations are not considered to represent a financia l resource or liability 
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. The details of this $(5,079,705) difference 
are as follows: 

Net OPEB obligation 
Net pension obligation 
Net pension asset 
Deferred inflows related to pensions 
Deferred outflows re lated to OPEB 
Deferred outflows re lated to pensions 

Net adj ustment to reduce fund balance - total governmental 
funds to arrive at net position - governmental activities 

$(5,875,460) 
(1,029,67 1) 

2,445,593 
( 1, 107,249) 

63 ,578 
423,504 

$(5.079. 705) 

Another element of that reconciliation explains that "Other assets are not available to 
pay fo r current-period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. The 
details of this $ 182,572 difference are as follows: 

Property taxes receivable 
Grants receivable 
Court ordered fines receivab le - net 

Net adjustment to increasejimd balance - total governmental 
funds to arrive at net position -governmental activities 

$ 66,961 
2 1,562 
94 049 

$ 182.572 

B. Explanation of certain differences between the governmental fund statement 
of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances and the government­
wide statement of activities 

The governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances includes a reconci liation between net changes in fund balances - total 
governmental funds and changes in net position of governmental activities as reported 
in the government-wide statement of activities. One element of that reconciliation 
explains that ·'Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in 
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the statement of activities the cost of those assets are allocated over their estimated 
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense." The details of this $1 ,877,539 
difference are as follows: 

Capital outlay 
Depreciation expense 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in funds balances­
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position 
ofgovernmental activities 

$ 3,098, 138 
( 1.220,599) 

$ 1.877.539 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "Some revenues reported in the 
governmental funds have already been reported in the statement of activities in prior 
years." The details of this$( 17,496) difference are as follows: 

Property tax receivable 
Grants receivable 

Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund balances - total 
governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of governmental 
activities. 

$ (12,957) 
(4,539) 

$ ( 17.496) 

Another element of that reconciliation states that «Revenues in the statement of 
activities that do not provide current financial resources are not reported as revenues in 
the funds." The details of this $ 14,448 difference are as follows: 

Court ordered fines 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances- total 
governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of governmental 
activities. 

$ 14 448 

$ 14.448 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "The issuance of long-term debt 
(e.g., bonds, notes) provides current financial resources to governmental funds, while 
the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current financial 
resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net 
position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, 
discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are 
deferred and amortized in the statement of activities." The detai ls of this $270,000 
difference are as follows: 
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General obl igation debt 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances ­
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of 
governmental activities. 

$ 270,000 

$ 270.000 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "The net effect o f various 
miscellaneous transactions invo lving capital assets (i.e., sales, trade-ins, and 
donations) is to increase net position." The details of this $59, 134 difference are as 
follows : 

Donations of capital assets 
Loss on disposition of capital assets 

Net adjustment to increase net changes in fund balances ­
total governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of 
governmental activities. 

$ 132,094 
(72,960) 

$ 59.134 

Another element of that reconciliation states that "Some expenses reported in the 
statement of activities do not require the use of current financial resources and 
therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds." The details of this 
$(5,543) difference are as fo llows: 

Compensated absences 
Amortization of issuance costs 
Amortization of bond premium 

Net adjustment to decrease net changes in fund balances- total 
governmental funds to arrive at changes in net position of 
governmental activities. 

III. Stewardship, compliance, and accountability 

A. Budgetary information 

$ ( 19,976) 
(3,32 1) 
17 754 

$ (5.543) 

Biennial budgets are adopted for the general and special revenue funds on the 
modified accrual basis of accounting. Proprietary fund budgets are also adopted 
utilizing the modified accrual basis of accounting. Except as noted below, for 
governmental funds, there are no material differences between the budgetary basis and 
generally accepted accounting principles. Budgetary accounts are integrated in funds 
ledgers for all budgeted funds, but the financial statements include budgetary 
comparisons for biannually budgeted governmental funds only. Budgets for debt 
service and capital project funds are only required to be adopted at the leve l of the 
individual debt issue or project and for fi scal periods that correspond to the lives of the 
debt issues or projects, however the City of Kelso also budgets on a biennial basis as 
we ll. NCGA Statement I does not require, and the financial statements do not present, 
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budgetary comparisons for proprietary fund types. Biennial budgets are adopted at the 
level of the fund, and the budgets constitute the legal authority for expenditures at that 
level. Subsidiary revenue and expenditure ledgers are used to compare the budgeted 
amounts wi th actual revenues and expenditures. As a management control device. the 
subsidiary ledgers monitor expenditures for individual functi ons and ac ti vities by 
object class . Appropriations for general and special revenue fund s lapse at year-end. 

The City of Kelso's budget procedures are mandated by RCW 35A.34. The fo llowing 
is a summary of the budget process: 

Prior to November I. o f even-numbered years. the City Manager submits a proposed 
budget to the City Council. This budget is based on priorities established by the 
Council and estimates provided by City departments during the preceding months. and 
balanced with revenue estimates made by the City Manager. The Council conducts 
public hearings on the proposed budget in November and December. The Council 
makes its adjustments to the proposed budget and adopts by ordinance a tina! balanced 
budget no later than December 3 1. Within 30 days of year end. the fi nal budget is 
available to the public. 

The City Manager is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts between departments 
within any fund and object classes within departments: however. any revisions that 
alter the total expenditures of a fund or that etfect the number of authorized employee 
positions. salary ranges. hours, or other conditions of employment must be approved 
by the City Council. When the City Council determines that it is in the best interest of 
the City to increase or decrease the appropriation for a particular fund. it may do so by 
ordinance approved by a simple majority plus one upon second reading of the 
proposed ordinance amending the budget. The 20 18 budget was amended three times. 
Budget amounts shown in the fund financial statements include the original budget 
amounts plus the revised budget amounts approved by the City Council. 

Encumbrance accounting, under which purchase orders. contracts. and other 
commitments for the expenditure of funds are recorded in order to reserve that portion 
of the applicable appropriation. is not employed by the City of Kelso. 

B. Budgetary/GAAP basis reconciliation 

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 54. the City reclassified certain funds within 
the governmental fund types for reporting purposes. For budgetary and internal 
reporting the City classities its street. library. parks. ta<;ade. and Kelso station funds as 
special revenue funds. Under GASB 54. these funds do not meet the criteria to be 
classified as special revenue funds and are reported as part of the general fund in the 
bas ic tinancial statements. thus creating a basis difference. Basis differences arise 
when the budgetary basis of accounting differs from the basis of accounting applicable 
to fund types when reporting on operations in accordance with GAAP. This difference 
is comprised of the following in the general fund: 
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Revenues: 
Street fund 
Library fund 
Kelso Station fund 
Parks Fund 
Fac;ade Fund 

Expenditures: 
Street fund 
Library fund 
Kelso Station fund 
Parks Fund 

$ 662. 185 
578.582 

59.219 
549.273 

8 

(818.129) 
(539.432) 

(57.498) 
(621.529) 

Total General fund Basis difference $( 187.32 1) 

IV. Detailed notes on all funds 

A. Deposits and investments 

The City of Kelso's deposits are entirely covered by Federal Depository Insurance or 
by collateral held in a multiple tinancial institution collateral pool administered by the 
Washington Public Depos it Protection Commission (WPDPC). Under State statute. 
members of WPDPC may be assessed losses on a prorated basis if the pool' s co llateral 
provides insuffic ient coverage. Deposits collateralized in the co llateral pool are 
considered insured. and therefore not exposed to custodial credit ri sk. 

As of December 3 1. 20 18. the City had the fo llowing deposits and investments: 

Investment ty~e Maturities Fa ir Value 
Cash 

FDIC or WPDPC insured deposits $ 2,985.904 
In-trans it items ( 1 ,046.804) 
Petty cash on hand 7. 150 

Total Cash 1.946.250 

Investments 
Federa l Farm C redit Bank 5/ 16/2019 1.377.927 
Federal Farm C redit Bank 1 I 1312020 1.59 1.893 
State Treasurer' s investment poo l < 90 days 13.803. 1"'9 

Total investments 16.772.949 
Total Cash, Cash Equivalents, Investments $ 1~7 1 9'" 199 
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The City does not have a to rmal investment policy that limits investment maturities as 
a means of managing its exposure to fai r va lue losses arising from increas ing interest 
rates. 

Credit Risk 
The City's investment policy limits its investment choices to include the to llowing: 

• Investment deposits. including certificates of deposit. with qualitied public 
deposi tories. 

• Certificates. notes. or bonds of the United States. or other obligations of the 
United States or its agencies. or of any corporation wholly owned by the 
government of the United States. (However. this specifically excludes 
Collateralized Mortgage Obligations (CMOs), Real Estate Mortgage 
Investment Conduits (REMICs). and other Principal Only (POs) and Interest 
Only (lOs) obligations that are secured with mortgages issued by any federal 
agency, instrumentality or private firm). 

• Obligations of government-sponsored corporations which are eligible as 
collateral for advances to member banks as determined by the Board of 
Governors of the Federal Reserve System. (These include but are not limited 
to Federal Home Loan Bank notes and bonds, Federal Farm Credit Bank 
consolidated notes and bonds. Federal National Mortgage Association notes, 
debentures. and guaranteed certificates of participation.) 

• Washington State Local Government Investment Pool. 
• Lawfully issued debt obligat ions of the agencies and instrumentalities of the 

State of Washington and its political subdivisions that have a long-term credit 
rating of A I I A+ or higher by a nationally recognized rating agency at the time 
of investment. General obligation bonds of a state other than the State of 
Washington and general obligation bonds of a local government of a state 
other than the State of Washington that have a long-term credit rating of 
A I I A+ or higher by a nationall y recognized rating agency at the time of 
investment. 

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments 
For investments, this is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the 
City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or co llateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party. The City does not have a formal investment 
policy with regard to custodial credit risk, however. for all of 2018. the City's 
investments were either in the Washington State Local Government Investment Pool 
or held in a custodial safekeeping account \Vith a bank. 
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Concentration of Credit Risk 
The City's investment policy states that no more than 90% of the total portfolio may 
be invested in certificates of deposits, federal agency securities, or U.S. Treasuries. 
Further, no more than 25% of the total portfolio will be invested in obligations of the 
State of Washington or its political subdivisions and no more than l 0% of the 
portfolio in any one bond issue. 

B. Receivables 

Receivables as of year end for the City's individual major funds and nonmajor funds 
in the aggregate, are as follows (amounts are expressed in thousands of dollars): 

Non- Non-
major major 

Arterial Solid Water/ Govt. Prop. 
General Street Waste Sewer Funds Funds Total 

Receivables: 
Taxes $1.539 $ $ $ $ 8 $ $ 1,547 
Accounts 226 278 1,592 30 145 2,27 1 
Specia l Assessments II II 
Ln tergovernmental 267 796 145 54 1,262 
Lo ng-term notes - - - - 458 - 458 -- -- -- -- --
Net total receivables ~ $ 807 U1S twlZ $ 550 $ 145 ~ 

Governmental funds report unavailable revenue in coiUlection with receivables for 
revenues that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current 
period. Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with 
resources that have been received, but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal 
year, the various components of these deferrals reported in the governmental funds 
were as follows: 

Delinquent property taxes receivable (general fund) 
Delinquent Court ordered fmes receivable (genera l fund) 
Grants received (arterial street fund) 
Grants received (Non-major fund) 
Special assessments not due yet (arterial street fund) 
Prepaid lease (Non-major fund) 

Total deferred/unearned revenue for governmenta l funds 
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Unavailable 
$ 66,96 1 

94,049 
2 1,562 

$ 182.572 

Unearned 
$ 

43,938 
11 ,203 
21.261 

$ 76.402 



C. Capital assets 

CITY OF KELSO 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 3 1, 20 18 

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 3 1, 20 18 was as follows: 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance 

Governmental activities: 
Capital assets, not be ing deprec iated: 
Land $23,02 1,844 $ 128,855 $ 3 1,000 $23, 119,699 
Construction in progress 652,794 1.6 17.945 280.595 1.990 144 
Total capita l assets, not being depreciated 23.674,638 1.746.800 3 11,595 25. 109,843 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 
Bui ld ings 11 ,928,790 289,704 152,581 12,065,9 13 
Improvements other than buildings 6,63 1,8 12 107,094 6,738,906 
Machinery and equipment 3,039,572 115,649 292,954 2,862,267 
Infrastructure 43.788,339 1,358. 797 38 1,320 44,765,8 16 
Total capital assets being depreciated 65.388,5 13 1,871,244 826,855 66..t32,902 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings ~.894,95 1 156,578 110,62 1 ~.940,908 

Improvements other than buildings 2,927, 173 122,405 3,049,578 
Machinery and equipment 1,986,230 202,974 292,954 1,896,250 
Ln fras true ture 17,421,681 891 ,298 381 ,320 17.93 1,659 
Total accumulated depreciation 27,230.035 l ,373,255 784,895 27.818.395 

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 38, 158,478 497 989 ~l 960 38,614,507 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $6 1 833 116 $2 244182 $ 353 .2.2.2 $63 72~ 35Q 

Beginning Ending 
Balance Increases Decreases Balance 

Business-type activities: 
Capital assets, not being depreciated : 
Land $ 28,7 12 $ $ $ 28,7 12 
Construction in progress 1,807,656 4,820,703 6,~70,909 157 450 
Total capital assets, not being depreciated 1,836,368 U 20,703 6..t70,909 186. 162 

Capital assets, being depreciated: 
Buildings and structures 10,252,80 1 5,5 13,867 15,766,668 
Impro vements other than buildings 29,7 11 ,407 957,042 30,668,449 
Machinery and equipment 4.229,9 19 15 566 4.245,485 
Total capital assets being depreciated ~4. 1 94, 1 27 6.486.475 50,680.602 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Bui ldings and structures 2,665,3 18 206,299 2,87 1,6 17 
Improvements other than buildings 11,776,042 501 ,891 12,277,933 
Machinery and equipment 2..t78,497 155,835 2.634.332 
Total accumulated depreciation 16,9 19.857 864.025 17.783.882 

Tota l capital assets, being depreciated, net 27.274,270 5.622,450 32.896.720 

Business-type acti vities capital assets, net $22 I IQ 638 $.lil :H3 1.23 $6 ::11Q 2Q2 $33 Q82,882 
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the City as follows: 
Governmental activities: 

General government 
Security of persons and property 
Transportation 
Culture and recreation 

$ 99,268 
3,569 

965,907 
15 1,855 

Capital assets he ld by the City ' s internal service funds are 
charged to various functions based on usage of assets. 152,656 

Total depreciation expense- governmental activities 

Bus iness-type activities: 
Water 
Sewer 
Storm water drainage 

$..1..373.255 

$470,322 
306, 192 

19,940 
Capital assets held by the City's internal service funds are 
charged to various functions based on usage of assets. 67,57 1 

Total depreciation expense- business-type activities $ 864.025 

D. lnterfund receivables, payables, and transfers 

The composition of interfund balances as of December 31, 2018 is as fo llows: 

Due to/from other funds: 
Receivable Fund Payable Fund 
Nonrnajor govt. Arterial Street 

Adva nces to/from other funds: 
Receivable Fund Payable Fund 
Nonrnajor govt. Arterial Street 

Transfer out Transfer in 
General fund Arterial Street 
General fund Water/Sewer 
General fund Nonrnajor govt. 
General fund Nonrnajor govt. 
Sub-Total 

Nonrnajor govt. General Fund 
Nonrnajor govt. 
Nonrnajor govt. 
Nonrnajor govt. 

Sub-Total 

Total 

Amount 
$ 32,000 

Amount 
225,004 

Amount 
$ 347,800 

43,56 1 
125,963 
107.491 
624,815 

61 ,000 
175,000 
130,000 

15,000 
381 ,000 

$ l ,QQ~,815 
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Purpose 
Roadway Improvements 

Purpose 
Roadway Improvements 

Purpose 
Roadway Improvements 
Repairs and Maintenance 
Debt service 
Routine operating 

Nuisance abatement 
Debt service 
Debt service 
Routine operating 
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General Obligation Bonds 
The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acqUisitiOn and 
construction of major capital projects. General obligation bonds are direct obligations 
and pledge the full faith and credit of the City. These bonds generally are issued as 
20-year serial bonds with varying amounts of principal maturing each year. The debt 
service on general obligation bonds is paid from debt service funds. Debt service for 
voter approved issues is funded by special property tax levies. Debt service for City 
Council authorized or Councilmanic issues are funded from general government 
revenue sources. The original amount of general obligation bonds issued in prior 
years was $5,9 10,000. General obligation bonds currently outstanding are as follows: 

Purpose 
Governmental activities - City Hall construction 
Governmental activities - Roadway improvements 

Interest Rates 
.60% - 3.80% 

2.00% - 4.00% 

Amount 
$ 1,745,000 

2,785,000 
$4 530 000 

Annual debt service requirements to maturity for general obligation bonds are as 
follows: 

Year ending 
December 3 1 
2019 
2020 
2021 
2022 
2023 
2024-2028 
2029-2033 
2034-2038 

Total 

Governmental activities 
Principal 

$ 280,000 
290,000 
295,000 
305,000 
3 10,000 

1,7 10,000 
920,000 
420,000 

$4.530.000 

Interest 
$ 152,733 

145,233 
138,038 
130,698 
122,535 
470,880 
197,400 
25,400 

~382 91 7 

In 20 16, the City of Kelso was awarded a Drinking Water State Revo lving Fund Loan 
(DWSRF) in the amount of $4,529,850 (which included $44,850 loan fee) for the 
replacement of a reservoir and the addition of a transmission line associated with the 
reservoir. The interest rate on the loan is 1.5 percent and the maturity date is October 
1, 2035. As of December 31 , 2018 the City has drawn down $4,01 2,2 14 in loan funds. 
The City has also received two government loans for the reconstruction of City' s 
water treatment plant. Government loans outstanding at year-end are as fo llows: 

Issuance 
1999 DWSRF - $2,040,000 
200 1 DWSRF - $1,500,000 
201 6 DWSRF - $4,0 1 2.2 1~ 

Total government loans 

Puroose 
Business-type activities 
Business-type activities 
Business-type acti vities 

6 1 

Interest Rate Amount 
2.50% $ 215,828 
1.50% 3 18.369 
1.50% 3. 798.2 10 

$4 332 407 
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Annual debt service requirements to maturity for governmental loans are as fo llows : 

Year ending 
December 3 1 
2019 
2020 
202 1 
2022 
2023 
2024-2028 
2029-2033 
2034-2038 

Total 

Revenue bonds 

Business-type Activities 
Principal lnterest 

$ 4 10,930 $ 67, 145 
4 10,930 59,90 I 
303,01 6 52,658 
303,01 6 48, 11 3 
223,424 43.567 

1, 11 7,12 1 167,568 
1, 11 7, 12 1 83,784 

446 849 10.054 
$4 332 407 $ 532.790 

The City also issues bonds where the City pledges income derived from the acquired 
or constructed assets to pay debt service. Water/Sewer revenue bond covenants 
require that revenue available for debt service (defined as operating and nonoperating 
revenues less expenses requiring payment to outside entities) exceed the annual debt 
payment of both principal and interest by a ratio of 1.25 to 1. The City remains in 
compliance with that provision with a current ratio of 4.22 to 1 coverage. See page 
137. 

In 20 I 0, the City of Kelso issued $3,665,000 of revenue bonds. These Water and 
Sewer Revenue Bonds, 2010 Series B (Taxable Recovery Zone Economic 
Development Bonds - Direct Payment) (the "Series B Bonds,") in the aggregate 
principal amount of $3 ,665,000, were issued to provide the funds necessary to 
construct a new water reservoir and replace certa in water mains and water meters in 
the City. The City has designated the Series B Bonds as " recovery zone economic 
development bonds" for purposes of Section 1400U-2 of the Internal Revenue Code, 
such that a Tax Credit Subsidy Payment will be allowed to the City pursuant to 
Section 643 1 of the Code in an amount up to 45% of the interest payable on the Series 
B Bonds on each interest payment date. The interest rate on the "Series B" bonds 
range from 5.50%* - 7.40%* and the maturity date is December 1, 203 1. The original 
amount of revenue bonds issued in prior years was $3,665,000. 
* Interest rate shown is not net of federal subsidy 

Revenue bonds outstanding at year end are as fo llows: 

Purpose lnterest Rates Amount 
Water improvements - taxable 5.50%-7.40% 3,665,000 

$3 .665.000 
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Revenue bond debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 

Year ending Business-type Activities 
December 3 1 Principal Interest* 
20 19 $ 225 ,000 $ 253,5 10 
2020 225,000 24 1, 135 
202 1 240,000 228, 198 
2022 250,000 2 12,238 
2023 255 ,000 195 ,6 13 
2024-2028 I ,455,000 700,475 
2029-2033 1,01 5,000 152,070 

Total $3 .665.000 S I .983 239 
*Interest is not net of Federal Subsidy 

Changes in long-term liabilities 
Long-term liability activity for the year ended December 31 , 20 18 was as follows: 

Governmental activities: 
General ob ligation bonds 
G .O. bond premium 
Compensated absences 
Net Pension obligation 
Total OPEB obligation 

Governmental activity 
Long-term liabilities 

Business-type activities: 
Revenue bonds 
Drinking Water State 

Revolving Fund 
Compensated absences 
Net Pension obligation 

Business-type acti vity 
Long-term liabilities 

•Restated (see note V.l) 

Beginning 
Balance* 

$ 4,800,000 
3 19,56 1 
420,725 

1,30 1,693 
6. 100.792 

$12 212 771 

$3,880,000 

972,033 
86,352 

867.795 

$5.8Q6,18Q 

Additions 

$ -

440,70 1 

2 13,947 

$ 6.51648 

$ 

3,747,977 
86.083 

$3 831 Q6Q 

Ending Due Within 
Reductions Balance One Year 

$ 270,000 $4,530,000 $ 280,000 
17,754 301,807 

420,725 440,70 1 11 0, 175 
272,022 1,029,671 
439 279 5.875.460 

$ 1412280 $12 111632 $ 32Q 12.5 

$ 215,000 $3 ,665,000 $ 225,000 

387,603 4,332,407 4 10,930 
86,352 86,083 2 1,520 

181.347 686.448 

$ 82Q 3Q2 $8 262 238 $ 652 :l5Q 

For the governmental activities, compensated absences are generally liquidated by the 
general fund. Pension and OPEB liabi li ties are also liquidated by the general fund. 

V. Other information 

A. Risk management 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters for which the City 
carries msurance. 
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Washington Cities Insurance Authority 

The City of Kelso is a member of the Washington Cities Insurance Authority (WCIA). 
Utilizing Chapter 48.62 RCW (self- insurance regulation) and Chapter 39.34 RCW 
(Interlocal Cooperation Act). nine cities originally fom1ed WC IA on January I. 198 1. 
WCIA was created to r the purpose of providing a pooling mechanism to r jointly 
purchasing insurance, jointly se lf-insuring. and I or jointly contracting for ri sk 
management services. WC IA has a tota l of 160 members. 

New members initially contract for a three-year term. and thereafter automatically 
renew on an annual basis. A one-year withdrawal notice is required before 
membership can be terminated. Termination does not relieve a termer member from 
its unresolved loss histo ry incurred during membership. 

Liability coverage is written on an occurrence basis. without deductibles. Coverage 
includes general, automobile. police. errors or omissions. stop gap. employment 
practices and employee benefits liability. Limits are $4 million per occurrence in the 
self-insured layer. and $16 million in limits above the self-insured layer is provided by 
reinsurance. Total limits are $20 million per occurrence subject to aggregates and 
sublimits. The Board of Directors determines the limits and terms of coverage 
annuall y. 

Insurance for property, automobile physical damage, tidelity, inland marine. and 
boiler and machinery coverage are purchased on a group basis. Various deductibles 
apply by type of coverage. Property coverage is self-funded from the members· 
deducti ble to $750.000. for all peril s other than tlood and earthquake. and insured 
above that to $300 mi llion per occurrence subject to aggregates and sublimits. 
Automobile physical damage coverage is self-funded from the members· deductible to 
$250.000 and insured above that to $100 million per occurrence subject to aggregates 
and sublimits. 

In-house services include risk management consultation, loss control field services, 
and claims and li tigation administration. WCIA contracts tor certain claims 
investigations. consul tants for personnel and land use issues. insurance brokerage. 
actuarial. and lobbyist se rvices. 

WCIA is fully funded by its members. who make annual assessments on a 
prospectively rated basis .. as determined by an outside. independent actuary. The 
assessment covers loss. loss adjustment. reinsurance and other administrative 
expenses. As outlined in the interlocal. WC IA retains the right to add itionally assess 
the membership for any funding shortfa ll. 

An investment committee. using investment brokers. produces additional revenue by 
investment of WCIA ·s assets in tinancial instruments which comply vvi th all State 
guidelines. 
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A Board of Directors governs WCIA. which is comprised of one designated 
representative from each member. The Board elects an Executive Committee and 
appoints a Treasurer to provide general policy direction for the organization. The 
WCIA Executive Director reports to the Executive Committee and is responsible for 
conducting the day to day operations of WCIA. 

Settlements have not exceeded coverages for each of the past three fiscal years. 

Association of Washington Cities Employee Benefit Trust Health Care Program 

The City is a member of the Association of Washington Cities Employee Benefit Trust 
Health Care Program (A WC Trust HCP). Chapter 48.62 RCW provides that two or 
more local government entities may, by lnterlocal agreement under Chapter 39.34 
RCW. form together or join a pool or organization for the joint purchasing of 
insurance. and/or joint self-insurance. to the same extent that they may individually 
purchase insurance. or self-insure. 

An agreement to form a pooling arrangement was made pursuant to the provisions of 
Chapter 39.34 RCW. the lnterlocal Cooperation Act. The A WC Trust HCP was 
formed on January I, 2014 when participating cities, towns. and non-city entities of 
the A WC Employee Benetit Trust in the State of Washington joined together by 
signing an lnterlocal Governmental Agreement to jointly self-insure ce11ain health 
benetit plans and programs for participating employees. their covered dependents and 
other beneficiaries through a designated account within the Trust. 

As of December 3 1, 20 18. 257 cities/towns/non-city entities participate in the A WC 
Trust HCP. 

The A WC Trust HCP allows members to establish a program of j oint insurance and 
provides health and welfare services to all participating members. The A WC Trust 
HCP pools claims without regard to individual member experience. The pool is 
actuari ally rated each year with the assumption of projected claims run out for all 
current members. The A WC Trust HCP includes medical insurance through the 
fo llowing carriers: Kaiser Foundation Health Plan of Washington. Kaiser Foundation 
Health Plan of Washington Options. Inc .. Regence BlueShield. Asuri s Northwest 
Health. Delta Dental of Washington. and Vision Service Plan. Eligible members are 
cities and towns within the State of Washington. Non-City Entities (public agency. 
public corporation. intergovernmental agency. or po litical subdivision within the State 
of Washington) are eligible to apply for coverage into the A WC Trust HCP. 
submitting application to the Board of Trustees for review as required in the Trust 
Agreement. 

Participating employers pay monthly premiums to the A WC Trust HCP. The City's 
contribution to the Trust for the year ended December 31. 20 18 \Vas $395.894. The 
A WC Trust HCP is responsible for payment of all covered claims. In 2017 the A WC 
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Trust HCP purchased stop loss insurance for Regence/ Asuris plans at an Individual 
Stop Loss (ISL) of$ I .5 million through Life Map. and Kaiser ISL at $ 1.000.000 with 
Companion Li fe through ASG Risk Management. The aggregate policy is fo r 200% of 
expected medical claims. 

Participating employers contract to remain in the A WC HCP for a minimum of three 
years. Parti cipating employers with over 250 employees must provide written notice 
of termination of all coverage a minimum of 12 months in advance o f the termination 
date. and participating employers with fewer than 250 employees must provide written 
notice of termination of all coverage a minimum of 6 months in advance of 
termination date. When all coverage is be ing terminated. termination will only occur 
on December 31. Participating employers terminating a group or li ne of coverage must 
notify the HCP a minimum of 60 days prior to termination. A participating employer's 
termination will not obligate that member to past debts. or further contri butions to the 
HCP. Similarly. the terminating member forfe its all rights and interest to the HCP 
Account. 

The operations of the Health Care Program are managed by the Board of Trustees or 
its delegates. The Board of Trustees is comprised of four regionall y elected officials 
from Trust member cities or towns, the Employee Benetl t Advisory Committee Chair 
and Vice Chair, and two appointed individuals from the A WC Board of Directors. 
who are from Trust member cities or towns. The Trustees or its appointed delegates 
review and analyze Health Care Program related matters and make operational 
decisions regarding premium contributions. reserves. plan options and benefits in 
compliance with Chapter 48.62 RCW. The Board o f Trustees has decision authority 
consistent with the Trust Agreement. Health Care Program policies. Chapter 48.62 
RCW and Chapter 200· 11 0-WAC. 

The accounting records of the Trust HCP are maintained in accordance with methods 
prescribed by the State Auditor·s office under the authority of Chapter 43.09 RCW. 
The Trust HCP also follows applicable accounting standards established by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board ( .. GAS B"). In 20 18, the retiree medical 
plan subsidy was eliminated. and is noted as such in this report. Year-end tlnancial 
reporting is done on an accrual basis and submitted to the Ottlce o f the State Auditor 
as required by Chapter 200-11 0 WAC. The audit report for the A WC Trust HCP is 
available from the Washington State Audi tor·s o ffi ce. 
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Unemployment Insurance 

The City is self-insured for amounts related to unemployment claims. The City pays 
these claims on a pay-as-you go basis and does not set aside funds for future claims. 
The City made the following payments for unemployment claims: 

20 18 $ 8.-125 

20 17 $ 30.66 1 

20 16 $ 8. 108 

B. Property Taxes 

The County Treasurer acts as an agent to collect property taxes levied in the County 
for all tax ing authorities. 

January I 

February 14 

April 30 

May 31 

October 31 

Property Tax Calendar 
Taxes are levied and become an enforceable lien against 
propetties. 

Tax bills are mailed. 

First of two equal installment payments is due. 

Assessed value o f property established for next year· s levy at 
I 00 percent of market value. 

Second installment is due. 

Property taxes are recorded as a receivable when levied. offset by a deferred inflow of 
resources. During the year. propetty tax revenues are recognized when cash is 
co ll ec ted. The amount of taxes receivable at year-end that would be collected soon 
enough to be available to pay liabilities of the current period is immaterial. 

The City of Kelso may levy up to $3.60 per $1,000 of assessed valuation for general 
governmental services and 22.5 cents per $ 1.000 for local Fire Pension Funds. 
However. the amount is reduced by the Fire District #2 annexation. Fire District #2 
may levy up to a maximum of$ 1.50 per $ 1.000 of assessed valuation. The City's levy 
is also subjec t to the fo llowing tvvo limitations: 
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The Washington State Constitution limits the total regular property taxes to I percent 
of assessed valuation or $10 per $1.000 of value. If the taxes of all districts exceed 
this amount. each is proportionate ly reduced until the total is at or below the I percent 
limit. 

Washington State law in RCW 84.55.0 I 0 limits the growth of regular property taxes to 
the lesser of I percent per year. or the Implicit Price Detlator. Adjustments for new 
construction are excluded tl·om this calculation. If the assessed valuation increases by 
more than I percent due to revaluation, the levy rate will be decreased. 

The Ci ty"s regular levy for 20 18 was $ 1.8485 per $1.000 on an assessed valuation of 
$8 17.786.086 for a total regular levy of $ 1.5 11.643. 

C. Subsequent event 

In 2016. the City of Kelso vvas awarded a Drinking Water State Revolving Fund Loan 
(DWSRF) in the amount of $4.529.850. Subsequent to year end. the City received 
$5 17.636 in loan proceeds. The total amount drawn down on this loan as of the date of 
thi s report is $4.529,850. 

D. Contingent liabilities 

Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and 
adjustment by the grantor agencies. principally the federal government. Any 
disallowed claims. including amounts already collected. may constitute a liability of 
the applicable funds. The amount. if any. of expenditures that may be disallowed by 
these grantors. cannot be determined at this time. although the City expects such 
amounts. if any, to be immaterial. 

The City is a defendant in various lawsuits. Although the outcome of these lawsuits is 
not presently determinable. in the opinion of the City"s management and counsel. the 
City"s insurance policies are adequate to pay all known or pending claims. 

E. Joint Municipal Utility Services Authority 

Three Rivers Regional Waste Water Authority 

The City of Kelso entered into an interlocal agreement with Cowlitz County. the City 
of Longview and Beacon Hill Sevver District in 1996 to form the Three Rivers 
Regional Waste Water Authority (TRRWA). The TRRWA is governed by a four 
member board. one from each enti ty. and was established to provide sewage treatment 
services to the citizenry of the respective participating entities. Financing of the central 
sewage facility is funded based on each participant' s proportionate share o f tlow to the 
fac ility along wi th add itional funds forwarded from the participants as system 
development charges are assessed to new customers. During 20 18. The City of Kelso 
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paid TRRWA a total of $2.940.777. This agreement may not be terminated as long as 
there are de bt obligations of the TRRW A. Upon termination. each participant" s 
interest in the net position shall be equal to their proportionate share of payments over 
the previous 12 calendar months. The City does not have an equity interest in the 
TRR W A beyond the termination agreement. Complete tinancial statements for the 
TRR W A can be obtained from the TRR W A at 207 4th Avenue North. Kelso, W A 
98626 

F. Joint Venture 

Southwest Washington Regional Airport Board 

In 201 2 the City of Kelso entered into an interlocal agreement with Cowlitz County. 
the City of Longview. and the Port of Longview, to form the Airport Operations Board 
(The Board). The Board was created so that the participating entities can equitably 
share in the operations and improvements of the Southwest Washington Regional 
Airport. However. the City of Kelso retains final decision making authority in all 
decisions as may be required of a sponsor by the Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) under the grant assurances included in Kelso's previous and future grant 
agreements. The Board is governed by a four member board made up of an appointed 
representati ve from each jurisdiction. 

The Board formulates its preliminary annual budget and submits it to each 
participating jurisdiction prior to August I, of each year. Estimated expenses for 
maintenance and operations. repairs and replacements to existing facilities. capital 
projects, and debt service are netted against estimated airport operating revenues to 
determine the amount of annual subsidy required by the participating jurisdictions. 
Payments made to the airpott by the City in 2018 were $76.000. 

This agreement may be terminated at any time upon the approval by a super-majority 
of the entities. All assets and liabi lities acquired by the Board will remain the property 
of the airport and used for airport maintenance and operations consistent with FAA's 
Revenue Use Policy. In the event the airport ceases to operate. any assets or liabi lities 
remaining from such property acquired after the commencement of this agreement, 
and after the full sati sfaction of all federal obligations. grant repayments to the FAA. 
and satisfaction of FAA ·s Revenue Use Policy. shall be distributed to the parties in the 
same proportion as the financial contribution of the parties for its acquisition. 

As of December 3 1. 2018. the City"s ongoing financial responsibility is minimal. In 
addition. the airport has no outstanding long-term obligations and is not accumulating 
significant resources or experiencing fi scal stress that would cause additional materi al 
tinancial bene tit or burden on the City in the future. The airport does not issue stand­
alone financial statements. 
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G. Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

Law Enforcement Officers' and Fire Fighters' Retirement System (LEOFF) 

The to llowing table represents the aggregate OPEB amounts tor all plans subject to 
the requirements of the GAS B Statement 75. Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions for the year 2018 : 

Aggregate Pension Amounts - All Plans 
O PEB li abilities $ (5.875.460) 
Deferred outtlows o f resources $ 63.578 
O PEB expenditures $ (62.073) 

Plan description. The City of Kelso administers a single-employer detined benefit 
healthcare plan. It is a closed plan that provides post-retirement health care benefits. in 
accordance with State statute to all LEOFF I reti rees. As of December 3 1. 20 18. there 
are 13 LEOFF I retirees covered by the benefit terms. There are no active employees 
or inactive employees not receiving benefits covered under this plan. This plan was 
closed to new entrants on October I. 1977. 

Benefits provided The City reimburses one hundred percent of the amount of 
validated claims to r medical and hospitalization costs incurred by retirees. State 
statute provides that the City's responsibility fo r medical payments of LEOFF I 
retirees is secondary to any other coverage retirees receive or are eligible to receive. 
Therefore. upon reaching the eligible age fo r Medicare. the City requires the retirees to 
apply fu r and utilize Medicare Part B coverage. 

Funding Policy. Employer contributions are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis and 
there are no assets accumulated in a quali fying trust. Expenditures fo r post-retirement 
health care benefits are recognized as retirees report claims. During the year. 
expenditures of $140.945 were recognized fu r post-retirement health care. 

Total OPEB Liability. The City has elected to calculate the total OPEB liability using 
the alternative measurement method permitted by GASB Statement 75 to r employers 
with plans that have fewer than one hundred total plan members. The City's total 
OPEB liabil ity of $5.875 .460 was measured as of June 30. 201 8. and was determined 
using the entry age valuation method on that date. 

J ·aluation assumptions and other inputs. The total OPEB liabil ity in the June 30. 20 18 
valuation was determined using the following assumptions and other inputs. applied to 
all periods included in the measurement. unless otherwise specified. Unless noted 
otherwise. assumptions and inputs are consistent with the 20 16 LEOFF I Medical 
Benefi ts Actuarial Valuation Report published by the Washington State Actuary's 
Office: 
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• Inflation: 3.00 percent 

• Discount rate: 3.87 percent 

• Healthcare cost trend rates: In itial medical costs rate is approximately 7% and 
trends down to about 5% in 2080. Long-term care is 4.5%. Medicare Pa1t B premiums 
is approximately 5%. 

A 3% general intlation rate was used based on the CPI for Urban Wage Earners and 
Clerical Workers. Seattle-Tacoma-Bremerton. W A - All Items. 

The discount rate is based on the Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-Bond Municipal 
Index. 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 Mortality Table for males with adjustments 
for mortality improvements based on Scale 88. 

Sensitivity of the Total OPEB Liability 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate. The fo llowing presents the total OPES liability of the 
City of Kelso calculated using the current healthcare cost trend rate of 7.0 percent. as 
well as what the OPES liab ility would be if it were calculated using a heal thcare cost 
trend rate that is !-percentage point lower (6.0%) or !-percentage point higher (8.0%) 
than the current rate. 

Current 
1% Healthcare Cost 1% 

Decrease Trend Rate Increase 
(6.0%) (7.0%) (8.0% ) 

Total OPEB Liability $5.303. 103 $5,875,460 $6.538.809 

Discvunt Rate. The following presents the total OPES liabi lity of the City of Kelso 
calculated using the current discount rate of 3.87 percent as we ll as what the OPES 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is !-percentage point 
lower {2.87%) or !-percentage point higher (4.87%) than the current rate. 

1% 
Decrease 
(2.87'%) 

Total OPEB Liabi li ty $6.581.536 

7 1 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(3.87%) 

$5.875.-1-60 

I 'Yo 
Increase 
(~.87%) 

$5.280.17-1 
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Change in the Total OPEB Liability 

Balance at 6/30/20 17 
Changes for the year: 

Interest cost 
Changes in Experience Data and Assumptions 
Estimated Benefit payments 

Net changes 
Balance at 6/30/20 18 

Tota l OPEB 
Liability 

$ 6, I 00.791 

213.947 
( 187.842) 
(25 l .-B7) 

225.332 
$ 5,875.46_0 

Changes in experience data and assumptions retlect a change in the discount rate from 
3.58 percent in 2017 to 3.87 percent in 20 18. 

Deferred outtlows of resources of $63.578 resulting from payments subsequent to the 
measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability in the 
year ended December 31, 20 19. 

Voluntary Employees Beneficiary Association Plan (VEBA) 

The City of Kelso. through lntinisource Inc .. administers a single-employer de fined 
contribution VEBA plan. The terms of this plan were established through various 
union contracts as well as the City"s employee handbook. Amendments to the terms in 
union contracts must be negotiated and the terms in the employee handbook may be 
amended by the City Council at any time. 

The City makes monthly contributions into a Health Reimbursement Arrangement 
(HRA)/VEBA account for employees that participate in one of the high-deductible 
health insurance plans offered by the City. The City contributes $ 125 each month for 
Employee Only coverage or $250 each month for Employee plus Spouse and/or 
Dependent coverage. Employees who do not participate in a high-deductible insurance 
plan may be eligible for VEBA contributions if the City"s equiva lent cost contribution 
to the high-deductible is greater than the premium for a non-high-deductible plan. the 
ditTerence shall be deposited into the employee·s HRA/VEBA account established for 
this purpose. 

In add ition, eligible employees and/or their spouses/dependents may choose to opt out 
of City-provided health coverage and receive a monthly City contribution to a 
HRA/VEBA account equal to half of the employer"s premium cost equi valent (which 
includes the high deductible plan premium plus HRA monthly contribution). The 
incentive shall be provided for any eligible spouse or dependent(s) opting out of City 
coverage that result in a premium cost savings to the City. An employee may only opt 
out if el igible for alternative insurance coverage. No more than t\venty-tiYe percent 
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(25%) of employees throughout the organization may choose to opt out of City­
provided coverage. 

Contributions to the plan in 20 18 \Vere $3 7.230 and there are no assets accumulated in 
a quali fying trust. 

H. Employee retirement systems and pension plans 

The following table represents the aggregate pension amounts for all plans subject to 
the requirements of the GASB Statement 68. rlccounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions for the year 20 18: 

Aggregate Pension Amounts - All Plans 
Pens ion liabi lities $ ( I. 7 16. 1 19) 
Pension assets $ 2A45.593 
De fetTed outflows of resources $ 602.0 I I 
Deferred inflows o f resources $ ( 1.3 7 1 ,489) 
Pens ion expense/expenditures $ ( 48,920) 

State Sponsored Pension Plans 

Substantially all City full-time and quali fying patt-time employees participate in one 
of the fo llowing statewide retirement systems administered by the Washington State 
Department of Retirement Systems, under cost-sharing. multiple-employer public 
employee defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans. The State 
Legislature establishes. and amends. laws pertaining to the creation and administration 
of all public retirement systems. 

The Department of Retirement Systems (DRS). a department within the primary 
government of the State of Washington. issues a publicly available comprehensive 
annual tinancial report (CAFR) that inc ludes tinancial statements and requi red 
supplementary information to r each plan. The DRS CAFR may be obtained by 
writing to: 

Department of Retirement Systems 
Communications Unit 
P.O. Box 48380 
Olympia. WA 98540-8380 

Or the DRS CAFR may be downloaded from the DRS website at \Vww.drs.wa.f.WV. 

Public Employees' Retirement System (PERS) 

PERS members include elected ofticials: State employees: employees of the Supreme. 
Appeals and Superior Courts: employees of the legislature: employees of di strict and 
municipal courts: employees of local governments: and higher education employees 
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not participating in higher education retirement programs. PERS is comprised of three 
separate pension plans for membership purposes. PERS plans I and 2 are detined 
benefit plans. and PERS plan 3 is a detined benefit plan with a detined contribution 
component. 

PERS Plan I provides retirement, di sability and death benefits. Retirement benefits 
are determined as two percent o f the member" s average final compensation (AFC) 
times the member's years of service. The AFC is the average o f the member' s 24 
highest consecutive service months. Members are eligible for retirement from active 
status at any age with at least 30 years of service. at age 55 with at least 25 years o f 
service. or at age 60 with at least fi ve years of service. Members retiring from active 
status prior to the age of 65 may receive actuari ally reduced bene tits. Retirement 
benetits are actuarially reduced to re tlect the choice of a survivor benefit. Other 
benetits include duty and non-duty disability payments. an optional cost-of-living 
adjustment (COLA), and a one-time duty-related death benetit, if fo und eligible by the 
Department of Labor and Industries. PERS I members were vested after the 
completion of fi ve years of eligible service. The plan was closed to new entrants on 
September 30, 1977 . 

Contributions 
The PERS Plan I member contribution rate is established by State statute at 6 
percent. The employer contribution rate is deve loped by the Office of the State 
Actuary and includes an administrative expense component that is currently set at 0.18 
percent. Each biennium. the State Pension Funding Council adopts Plan I employer 
contribution rates. The PERS Plan I required contribution rates (expressed as a 
percentage of covered payro ll) for 20 18 were as follows: 

PERS Plan l 
Actual Contribution Rates: Employer Employee 
January- August 20 18 
PERS Plan I 7.49% 6.00% 
PERS Plan I UAAL 5.03% 
Administrative Fee .18% 

Total l2.70'Yc, 6.00% 
September - December 20 18 
PERS Plan I 7.52% 6.00% 
PERS Plan I UAAL 5. 13% 
Admini strative Fee . 18% 

Total 12.83% 6.00%, 

The City' s actual contributions to the plan were $0 for the year ended December 3 1. 
20 18 as the City does not have any acti ve employees eligible for PERS I bene ti ts. 

PERS Plan 2/3 provides retirement disability and death benefits. Retirement bene tits 
are determined as two percent of the member" s average final compensation (AFC) 
times the member's years of service for Plan 2 and I percent of AFC for Plan 3. The 
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AFC is the average of the member· s 60 highest-paid consecutive service months. 
There is no cap on years of service credit. Members are eligible for retirement with a 
full benefit at 65 with at least tive years of service credit. Retirement before age 65 is 
considered an early retirement. PERS Plan 2/3 members who have at least 20 years of 
service credit and are 55 years of age or older, are eligible for earl y retirement with a 
benetit that is reduced by a factor that varies according to age for each year before age 
65. PERS Plan 2/3 members who have 30 or more years of service credit and are at 
least 55 years old can retire under one of two provisions: 

• With a benefit that is reduced by three percent for each year before age 65: or 

• With a benefit that has a smaller (or no) reduction (depending on age) that imposes 
stricter return-to-work rules. 

PERS Plan 2/3 members hired on or after May L 20 13 have the option to retire early 
by accepting a reduction of fi ve percent for each year of retirement before age 65. 
This option is available only to those who are age 55 or older and have at least 30 
years o f service credit. PERS Plan 2/3 retirement benefits are also actuarially reduced 
to re tlect the choice of a survivor benefit. Other PERS Plan 2/3 benefits include duty 
and non-duty disability payments. a cost-of-living allowance (based on the CPI), 
capped at three percent annually and a one-time duty related death benefit. if found 
eligible by the Department of Labor and Industries. PERS 2 members are vested after 
completing fi ve years of eligible service. Plan 3 members are vested in the de tined 
benefit portion of their plan after ten years of service: or after ti ve years of service if 
12 months of that service are earned after age 44. 

PERS Plan 3 defined contribution benefits are totally dependent on employee 
contributions and investment earnings on those contributions. PERS Plan 3 members 
choose their contribution rate upon joining membership and have a chance to change 
rates upon changing employers. As established by statute. Plan 3 required defined 
contribution rates are set at a minimum of 5 percent and escalate to 15 percent with a 
choice of six options. Employers do not contribute to the defined contribution 
benefits. PERS Plan 3 members are immediately vested in the detined contribution 
portion of their plan. 

Contributions 
The PERS Plan 2/3 employer and employee contribution rates are developed by the 
Office of the State Actuary to full y fund Plan 2 and the detined benefit portion of Plan 
3. The Plan 2/3 employer rates include a component to address the PERS Plan I 
UAAL and an administrati ve expense that is currently set at 0. 18 percent. Each 
biennium. the State Pension Funding Council adopts Plan 2 employer and employee 
contribution rates and Plan 3 contribution rates. The PERS Plan 2/3 required 
contribution rates (expressed as a percentage of covered payroll ) for 20 18 were as 
fo llows: 
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Actual Contribution Rates: 
January - August 20 18 
PERS Plan 2/3 
PERS Plan I UAAL 
Administrative Fee 
Employee PERS Plan 3 

Total 
September - December 201 7 
PERS Plan 2/3 
PERS Plan I UAAL 
Admini strative Fee 
Employee PERS Plan 3 

Total 

PERS Plan 2/3 
Employer 2/3 

7A9% 
5.03% 

. 18% 

12.70% 

7.52% 
5.13% 

. 18% 

12.83% 

Employee 2 

7.38% 

varies 

7.4 1% 

varies 
7AI % 

The City"s actual plan contributions were $165,77 1 toPERS Plan I and $244.652 to 
PERS Plan 2/3 for the year ended December 31. 20 18. 

Law Enforcement Officers' and Fire Fighters' Retirement System (LEOFF) 

LEOFF membership includes all full-time, fu lly compensated. local law enforcement 
commiss ioned officers. fire lighters. and as of July 24, 2005, emergency medical 
technicians. LEOFF is comprised of two separate defined bene tit plans. 

LEOFF Plan I provides retirement. disabi lity and death benetits. Retirement bene tits 
are determined per year of service calculated as a percent of final average salary 
(FAS) as follows: 

• 20+ years of service- 2.0% ofF AS 
• I 0- 19 years of service - 1.5% ofF AS 
• 5-9 years of service - I% ofF AS 

The F AS is the basic monthly salary received at the time of retirement. provided a 
member has held the same position or rank for 12 months preceding the date of 
retirement. Otherwise, it is the average of the highest consecutive 24 months· salary 
within the last ten years of service. Members are eligible for retirement with fi ve 
years of service at the age of 50. Other benefits include duty and non-duty disability 
payments. a cost-of li ving adjustment (COLA). and a one-time duty-related death 
benetit. if found eligible by the Department o f Labor and Industries. LEOFF I 
members were vested after the completion o f ti ve years of eligible service. The plan 
was closed to new entrants on September 30. 1977. 

Contributions 
Starting on July I. :2000. LEOFF Plan I employers and employees contribute zero 
percent. as long as the plan remains fu lly funded. The LEOFF Plan I had no required 
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employer or employee contributions for tiscal year 20 18. Employers paid only the 
administrative expense of 0. 18 percent of covered payro ll. 

LEOFF Plan 2 provides retirement. disability and death benefits. Retirement beneti ts 
are determined as two percent of the final average salary (F AS) per year of service 
(the F AS is based on the highest consecutive 60 months). Members are eligible for 
retirement with a full bene tit at 53 with at least tive years of service credit. Members 
who retire prior to the age of 53 receive reduced benefi ts. If the member has at least 
20 years of service and is age 50. the reduction is three percent for each year prior to 
age 53. Otherwise. the benefi ts are actuarially reduced for each year prior to age 53. 
LEOFF 2 retirement benefits are also actuarially reduced to re tlect the choice of a 
survivor benefit. Other beneti ts include duty and non-duty disability payments. a cost­
of-l iving allowance (based on the CPI). capped at three percent annually and a one­
time duty-related death benefit. if found eligible by the Department of Labor and 
Industries. LEOFF 2 members are vested after the completion of five years of eligible 
service. 

Contributions 
The LEOFF Plan 2 employer and employee contribution rates are developed by the 
Office of the State Actuary to fully fund Plan 2. The employer rate included an 
administrative expense component set at 0.1 8 percent. Plan 2 employers and 
employees are required to pay at the level adopted by the LEOFF Plan 2 Retirement 
Board. The LEOFF Plan 2 req ui red contribution rates (expressed as a percentage of 
covered payroll) fo r 20 18 were as fo llows: 

LEOFF Plan 2 
Actual Contribution Rates: 
State and loca l governments 
Administrative Fee 

Total 

Employe r 
5.25% 

.18% 
5.43% 

Employee 
8.75% 

8.75% 

The City's actual contributions to the plan were $13 1.270 for the year ended 
December 31. 20 18. 

The Legislature, by means of a special funding arrangement. appropriates money from 
the State General Fund to supplement the current service liability and fund the prior 
serv ice costs of Plan 2 in accordance with the recommendations of the Pension 
Funding Council and the LEOFF Plan 2 Retirement Board. This special funding 
situation is not mandated by the State constitution and could be changed by statute. 
For the State fisca l year ending June 30. 20 18 the State contributed $68. 152.1 27 to 
LEOFF Plan 2. 
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The total pension liability (TPL) for each of the DRS plans was determined using the 
most recent actuarial valuation completed in 2018 with a valuation date of June 30, 
20 17. The actuarial assumptions used in the valuation were based on the results of the 
Office of the State Actuary' s (OSA) 2007-2012 Experience Study and the 2017 
Economic Experience Study. 

Additional assumptions for subsequent events and law changes are current as of the 
2017 actuarial valuation report. The TPL was calculated as of the valuation date and 
ro lled forward to the measurement date of June 30, 20 18. Plan liabilities were rolled 
forward from June 30, 20 I 7, to June 30, 20 18, reflecting each plan's normal cost 
(using the entry-age cost method), assumed interest and actual benefit payments. 

• Innation: 2.75% total economic inflation; 3.50% salary inflation 

• Salary increases: In addition to the base 3.50% salary inflation assumption, salaries 
are also expected to grow by promotions and longevity. 

• Investment rate of return: 7.4% 

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2000 report ' s Combined Healthy Table and 
Combined Disabled Table, published by the Society of Actuaries. The OSA applied 
offsets to the base table and recognized future improvements in mortality by 
projecting the mortality rates using I 00 percent Scale BB. Mortality rates are applied 
on a generational basis; meaning, each member is assumed to receive additional 
mortality improvements in each future year throughout his or her lifetime. 

There were minor changes in methods and assumptions since the last valuation. 

• Lowered the valuation interest rate from 7.70% to 7.50% for all systems except 
LEOFF 2. For LEOFF 2 the valuation interest rate was lowered from 7.50% to 
7.40%. 

• Lowered the assumed genera l salary growth from 3.75% to 3.50% for all systems. 

• Lowered assumed inflation from 3.00% to 2. 75% for a ll systems. 

• Modified how the valuation software calculates benefits paid to remarried duty-related 
death survivors of LEOFF 2 members. 

• Updated the trend that the valuation software uses to project med ical inflation for 
LEOFF 2 survivors of a duty-related death, and for certain LEOFF 2 medical-related 
duty disability benefits. 
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Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liabi lity for all DRS plans \vas 7.4 
percent. 

To determine that rate, an asset sufficiency test included an assumed 7.5 percent long­
term discount rate to determine funding li abilities for calculating future contribution 
rate requirements. (All plans use 7.5 percent except LEOFF 2. which has assumed 7.4 
percent). Consistent with the long-term expected rate of return. a 7.4 percent future 
investment rate of return on invested assets was assumed to r the test. Contributions 
from plan members and employers are assumed to continue being made at 
contractually required rates (including PERS 2/3 employers. whose rates include a 
component for the PERS I plan liabi lities). Based on these assumptions. the pension 
plans· fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future 
benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore. the long-term expected rate of 
return of 7.4 percent was used to determine the tota l liability. 

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return 

The long-term expected rate of return on the DRS pension plan investments of 7.4 
percent was determined using a bui lding-block-method. In selecting this assumption. 
the Office of the State Actuary (OSA) reviewed the historical experience data. 
considered the historical conditions that produced past annual investment returns. and 
considered capital market assumptions and simulated expected investment returns 
provided by the Washington State Investment Board (WSIB). The WSIB uses the 
capital market assumptions and thei r target asset allocation to simulate future 
investment returns over various time horizons. 

Estimated Rates of Return by Asset Class 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return tor each major asset class included in 
the pension plan' s target asset allocation as of June 30, 20 18, are summarized in the 
table below. The inflation component used to create the tab le is 2.2 percent and 
represents the WSIB's most recent long-term estimate of broad economic inflation. 

Asset Class 
Fixed Income 
Tangib le Assets 
Real Estate 
Global Equity 
Private Equity 

Target 
Allocation 
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20% 
7% 
18% 
32% 
23% 

100% 

% Long-Term 
Expected Real Rate of 

Return Arithmetic 
1.70% 
-L90% 
5.80% 
6.30% 
9.30% 
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The table below presents the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) calculated using the discount rate of 7.4 percent. as 'vve ll as what the City' s 
proportionate share of the net pension li ability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is !-percentage point lower ( 6.4 percent) or !-percentage point 
higher (8.4 percent) than the current rate. 

PERS I 
PERS 2/3 
LEOFF I 
LEOFF 2 

I% Decrease 
(6.-t•Yo) 
$ IAI 6.521 

2.5 77.370 
(612.528) 
(222.826) 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

Current 
Discount Rate 

(7A%) 
$ 1. 152.639 

563A80 
(769.973) 

( 1.675.620) 

l •yo Increase 
(8Ao/c,) 

$ 924.063 
( 1.087.685) 

(905.523) 
(2.860.543) 

Detailed information about the State ·s pension plans· tiduciary net position IS 

availab le in the separately issued DRS tinancial report. 

Pension Liabilities (Assets), Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of 
Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 

At June 30. 2018. the City reported a total pension liability of $ 1.716.11 9 for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liabilities as follows: 

Liability (or Asset) 
PERS I 
PERS 2/3 
LEOFF I 
LEOFF 2 

$ 1. 152.639 
$ 563A80 
$ (769.973) 
$( 1.675,620) 

The amount of the assets reported above for the LEOFF Plan· s retlect reductions for 
State pension support provided to the City. The amount recognized by the City as its 
proportionate share of the net pension asset. the related State support. and the total 
portion of the net pension asset that was assoc iated with the City were as follows: 

LEOFF I - employer·s proportionate 
share 
LEOFF I - State· s proportionate 
share of the net pension 
liabil ity/(asset) assoc iated'' ith the 
employer 

TOTAL 
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Liability (or Asset) 

$ (769.973) 

(5 . ..,08.075) 

$ (5,978,048) 
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LEOFF 2 - employer· s proportionate 
share 
LEOFF 2 - State"s proportionate 
share of the net pension 
liability/(asset) assoc iated with the 
employer 

TOTAL 

Liability (or Asset) 

$ ( 1.675.620) 

( 1.084.932) 

$ (2 ,760,553) 

At June 30. the City"s propo1tionate share of the co llective net pensiOn 
liabilities/assets was as follows: 

Proportionate P•·oportionate Change in 
Plan Shue 6/30/17 Share 6/30/18 PrO[!Ortion 
PERS I % .023545 % .025809 % .002264 
PERS 2/3 .030285 .033002 .00271 7 
LEOFF I .041694 .0424 11 .000717 
LEOFF 2 .077629 .082534 .004905 

Employer contribution transmittals received and processed by the DRS for the fi scal 
year ended June 30 are used as the basis for detennining each employer·s 
proportionate share of the collective pension amounts reported by the DRS in the 
Schedules ofEmployer and Nonemployer Allocations for all plans except LEOFF I. 

LEOFF Plan I allocation percentages are based on the total historical employer 
contributions to LEOFF I from 197 1 through 2000 and the retirement benetit 
payments in tiscal year 20 18. Historical data was obtained from a 20 I I study by the 
Office of the State Actuary (OSA). In fi scal year 20 18. the State of Washington 
contributed 87.12 percent of LEOFF I employer contributions and all other employers 
contributed the remaining 12.88 percent of employer contributions. LEOFF I is fully 
funded and no further employer contributions have been required since June 2000. If 
the plan becomes underfunded. funding of the remaining liability will require new 
legislation. The allocation method the plan chose reflects the projected long-term 
contribution effort based on historical data. 

In ti scal year 2018. the State of Washington contributed 39.30 percent of LEOFF 2 
employer contributions pursuant to RCW 41.26. 725 and all other employers 
contributed the remaining 60.70 percent of employer contributions. 

The co llective net pension liability (asset) vvas measured as of June 30. 2018. and the 
actuarial valuation date on which the total pension liability (asset) is based was as of 
June 30. 20 17. with update procedures used to rol l forward the total pension liability 
to the measurement date. 
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For the year ended December 3 1. 2018. the C ity recogni zed pens ton expense as 
follows: 

Plan 
PERS I 
PERS 2/3 
LEOFF I 
LEOFF 2 
TOTAL 

Pension Expense 
$ 199,980 

(25. 187) 
( 133.655) 

(90.058) 
$ (48,920) 

Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 

At December 3 1. 20 18. the C ity reported de ferred outflows o f resources and deferred 
intlows of resources re lated to pensions hom the fo llowing sources: 

PERS Plan l 
Net di fference between projected and actua l investment 
earnings on pension plan investments 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

TOTAL PERS Plan I 

PERS Plan 2/3 
Differences between expected and actual experience 
Net difference between projected and actual investment 
earnings on pension plan investments 
Changes of assumptions 
Changes in proportion and differences bet\veen 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

TOTAL PERS Plan 2 

82 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resources 

$ 
82.275 

$ 82,_275 

Deferred 
Outflows of 
Resou r·ces 
$ 69.068 

6.592 

167,071 
11 1. 1 6.., 

$ 363,993 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 

$ (45.805) 

L (;5,805) 

Deferred 
Inflows of 
Resources 
$ (98,655) 

(345, 777) 
( 160.362) 

(I 0.00 I) 

$ (614, 795) 



CITY OF KELSO 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 31. 2018 

LEOFF Plan I 
Net difference between projected and actual investment 
earnings on pension plan investments 

TOTAL LEOFF Plan I 

LEOFF Pla n 2 
Di fferences between expected and actual experience 
Net difference between projected and actua l investment 
earnings on pension plan investments 
Changes in assumptions 
Changes in proportion and differences between 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

TOTAL LEOFF Plan 2 

Deferred Deferred 
O utflows of Inflows of 
Reso urces Resources 

$ $ (62.5 11) 

Defened Deferred 
O utflows of Inflows of 
Resources Resou rces 
$ 89.760 $ (3 8.908) 

(293 .256) 
949 (240.482) 

( 75, 732) 
65.034 

$__ 155,743 $ (648)78) 

Deferred outtlows of resources related to pensions resul ti ng from the City's 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of 
the net pension liabil ity in the year ended December 31. 201 9. Other amounts 
reported as deferred outtlows and deferred intlows of resources related to pensions 
wi ll be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Year ended Decem ber 3 1: 
2019 
2020 
202 1 
2022 
2023 
Thereafter 

PERS I 
$ 2,004 

( 10,0 13) 
(30,04 7) 
(7,749) 

Other Local Government Pension System 

PERS 2/3 
$(35.5 14) 

(86,423) 
( 181.888) 

(48.615) 
750 

(20,375) 

LEOFF I 
$ 60 

( l·U 02) 
(38.408) 
( I 0.061) 

LEOFF2 
$( -+6.506) 
(90.907) 

( 184.94 1) 
(72,2 16) 
(30,64 1) 

( 132.459) 

The City is the administrator of a single employer defined benetlt pension plan. the 
Firemen·s Pension Fund. The plan is limited to firefighters and beneficiaries employed 
before March I. 1970. and as o f March I. 1970, the plan was closed to new entrants. 
Fire fighters hired before March I. 1970. at retirement receive the greater of the 
pension benefit provided under this plan or under the LEOFF plan. Any excess benefit 
over the LEOFF benefit is provided by the City plan. There are cuJTently eight 
individuals retired under the LEOFF plan. but drawing excess benetits from this plan. 
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CITY OF KELSO 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 3 1. 2018 

There are no individuals cunently employed that are eligible for benefits from this 
plan. All future obligations of the Firemen's Pension Fund were assumed by the State 
pension system. LEOFF. 

The Fireman·s Pension Fund cash and investment balance consists of $626,568 with 
the investment portion held in the State investment pool as of December 31. 2018. 

A recent actuarial survey has not been done because annual benefits are approximately 
$52.000 and the net position held in trust for pension benefits is over $625 ,000 and the 
average age of cunent retirees is 81. However, the last actuarial survey indicated that 
there was a net accrued liability of $225,000 in the system that will be fully amortized 
with annual contributions to the plan of $26,616 through 2024. Furthermore, there was 
no preparation of the schedules or required supplementary information required by 
GASB"s 67 and 68 because. in management"s opinion, future funding and 
contributions by the City are not material and the cost of future actuarials would 
outweigh the benefits. 

In 2018, the City also received on behalf payments from taxes on fire msurance 
premiums in the amount of $12.768. 

I. Direct Adjustments to Net Position/Fund Balances 

Change in Accounting Principle 
In 2018. the City implemented GAS B Statement No. 75. Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB). GASS 75 
requires the City to report the Total OPES Liability (as opposed to net OPES), as well 
as any related deferred intlow/outflows associated with the OPES. for benefits that 
have accrued to eligible retirees who are members of plan I of the Law Enforcement 
Officers· and Fire Fighters· Retirement System (LEOFF I). As a result. the City's 
liability as of December 31. 2017 increased by $3.568,858 and deferred outflows 
related to the OPEB increased by $85,892. 

Prior Period Adjustment 
The City"s Firemen·s Pension Trust Fund accumulates resources for pension and 
healthcare benefit payments to qualified retired firemen and qualified spouses. Prior to 
20 18, the City treated this fund as a qualified trust and reported it as a fiduciary fund. 
However, the City has determined that this trust does not meet the criteria for a trust as 
set forth by GASS and has reclassified it to the general fund. As a result, 
governmental fund balances and net position for governmental activities, as of January 
I. 20 18. vvere restated by $5 16.034. 

These adjustments decreased the net pos1t1on for governmental act1v1t1es by 
$2.966.932. and increased the fund balance for the governmental funds by $516.034. 
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CITY OF KELSO 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

December 3 I, 2018 

The net effect of Direct Adjustments to Net Position/Fund Balances are as follows: 

Net position/fund balance as previously reported 
at December 3 1, 20 17 

Change in accounting principle: 
Deferred Outflows Related to OPEB 
Net OPEB Liability 

Prior Period Adjustment: 
Reclassification of Firemen's Pension Fund 

Net position/fund balance as restated, January I, 2018 

85 

Govenunental 
Activities 

$64,05 1.54 1 

85,892 
(3,568,858) 

5 16,034 

$6 1.084 609 

Govenunental 
Funds 

$9,680, 109 

5 16,034 

$1 0.196. 143 



Statutorily required contributions 
Contributions in relation to the 

statutorily required contributions*** 
Contribution deficiency/( excess) 

Covered payroll** 

Contributions as a percentage of 
employee payroll 

Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Schedule of Employer Contributions 

Public Employees Retirement System Plan I 
As of December 31, 2018 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 
2015* 

$ 119,722 

(119,722) 
$ 

$2,653,280 

4.51% 

Fiscal Year 
2016 

$ 135,433 

(135,433) 
$ 

$2,824,028 

4.80% 

nus schedule IS Intended to show mfonnation for ten years, additiOnal years' mfonnation wtll be displayed as 1t becomes available 

• Lnfonnation not avrulable prior to 20 15 

• • Covered payroll is the payroll on which contn butlo ns to a penston plan are based 

Fiscal Year 
2017 

$ 149,623 

(149,623) 
$ 

$3,053,518 

4.90% 

Fiscal Year 
2018 

$ 165,771 

(165,771) 
$ 

$3,274,719 

5.06% 

... Contnbunons are actual employer conmbutions to the plan. For PERS I thts mcludes the ponton of PERS 213 contributions that fund the PERS I UAAL 
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Statutorily required contributions 
Contributions in relation to the 

statutorily required contributions*** 
Contribution deficiency/( excess) 

Covered payro ll** 

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payroll 

Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Schedule of Employer Contributions 

Public Employees Retirement System Plan 2/3 
As of December 31, 2018 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 
2015* 

$ 146,061 

(1 46,061) 
$ 

$2,593,780 

5.63% 

Fiscal Year 
2016 

$ 175,210 

(175,210) 
$ 

$2,812,358 

6.23% 

Th1s schedule IS tntended to show mformat1o n for ten years, add111onal years' tnformauon w1ll be displayed as 11 becomes available. 

• Information not available pnor to 2015 

•• Covered payroll IS the payroll on wh1ch contributiOns to a pens1on plan arc based. 

• •• Contnbuuons are actual employer contnbuuons to the plan. 

87 

Fiscal Year 
2017 

$ 209,473 

(209,473) 
$ 

$3,053,518 

6.86% 

Fiscal Year 
2018 

$ 244,652 

(244,652) 
$ 

$3,274,719 

7.47% 



Statutorily required contributions 
Contributions in relation to the 

Required Supplementary Information 

C ity of Kelso 
Schedule of Employer Contributions 

Law Enforcement Officers and Fire Fighters Retirement Pla n 2 
As of December 3 1,2018 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 
2015* 

$ 110,458 

Fiscal Year 
2016 

$ 121 ,594 

statutorily required contributions*** {110,458) (121,594) 
Contribution deficiency/( excess) $ $ 

Covered payroll** $2,187,286 $2,407,794 

Contributions as a percentage of 
covered payro ll 5.05% 5.05% 

Th1s schedule IS Intended to show mformauon for ten years. add1 11onal years' mformauon Will be d1splayed as 11 becomes available 

•• Covered payroll IS the payroll on wh1ch contnbuuons to a pens1on plan are based 

• • • Contnbuuons are actual employer contnbuuons to the plan 
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Fiscal Year 
2017 

$ 128,018 

(128,018) 
$ 

$2,485, 109 

5.15% 

Fiscal Year 
2018 

$ 131,270 

(131 ,270) 
$ 

$2,452,607 

5.35% 



Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the ~et Pension Liability 

Public Employees Retirement System Plan I 

Employer's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability 

Employer's covered payroll 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability as a percentage of covered payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
tota l pens ion liability 

.-\s of June 30, 2018 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 
2015* 

0.023210% 

$ 1,214,099 

$ 2,609,568 

46.52% 

59.10% 

Fiscal Year 
2016 

0.022776% 

$1 ,223. 179 

$2,691 ,098 

45.45% 

57.03% 

Th1s schedule Js mtended to show mfonnauon for ten years. addlllonal years' mfonnauon Will be dJsplayed as 11 becomes avaJ iable 

' lnformauon not avaJiable pnor to 20 15 
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Fiscal Year 
2017 

0.023545% 

$ 1 ' 117,229 

$2,986.773 

37.41% 

61 .24% 

Fiscal Year 
2018 

0.025809% 

$1 .152,639 

$3,190.174 

36.13% 

63.22% 



Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the 'iet Pension Liability 

Public Employees Retirement System Plan 2/3 

Employer's proportion o f the net pension liability (asset) 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability 

Employer's covered payroll 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension 
liabi lity as a percentage of covered payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 

.-\s of June 30, 2018 
Last Ten Fisca l Years 

Fiscal Year 
2015* 

0.028465% 

$ 1,01 7,071 

$ 2,549,530 

39.89% 

89.20% 

Fiscal Year 
2016 

0.028007% 

$1,410,130 

$2,649,405 

53.22% 

85.82% 

Tius SChedule IS tnlended 10 show mfonnation for teO years. addtllonaJ years' mfonnaUOn WtJI be dtspJayed as It becomes avaJJabJe 

• Jnformauon not avatlable pnor to 20 15 
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Fisca l Year 
2017 

0.030285% 

$1 ,052,259 

$2,986,773 

35.23% 

90.97% 

Fisca l Year 
2018 

0.033002% 

$ 563,480 

$3,190,174 

17.66% 

95.77% 



Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Schedule of Proport ionate Share of the ~et Pension Liability 

Law Enforcement Office rs and fi re f ighters Retirement Plan I 
As of J une 30, 2018 

Employer's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) 

State's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) assoc iated with the employer** 

Employer's covered payroll 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) as a percentage of covered payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability (asset) 

Last Ten f isca l Years 

f iscal Yea r 
2015* 

0.042208% 

$ (508,700} 

$ 

$ 

N/A 

127.36% 

f iscal Year 
2016 

0.042555% 

$(438,438} 

$ 

$ 

N/A 

123.74% 

TillS ;chedu[e IS Ultended tO ShOW mfonnaUOO for ten years, addittona[ years' mforrna110n Will be diSplayed as It becomeS avat[ab[e 

• lnfonnauon not ava1lable pnor to 201 5 

•• lnforrnatton not available pnor to 20 18 
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f isca l Year 
2017 

0.041694% 

$(632.590} 

$ 

$ 

N/A 

135.96% 

fiscal Year 
2018 

0.042411% 

$ (769,973) 

$ (5.208,075} 

$ 

N/A 

144.42% 



Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of the 'iet Pension Liability 

Law Enforcement Officers and Fire Fighters Retirement Plan 2 
As of June 30, 20l8 

Employer's proportion of the net pension liability (asset) 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) 

State's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
(asset) associated with the employer 

Employer's covered payroll 

Employer's proportionate share of the net pension 
liability (asset) as a percentage of covered payroll 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability (asset) 

Last Ten Fiscal Yea rs 

Fiscal Year 
2015* 

0.072194% 

$ (742,010) 

$ (490,624) 

$2,120,860 

34.99% 

11 1.67% 

Fiscal Year 
2016 

0.075802% 

$ (440,887) 

$ (287,426) 

$2,294,917 

19.21% 

106.04% 

Th1s schedule IS tntended to show mfonnauon for teo years. add1tional years' mfonnanon w11l be d1splayed as It becomes avrulable. 

• lnformauon not avrulable pnor to 201 5 
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Fiscal Year 
2017 

0.077629% 

$(1,077,239) 

$ (698,785) 

$ 2,439,577 

44.16% 

113.36% 

f iscal Year 
2018 

0.082534% 

$(1 ,675,620) 

$(1 ,084,932) 

$ 2,503,122 

66.94% 

118.50% 



Required Supplementary Information 

City of Kelso 
Sched ule of Changes in OPEB Liability and Related Ratios 

As of June 30, 2018 
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 

Total OPEB liability 

Interest 
Changes in experience data and assumptions 
Estimated benefit payments 

Net change in total OPEB liability 

Total OPEB liability- beginning 

Net OPEB liability - Ending 

Covered employee payroll 

Total OPEB liability, as a percentage of covered 
employee payroll 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2018 

213,947 
(187,842) 
(251 ,437) 

(225,332) 

6,100,792 

5,875,460 

N/A 

• The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of June 30. Additional years will be 

added to the schedule as information becomes available. 
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CITY OF KELSO 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

DECEMBER 31, 2018 

Other Postemplovment Benefits Other Than Pensions 

The City's LEOFF I OPEB liabi lity calculation uses the Bond Buyer General Obligation 
20-Bond Municipal Index to r the discount rate. Changes in experience data and 
assumptions retlect a change in the discount rate from 3.58 percent in 20 17 to 3.87 
percent in 20 18. 
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Nonmajor Governmental Funds 

Special Revenue Funds 

Special revenue funds are used to account for speci fic revenues that are legally restricted 
to expenditures for particular purposes. 

Paths & Trails Fund - this fund is used to account for the receipt of .5% of the State fuel 
taxes. Expenditures are restricted for City paths & trails. 

Stadium Fund - this fund is used to account for the City's share of hotel-motel taxes 
which are used for the promotion of tourism and for the acq uisition and/or operation of 
to urism related faci lities. 

Highlander Festival Fund - this fund is used to account for the revenues and expenditures 
associated with the City's annual festi val. 

The HUD grant f und accounts for the resources accumulated through Community 
Development Block Grants to implement neighborhood rehabilitation programs to assist 
low to moderate income property owners rehabilitate their properties. 

Criminal Justice Fund - this fund is used to account fo r State-distributed money fo r 
criminal justice purposes only. This fund also accounts for revenues and expenditures 
assoc iated with the City's drug task force. 

Transportation Benefit District Fund - This fund also accounts for revenues and 
expenditures associated with the City's Transportation Benefit District. 

Debt Service Funds 

Non-Voted General Obligation Bond Fund - this fund is used to account for the debt 
service on Council approved general obligation bonds. The City Hall and roadway 
improvement bonds are the only bonds outstand ing. 

Capital Projects Fund 

Capital projects funds are used to account for the acquisition and construction of major 
capital faci lities other than those tinanced by proprietary fund s and trust funds. 

City Hall Fund - this fund accounts for the receipt and expenditure of the restricted Real 
Estate Excise Tax distributed by the State to the City. These funds were used to construct 
a portion of the new city hall and to pay the future debt serYice on the new city hall. 
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City of Kelso 
Combining Balance Sheet 

:\onmajor Governmental Funds 

December 31. 2018 

Spec1al Revenue 
m.;D Transportation 

Paths/ Highlander Block Criminal Benefit 
Trails Stadium Festival Grant Justice District 

Assets 

Cash & cash equivalents $ 3.102 $ 165,596 $ 7.566 $ 352.548 $ 65,910 $ 60.160 
Investments 

Receivables (net) 
Accounts 19.453 5.758 
Assessments/taxes 

Due from other funds 
Due from other governments 53,673 
Advances to other funds 

Long-term notes receivable 458.416 
Total Assets 3,102 185,049 7,566 816,722 119,583 60,160 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 38,224 66 1,412 
Unearned revenue 21 .261 43,938 

Total Liabilities 59,485 66 45,350 

Fund Ba lances 
Restricted for : 

Paths and trails 3,102 
Promotion of tourism 103.662 
Housing/neighborhood rehabilitation 331 ,959 
Street maintenance/construction 60,160 
Capital projects 

Assigned to: 
Debt service 

Other purposes 21.902 7,500 484,763 74,233 
Total Fund Balance 3,102 125,564 7,500 816,722 74,233 60,160 

Total Liabili ties and Fund Balances $ 3,102 $ 185,049 $ 7,566 $ 816,722 $ 119,583 $ 60,160 
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City of Kelso 

Combining Bala nce Sheet 

~onmajor Govern mental Funds 

December 31, 2018 

Debt Semce Capital proJects 
Total ~on-:VIajor Total :\'on-.\1ajor 
Special Revenue :"ion Voted City Uall Governmenta l 

Funds G.O. Bond Fund Funds 

Assets 
Cash & cash equivalents $ 654,882 $ 1.624.171 $ 334,146 $ 2,613.199 
Investments 785,419 785.419 
Receivables (net) 

Accounts 25,211 5,179 30,390 
Assessments/taxes 7,682 7,682 

Due from other funds 32.000 32,000 
Due from other governments 53,673 53.673 
Advances to other funds 225,004 225,004 
Long-tenn notes receivable 458,416 458,416 

Total Assets 1, 192,182 2,67 1,773 341,828 4,205,783 

Liabilities 
Accounts payable 39,702 39,702 
Unearned revenue 65,199 65,199 

Total Liabilities 104,901 104,901 

Fund Balances 

Restricted for: 
Paths and trails 3,102 3,102 
Promotion of tourism 103,662 103,662 
Housing/neighborhood rehabilitation 33 1,959 331,959 
Street maintenance/construction 60.160 60,160 
Capital projects 341 ,828 341,828 

Assigned to: 
Debt service 2,67 1,773 2.671 ,773 
Other purposes 588,398 588,398 
Total Fund Balance 1,087,281 2,67 1,773 341 ,828 4,100,882 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 1 '192, 182 $ 2,67 1,773 $ 341,828 $ 4,205,783 
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City of Kelso 
Combining Sta tement of Revenues. Expenditures a nd C banges in Fund Balances 

\onmajor Governmental Funds 

For tbe fi scal year ended December 31,2018 

s c1al Revenue 
Hud Transportation 

Patbs and Highlander Block Criminal Benefit 

Trails Stadium Festival Grant Justice District 
Revenues 

Taxes $ $ 174.772 $ $ $ $ 199.939 
Intergovernmental 1.311 37.520 147.997 
Charges for serv1ces 4,712 
Fmes 2.052 
Investment earnmgs 5 2.498 7.312 489 
Rental/lease mcome 10,920 
M 1scellaneous 34 14,040 

Total revenues 1,316 225,744 18,752 7,312 150.538 199,939 

Expenditures 

Securiry of persons and properry 243,723 
Economic Environment 73 
Culture and recreauon 193.248 33.221 
Capital outlay 128.854 
Debt serv1ce· 

Principal 
Interest and fiscal charges 
Total expenditures 193,248 33.221 128,927 243,723 

Excess (defic1ency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 1,316 32.496 (14.469) (121,615) (93.185) 199.939 

O tber financing sources (uses) 

Proceeds from the sale of bonds 
Transfers in 15.000 96,179 
Transfers out (15,000) (61 ,000) ~ 1 75,000) 

Total other financmg sources (uses ) (15,000) 15,000 (6 1,000) 96,179 ~175,000) 

Net change m fund balances 1.316 17.496 531 (182,615) 2.994 24,939 

Fund balances- begmmng 1.786 108,068 6.969 999,337 71,239 35,221 
Fund balances- endmg $ 3.102 $ 125.564 $ 7,500 $ 816,722 $ 74,233 5 60,160 
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City of Kelso 
Combining Statement or Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

'ion major Governmental Funds 
For tbe fiscal year ended December 31,2018 

Debt Servtce CaEllal PrOJ CCIS 
Total :'ion-:\>lajor Tota l :-lon-:\>lajor 
Special Revenue :\'on-Voted City Hall Governmental 

Funds G.O. Bond Fund Funds 
Revenues 

Taxes $ 374.711 $ $ 217.842 $ 592.553 
Intergovernmental 186.828 186.828 
Charges for servtces 4,712 4,712 
Fmes 2.052 2.052 
Investment eammgs 10.304 29.497 3.600 43.401 
Rental/lease mcome 10.920 10.920 
Mtscellaneous 14.074 8.981 23.055 

Total revenues 603,601 38.478 221 .442 863.521 

Expenditures 
Secunty of persons and property 243.723 243.723 
Economtc Envtronment 73 73 
Culture and recreauon 226.469 226.469 
Capnal outlay 128.854 128.854 
Debt servtce 

Pnnctpal 270,000 270.000 
Interest and fiscal charges 159.963 159.963 
Total expenditures 599,119 429,963 1,029,082 

Excess (delictency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 4.482 (391,485) 221 ,442 (165.561) 

Otber financing sources (uses) 
Sale of general capnal assets 259.141 259, 141 
Transfers m 11 1.179 430.963 11 .312 553.454 
Transfers out (251,000) (16.402) (130.000) (397,402) 

Total other fi nancmg sources (uses) (139,821) 673,702 (11 8.688) 41 5. 193 

Net change 1 n fund balances (135.339) 282.217 102.754 249.632 

Fund balances - begmnmg 1.222,620 2,389,556 239.074 3.851 ,250 
Fund balances· endmg $ 1,087,281 $ 2.671,773 $ 341,828 $ 4,100.882 
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City of Kelso 
Street Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expend itures, and C hanges in Fund Balances- Budget and Actua l 
For the Year Ended December 31,201 8 

Budgeted Amo unts Va riance 
Actual With Final 

O riginal Final Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 332,972 $ 332,972 $ 332,972 $ 
Intergovernmental 275,000 275,000 275,461 461 
Charges fo r services 2,500 2,500 8,568 6,068 
Investment earnings 1,000 1,000 12,192 11 ' 192 
Rental/lease income 20,900 20,900 20,904 4 
Miscellaneous 12,088 12,088 

Total revenues 632,372 632,372 662,185 29,813 

Expenditures 
Transportation 732,372 817,372 774,568 42,804 

Total expenditures 732,372 817,372 774,568 42,804 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (100,000) (185,000) (112,383) 72,617 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers out (264,000) (43,561) 220,439 

Total other financing sources (uses) (264,000) (43,561) 220,439 
Net change in fund balances (100,000) (449,000) (155,944) 293,056 

Fund balances - beginning 723,326 723,326 723,326 
Fund balances - ending $ 623,326 $ 274,326 $ 567,382 $ 293,056 
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City of Kelso 
Library Fund 

Schedu le of Revenues, Expenditures, and Cha nges in Fund Bala nces- Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Varia nce 

.-\ ctual With Fina l 
Original Final .-\mou nts Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 566,199 $ 566, 199 $ 566,199 $ 
Charges for services 7,600 7,600 . 8,837 1,237 
Fines 4,200 4,200 2,809 (1 ,391) 
Lnvestment earnings 35 35 651 616 
Miscellaneous 50 50 86 36 

Total revenues 578,084 578,084 578,582 498 

Expenditures 
Culture and recreation 578,084 578,084 539,432 38,652 

Total expenditures 578,084 578,084 539,432 38,652 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 39,150 39,150 

Net change in fund balances 39,150 39,150 

Fund balances - begilUling 52,358 52,358 52,358 
Fund balances - ending $ 52,358 $ 52,358 $ 91 ,508 $ 39,150 
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City of Kelso 
Kelso Station Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and C ha nges in Fund Balances- Budget and .-\ctua l 

For the Yea r Ended December 31, 2018 

Budgeted .-\mounts Variance 
Act ual With Fina l 

Original Final .-\mounts Budget 

Revenues 
lnvesttnent earnings $ $ $ 239 $ 239 
RentaVIease income 30,850 30,850 31 ,230 380 
Miscellaneous 100 100 180 80 

Total revenues 30,950 30,950 31,649 699 

Expenditures 
Transportation 58,520 58,520 57,498 1,022 

Total expenditures 58,520 58,520 57,498 1,022 

Excess (de ficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (27,570) (27,570) (25,849) 1,721 

Other fina ncing sources (uses) 

Transfers in 27,570 27,570 27,570 
Total other financing sources (uses) 27,570 27,570 27,570 

Net change in fund balances 1,721 1,721 

Fund balances- beginning 21,499 21.499 21.499 
Fund balances - ending $ 21,499 $ 21,499 $ 23,220 $ 1,721 
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City of Kelso 
Par-ks and Recreatio n Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances- Budget and .-\ctual 
For the Year Ended December 31 , 2018 

Budgeted .-\mounts Va riance 
Actual With Final 

Origina l Final Amo unts Budget 

Revenues 

Taxes $ 241 ,843 $ 241,843 $ 241,843 $ 
[ntergovemmental 1,000,000 1,000,000 226,956 (773,044) 
Charges tor services 44,000 44,000 4,837 (39, 163) 
[nvestment earnings 100 100 700 600 
Rental/lease income 45,000 45,000 46,098 1,098 
Miscellaneous 12,437 12,437 

Total revenues 1,330,943 1,330,943 532,871 (798,072) 

Expenditures 
Culture and recreation 333,625 370,625 321,466 49,159 
Capital outlay 1,015,000 1,185,000 300,063 884,937 

Total expenditures 1,348,625 1,555,625 621,529 934,096 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (17,682) (224,682) (88,658) 136,024 

Other financ ing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 14,500 139,500 16,402 (123,098) 

Total other fmancing sources (uses) 14,500 139,500 16,402 (123,098) 
Net change in fund balances (3, 182) (85, 182) (72,256) 12,926 

Fund balances - begirming 107,095 107,095 107,095 
Fund balances -ending $ 103,913 $ 21 ,913 $ 34,839 $ 12,926 
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City of Kelso 
Fa~,:ade lmprovement Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances- Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended December 3 1, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 
Actual With Final 

Original Final .-\mounts Budget 

Revenues 
Investment earnings $ $ $ 8 $ 8 

Total revenues 8 8 

Expenditures 
Economic Environment 10,000 10,000 $ 10,000 

Total expenditures 10,000 10,000 10,000 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (10,000) (10,000) 8 10,008 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 10,000 10,000 (10,000) 

Total other financing sources (uses) 10,000 10,000 (10,000) 
Net change in fund balances 8 8 

Fund balances - beginning 452 452 452 
Fund balances - ending $ 452 $ 452 $ 460 $ 8 
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City of Kelso 
Paths a nd Trails Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and C ha nges in Fund Balances- Budget and Actual 

For the Year Ended December 3 I, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 

Actua l With Final 

Original Final Amo unts Budget 

Revenues 
lntergovemmemal $ 1,200 $ 1,200 $ 1,31 1 $ 111 
lnvesnnem earnings 5 5 

r otal revenues 1,200 1,200 1,316 116 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over t under) expenditures 1,200 1,200 1,316 116 
Net change in fund balances 1,200 1,200 1,316 116 

Fund balances - beginning 1,786 1,786 1,786 
Fund balances - ending $ 2,986 $ 2,986 $ 3,102 $ 116 
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City of Kelso 
Stadium Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and C hanges in Fund Balances- Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Budgeted .-\mounts Variance 
:\.clual With Final 

Original Final Amou nts Budget 

Revenues 

Taxes $ 165,000 $ 165,000 $ 174,772 $ 9,772 
Intergovernmental 9,400 64,400 37,520 (26,880) 
Investment earnings 200 200 2,498 2,298 
RentaUiease income 10,920 10,920 
Miscellaneous 100 100 34 (66) 

Total revenues 174,700 229,700 225,744 (3,956) 

Expenditures 

Culture and recreation 104,500 261 ,900 193,248 68,652 
Total expenditures 104,500 261,900 193,248 68,652 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 70,200 (32,200) 32,496 64,696 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers out (20,000) (20,000) (15,000) 5,000 

Total other financing sources (uses) (20,000) (20,000) (15,000) 5,000 
Net change in fund balances 50,200 (52,200) 17,496 69,696 

Fund balances - beginning 108,068 108,068 108,068 
Fund balances - ending $ 158,268 $ 55,868 $ 125,564 $ 69,696 
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City of Kelso 
Hig hlander Festival Fund 

Sched ule of Revenues. Ex penditures. and C hanges in Fund Balances- Budget and Actua l 

For the Year Ended Dece mber 31. 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Va riance 
Actual With Fina l 

O riginal Final .-\mounts Budget 

Revenues 
Charges fo r services $ 6,800 $ 6 ,800 $ 4 ,712 $ (2,088} 
Misce llaneous 15,500 15,500 14 ,040 (1 ,460} 

Total revenues 22,300 22,300 18,752 (3,548} 

Ex penditu res 

Culture and recreation 37,300 42,300 33,221 9,079 
Total expenditures 37,300 42,300 33,221 9,079 

Excess (defic iency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (15,000} (20,000} (1 4,469} 5,531 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 15,000 20,000 15,000 (5,000} 

Total other tinancing sources (uses) 15,000 20,000 15,000 (5,000} 
Net change in fund balances 531 531 

Fund balances - beginning 6,969 6,969 6,969 
Fund balances - ending $ 6,969 $ 6,969 $ 7,500 $ 531 
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City of Kelso 
Hl; D Block Grant Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and C hanges in Fund Balances- Budget and .-\ctual 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 

Actual With Final 
Original Final Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Investment earnings $ 600 $ 600 $ 7,312 $ 6,712 

Total revenues 600 600 7,312 6,712 

Expenditures 
Economic Environment: 

Neighborhood stabilization 150,000 150,000 150,000 
Housing rehabilitation 73 (73) 
Capital outlay 128,854 (128,854) 
Total expenditures 150,000 150,000 128,927 21 ,073 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures (149,400) (149,400) (121,615) 27,785 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers out (71 ,000) (71,000) (61,000) 10,000 

Total other financing sources (uses) (71,000) (71 ,000) (61,000) 10,000 
Net change in fund balances (220,400) (220,400) (182,615) 37,785 

Fund balances- beginning 999,337 999,337 999,337 
Fund balances - ending $ 778,937 $ 778,937 $ 816,722 $ 37,785 
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City of Kelso 
C riminal Justice Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and C hanges in Fund Balances- Budget and Actual 
Fo r the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Budgeted .~mounts Variance 
Actual With Fina l 

O riginal Final Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Intergovernmental $ 166,211 $ 166,211 $ 147,997 $ (18,214) 
Fines 300 300 2,052 1,752 
Investment earnings 489 489 

Total revenues 166,511 166,511 150,538 (15,973) 

Expenditures 

Security of persons and property 262,690 262,690 243,723 18,967 
Total expenditures 262,690 262,690 243,723 18,967 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (96,1 79) (96, 179) (93, 185) 2,994 

Other fina ncing sources (uses) 

Transfers in 96,179 96,179 96,179 
Total other financing sources (uses) 96,179 96, 179 96,179 

Net change in fund balances 2,994 2,994 

Fund balances - beginning 71,239 71,239 71 ,239 
Fund balances - ending $ 71,239 $ 71,239 $ 74,233 $ 2,994 
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City of Kelso 
Transportation Benefit District Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actua l 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 
Actual With Final 

O riginal Fina l Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 175.000 $ 175,000 $ 199,939 $ 24.939 

Total revenues 175,000 175,000 199,939 24,939 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 175,000 175,000 199,939 24,939 

Net change in fund balances 175,000 175.000 199.939 24.939 

Other financing sources (uses ) 
Transfers out (175,000) (175,000) (175,000) 

Total other financing sources (uses) (175,000) (175,000) (175,000) 
Net change in fund balances 24,939 24,939 

Fund balances - beginning 35,221 35,221 35,221 
Fund balances - ending $ 35,221 $ 35,221 $ 60, 160 $ 24,939 
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City of Kelso 
Non-Voted G.O. Bond Debt Service Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and C hanges in Fund Balance - Budget and Actual 

For the fisca l year ended December 3 1, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 

Actua l With Fina l 
Origina l Final Amounts Budget 

Revenues 

Investment earnings $ 12,000 $ 12,000 $ 29,497 $ 17,497 
Miscellaneous 1,444 1,444 8,981 7,537 

Total revenues 13,444 13,444 38 ,478 25,034 

Expenditures 
Debt service: 

Principal 270,000 270,000 270,000 
Interest 160,963 160,963 159,963 1,000 

Total expenditures 430,963 430,963 429,963 1,000 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over (under) expenditures (417 ,519) (417 ,519) (391 ,485) 26,034 

Other financing sources (uses) 

Transfers in 430,963 430,963 430,963 
Transfers out (125,000) (16,402) 108,598 
Sale of general capital assets 259,141 259,141 

Total other financing sources (uses) 430,963 305,963 673,702 367,739 
Net change in fund balances 13,444 (111 ,556) 282,217 393,773 

Fund balances- beginning 2,389,556 2,389,556 2,389,556 
Fund balances - ending $2,403,000 $2,278,000 $2,671,773 $ 393,773 
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City of Kelso 
City Hall Capita l Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures, and C hanges in Fund Bala nces- Budget and Actual 
For the Year Ended December 3 1, 2018 

Budgeted Amounts Variance 
Actua l With Fina l 

Original Fina l Amounts Budget 

Revenues 
Taxes $ 80,000 $ 80,000 $ 217,842 $ 137,842 
[nvestment earnings 50 50 3,600 3,550 

Total revenues 80,050 80,050 221,442 141 ,392 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 80,050 80,050 221,442 141,392 

Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfers in 11 ,312 11 ,312 
Transfers out (130,000) (130,000) (130,000) 

Total other financing sources (use (130,000) (130,000) (11 8,688) 
Net change in fund balances (49,950) (49,950) 102,754 141 ,392 

Fund balances - beginning 239,074 239,074 239,074 
Fund balances - ending $ 189,124 $ 189, 124 $ 341,828 $ 141 ,392 
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Fiduciary Funds 

Agency Fund 

Agency funds are used to account for short-term custodial co llections of resources on 
behalf of another individual. entity. or government. 

Southvvest Washington Regional Airport Fund - this fund is a separate entity jointly 
operated by various entities in Cow·litz County. Washington. The purpose of this agency 
is to participate jointly in the funding and decision-making for the operation. repair. 
improvement and regulation of the Southwest Washington Regional Airport and to assure 
the continued operation o f the Airport for the bene tit of all . The Ci ty acts as the treasurer 
for this agency. In addition. the City of Ke lso has been contracted to maintain the 
tinancial records and reports as requ ired by the laws of the State of Washington. 
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Assets 

Cash & cash equivalents 

Receivab les 

Total Assets 

Liabilities 

Accounts payable 

Due to 'other governments 

C ustodial accounts 

Total Liabilities 

City of Kelso 

Airport Agency Fund 

Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities 

For the Fiscal Year ended December 31,2018 

Balance 

December Jl, 2017 Additions 

$ 600,906 $ 871,505 
184,923 498,269 

$ 785,829 $ 1,369,774 

$ 94,479 $ 849,884 
150,000 
541,350 519,890 

$ 785,829 $ 1,369,774 
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Balance 

Deductions December 3 I, 2018 

$ 887,985 $ 584,426 
656,006 27,186 

$ 1,543,991 $ 611 ,612 

$ 885,756 $ 58,607 
150,000 

658,235 403,005 
$ 1,543,991 $ 611,612 
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STATISTICAL SECTION 

This part of the City of Kelso's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed 
information as a context for understanding what the information in the financial 
statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary information says about the 
government's overall financial health. 

Contents Page 

Financial Trends 119 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader 
understand how the City ·s financial performance and well-being 
have changed over time. 

Revenue Capacity 126 

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader assess 
some of the City's most significant local revenue sources, various 
taxes. 

Debt Capacity 

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the 
a.ffordability of the City 's current levels of outstanding debt and the 
City 's ability to issue additional debt in the future. 

Demographic and Economic 

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help 
the reader understand the environment within which the City's 
financial activities take place 

Operating Information 

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the 
reader understand how the information in the City 's financial 
report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it 
performs. 

13 1 

136 

139 

Sources : Unless otherwise noted, the infonnation in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive 
annual financial reports for the relevant year. 
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City of Kelso 
Net !'osition by Component 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(accrua l basis Of liCCOUnting) 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Fiscal Year 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

( iuvcrnmcntal at.:ttvt tt C!> 

Net Investment 111 capital assets $ 47,642 $ 48,034 $ 47 ,753 $ 48.199 $ 54,754 $ 57,203 $ 56,455 $ 56,985 $ 56,850 $ 59,025 
Rcstru.: tcLI 845 1.302 1,349 1.442 1.491 1,616 1,664 1,085 1,115 944 
lJnrcstncted 4.021 2.801 2,936 4,494 4,342 4.481 4,680 5,496 6,086 4,740 

Total guvcrnm..:ntal acllvtttcs nr.;t pusltwn $ 52.508 $ 52.137 $ 52,038 $ 54.135 $ 60.587 $ 63,300 $ 62.799 $ 63,566 $ 64.051 $ 64,709 

Bustnc!'!s-type at.:ltvllh!~ 
Net mvestmcnt 111 capital asset> $ 20,013 $ 20.893 $ 20.809 $ 21 .989 $ 19,683 $ 20,307 $ 21 .087 $ 22,337 $ 24.876 $ 25.678 
Restricted 202 591 592 593 595 597 603 478 479 478 
l J nrestncted 5,747 5,119 6,216 7.128 7.219 7.957 7.224 8,626 8,201 8,418 

Total busmess-typc actiVItieS net posttlon $ 25.962 $ 26,603 $ 27,617 $ 29,710 $ 27.497 $ 28,861 $ 28.91 4 $ 31,441 $ 33.556 $ 34,574 

l1nmary government 

Net mvestment 111 capital a»eto $ 67,655 $ 68,927 $ 68,562 $ 70,188 $ 74,437 $ 77.510 $ 77 ,542 $ 79,322 $ 81.726 $ 84.703 
Restricted 1,047 1,893 1.941 2.035 2.086 2.213 2.267 1,563 1,594 1,422 
lJnrestncted 9,768 7,920 9,152 11 .622 11 ,561 12,438 11 ,904 14,122 14 ,287 13,1 58 

\0 "I otal pnmary government net position $ 78.470 $ 78.740 $ 79,655 $ 83.845 $ 88.084 $ 92,161 $ 91.713 $ 95,007 $ 97.607 $ 99.283 



City of Kelso 
C hanges in Net !'osition 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(accrual basis of account in~) 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Fiscal Year 

Expense> 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
( iovcruuJclltal acttvllh..:s 

ticncral government $ 1,503 $ 1,501 $ 1,453 $ 1,312 $ 1,401 $ 1,525 $ 1,714 $ 1,863 $ 2,031 $ 2,036 
Sc~;urlly of pcrsuns ami properly 4,939 5,031 4,543 4,533 4,562 4,609 4,608 5,134 5,392 4,661 
Physu.:aJ cnvJrunnlcnt 430 441 422 431 375 391 249 338 324 295 
" l 'ra.~ JspurtattuJ I 1,747 1,783 1,703 1,722 2,180 2,323 2,654 3,322 4,287 2,489 
Ht:OilOIIH<.: CI\VInH\IllCI \1 442 695 396 590 754 308 374 325 343 302 
Cuhurc and rccrcaiJoll 993 1,091 1,054 1,066 985 1,121 1,107 1,087 1,161 1,228 
Interest on long-term Ucht 135 140 173 117 114 122 109 179 156 149 

TutaJ guvcnuucntal actiVI ties cxpcnscs 10,1 89 10,682 9,744 9,771 10,371 10,399 10,815 12,248 13,694 11 ,160 
lhtSIIJCSS·typc at.:I IV I IICS 

Water/Sewer 6,889 6,634 6,578 6,610 7,079 7,1 86 7,645 7,672 8,008 8,836 
Solid wast~.: 1,091 1,247 1,235 1,294 1,317 1,457 1,481 1,549 1,575 1,675 
Storm water 464 456 580 571 547 556 715 609 665 678 
A1rpun 423 357 380 422 

TutaJ busmcss-typt..: actlvJIJcs cx.pcns~.:s 8,867 8,694 8,773 8,897 8,943 9,199 9,841 9,830 10,248 11,189 
'l 'otal pn1nary govcrnntcnt cxpc..:ltscs $ 19,056 $ 19,376 $ 18,517 $ 18,668 $ 19,314 $ 19,598 $ 20,656 $ 22,078 $ 23,942 $ 22,349 
l, ro~ram H.cvcnucs 

N ( i liVCI'IllllCIIIaJ al:llVIlle.:S 
0 Charges fur scrv1ccs 

l icw.:ral govcnm11..:nt $ 60 $ 62 $ 97 $ 91 $ 209 $ 90 $ 119 $ 130 $ 155 $ 136 
Sccunty uf persons aud propl.!rly 370 185 233 192 151 360 279 306 375 268 
111Jyslcal cnv1runmcnt 13 48 11 6 17 18 34 26 33 39 
'l'nulsponatiOII 75 191 210 231 298 532 655 599 577 412 
I ~CUIIOI I JH; CI IVI fUillllC il l 119 119 127 127 147 163 76 160 145 156 
Culture anti rccrcalloll 56 76 104 100 80 140 94 99 99 97 

Up!.!ratmg grants aut! coutnbuttuns 585 691 624 894 848 172 317 192 261 514 
Capital grants ami contnbut1uns 1,262 867 822 1,455 4,895 3,525 663 1,460 601 2,584 

'l'otal govcnunctttaJ a<.:llvttlcs prugratn revcllUI.!S 2,540 2,239 2,228 3,096 6,645 5,000 2,237 2,972 2,246 4,206 
IJusttH.:ss·type actJ VJth.: s 

Charges J()r services 

Water/Sewer 7,182 7,320 7,635 7,621 7,883 8,358 8,868 9,035 9,038 9,377 
Sultd \\'USh.: 1,110 1,131 1,142 1,145 1, 194 1,382 1,427 1,517 1,596 1,642 
Sto1111 water 446 559 623 579 591 623 714 762 803 844 
i\1rpon 125 131 138 126 

( >pcrat111g grants ami cuntnbuttons 256 129 238 193 19 75 7 25 44 6 
Capital grams and ClUitnbuttons 163 10 457 2 112 1,144 165 146 

TutaJ busmcss·typc acttvlltcs prugratll rcvcnuc.:s 9,282 9,280 9,776 10,121 9,689 10,550 11 ,016 12,483 11 ,646 12,015 
'l 'otal prtlltary govcrntnc.:tll program n.:: vcnu~.:s $ 11 ,822 $ 11 ,519 $ 12,004 $ 13,217 $ 16,334 $ 15,550 $ 13,253 $ 15,455 $ 13,892 $ 16,221 



F is~al Year 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

N...: t tCXJh.!llSC)I rcvcnuc 

( ioVCfll ll lt;;J\Ial at.: I IVItiCS $ (7,649) $ (8,443) $ (7,516) $ (6,675) $ (3,726) $ (5,399) $ (8,578) $ (9,276) $ (11 ,448) $ (6,954) 
I~USIIICSS~typ...: aL:liV IIICS 415 586 1,003 1,224 746 1,351 1,175 2.653 1,398 826 
Total pn111ary gov..:mm~.:nt net expense $ (7,234) $ (7,857) $ (6,513} $ (5,451 ) $ (2,980) $ (4,048) $ (7,403) $ (6,623) $ (10,050) $ (6,128) 

Gcncralltcvcnuc.s and other C hanges in 

Net l'usitiun 
(iOVI.!fll ll ll.! llla( UL:llVIliCS 

Taxes 
Prop..:rty taxes $ 1,146 $ 1,139 $ 1,159 $ 1,175 $ 1,1 91 $ 1,206 $ 1,243 $ 1,280 $ 1,300 $ 1,506 
Saks taxes 2,014 2,150 2,154 2,103 2,141 2,410 2,546 2,899 2,883 2,932 
ll ttlily !axe; 2,534 2,542 2,611 2,827 2,748 2,809 3,099 3,265 3,320 3,358 
Uus!lh.:ss taxes 659 671 713 755 772 821 875 944 945 986 
I ~ xc1s..: taxes 156 117 111 86 79 107 157 188 263 450 

Penalties & mh.:rcst 5 5 4 5 3 5 4 6 5 9 
State c nllllcmcnts 638 640 572 573 692 624 653 763 804 978 
Investment carmngs 65 50 68 64 29 37 55 51 93 142 
Mls~.:dlancuus 60 12 21 26 66 93 68 631 286 75 
tiam/(loss) o n sale oft.:apttal assets 1 135 186 
Spct.: tal lti.!J IIS 2,513 
Trans !Crs (20) (20) 4 (40) (56) 17 (44) 

TotaJ govcmmcntaJ actiVItieS 7,257 7,306 7,417 7,574 10,178 8,112 8,701 10,044 10,034 10,578 
1\.) Busnu.:ss-typc at.:ttvllJcs ..... 

lnvcstnH.:Ilt cannng::. 39 15 15 11 11 13 18 23 70 148 
Mtsccll an~..:uu::. 20 4 
Gam/( loss) on sale ufcapual assets (264) 
SpccJalllcnJs (3,026) 
' l'ransiCrs 20 20 (4) 40 56 (17) 44 

'J'otaJ bUSIIICSS·Iyp~; i.ll:IIVIIICS 59 55 11 51 (2,959) 13 22 7 (194) 192 
'l'otaJ pn1t1ary guvcnJntcnt $ 7,316 $ 7,361 $ 7,428 $ 7,625 $ 7,219 $ 8,125 $ 8,723 $ 10,051 $ 9,840 $ 10,770 

Change ln Ncr l•osit ion 
l iuvcl'lll llclllal actiVI IlcS $ (392) $ (1 ,137) $ (99) $ 899 $ 6,452 $ 2,713 $ 123 $ 768 $ (1,414) $ 3,624 

Busllh.:ss-typc.: at.:IIVIItcs 474 641 1,014 1,275 (2,213) 1,364 1,197 2,660 1,204 1,018 
'l'utal pn1nary guvcrnlnl.!lll $ 82 $ (496) $ 915 $ 2,174 $ 4,239 $ 4,077 $ 1,320 $ 3,428 $ (210) $ 4,642 



City of Kelso 
Gover nmental Activities Tax Revenues by Source 

Last Ten Fisca l Years 
(accrual basis of accounting) 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Fisca l Property Sales Uti lity Business Excise 
Yea r Tax Tax Taxes Taxes Taxes 
2009 $ 1 '146 $ 2,014 $ 2,534 $ 659 $ 156 
2010 1,139 2,150 2,542 671 117 
2011 1 '159 2,154 2,611 713 111 
2012 1 '175 2,103 2,827 755 86 
2013 1 '191 2,141 2,748 772 79 
2014 1,206 2,41 0 2,809 821 107 
2015 1,243 2,546 3,099 875 157 
2016 1,280 2,899 3,265 944 188 
2017 1,300 2,883 3,320 945 263 
2018 1,506 2,932 3,358 986 450 
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City of Kelso 
Fund Balances uf Governmental Funds 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(mudilied accrual basis of accounting) 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 
< i..:n~ral fund (l'~r ( ii\Sil 54)* 
Nunsp~ntlahlc $ $ $ 55 $ $ 
R..:stri~t..:d 54 93 171 100 
Cummiuc:tl 178 213 242 
1\ss ign~d 202 212 
l J nassign~d 1 ' 197 3,063 3 ,097 3,828 

(i..:n..:ral lund ( l'nur to <ii\Sil54J* 
l{..: s..:rv~d 200 155 
l!nn;sc:rv..:c.l 1,491 1,022 

Total g~n~ral fund $ 1,691 $ 1,177 $ 1,686 $ 3,369 $ 3,510 $ 4 ,140 

All uth..:r guv..:nun..:ntallunds ( l'..:r (ii\Sil54)* 
Nunsp~ndahlc $ $ $ 953 $ 829 $ 647 $ 
R~s tric:t~d 1,295 1,350 1,321 1,516 
1\ssign..:c.l 1,078 1,215 1,350 2,032 
lJnassign..:tl (744) (504) (1 ,227) (304) 

1\lluth..:r guv..:rnmc:mal func.ls (l'rior to (ii\Sil 54)* 
R..:s..:rv..:c.l 811 155 
l!nr..:s..:rv..:c.l , r..:port..:d in: 

Sp..:..:ial r..:v..:nu..: ltmds 802 379 
lkbt s..:rvi..:..: llmc.ls 1,605 1,597 

Total alluth.:r guv..:rnm..:ntal func.ls $ 3,218 $ 2 ,1 31 $ 2,582 $ 2,890 $ 2,091 $ 3,244 

• In 20 II th..: City 1\dupt..:d (ii\Sil 54, Fund /Julance Repurtmg and Uovernmemul Fund 'l'ype I )ejinwuns. 1\moums pr.:viously n:port.:tl 
as r..:s..:rv..:d and unn.:s..:rv..:d ar..: nnw r..:purt..:d as nunspcndahk , n.:stricwd, commill..:d, assigned, or unassign..:d. Additionally, as rcquin;d by 
(ii\Sil 54, the City r..:dassi licd c<.:rtain funds within the gov~rnm~ntal fund typ<.:s lilr reporting purposc;s fiu· f is~a l year 20 II. 

2015 2016 2017 2018 

$ $ $ $ 
92 118 119 103 

242 277 312 323 
4,564 5 ,285 5 ,482 6 ,111 

$ 4 ,898 $ 5,680 $ 5,913 $ 6,537 

$ $ $ $ 
1,572 3,798 984 841 
2,105 2,607 2,867 3 ,445 
(428) (231 ) (84) 

$ 3,249 $ 6,174 $ 3,767 $ 4,286 



City of Kelso 
Changes in Fu nd Balances of Governmental F unds 

Last Ten Fiscal Y cars 
(modified accrual basis of accountin~;) 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Fisca l Yea r 
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 201 8 

l{cvcnucs 

Taxes $ 6,506 $ 6,607 $ 6,745 $ 6,955 $ 6,940 $ 7,361 $ 7,928 $ 8,655 $ 8,859 $ 9,254 

Lieenses and permits 159 138 200 195 212 203 131 174 191 169 

Intergovernmental 2,341 2,199 1,653 3,066 5,415 5,588 1,361 2 ,739 1,121 3,872 

Charges ltll' services 747 988 824 879 963 1,008 1,268 1,311 1 '141 1,246 

Fines 127 164 190 140 130 119 106 98 105 138 

Investment earnings 61 49 69 64 29 37 55 53 96 144 

Contributions 48 1 55 65 35 4 

Rental/ lease ineome 59 53 61 86 90 104 105 112 118 113 

Miseellaneous 159 37 36 38 78 110 84 655 257 83 

Total revenues 10,207 10,236 9,778 11,423 13,857 14,530 11,093 13,862 11 ,923 15,023 

...... 
N Expenditures 
.j::. 

<.ienera l government 1,746 1,812 1,726 1,619 1,659 1,730 1,953 2,110 2,434 2,492 

Seeurity or persons and property 4,614 4,700 4,299 4,297 4,340 4,271 4,386 4,808 5,114 5,120 

l'hysieal environment 635 647 548 571 494 439 437 602 550 578 

' l'ransportation 657 605 495 479 742 851 928 1,589 3,186 1,492 

I ~eonomie environment 441 709 398 585 752 313 381 317 345 310 

Culture and recreation 717 758 774 781 709 842 827 885 1,033 1,087 

Capital outlay 1,646 2 ,005 1,355 1,999 5,497 3,883 1 '192 2,926 1,183 3,098 

Debt serviee 

l'rineipa l 128 128 133 148 158 317 140 305 270 270 

Inte rest 133 138 224 111 108 101 86 185 171 164 

Total expenditures 10.717 11 ,502 9,952 10,590 14,459 12,747 10,330 13,727 14,286 14,611 

I ~xeess o r revenues 

over (under) expenditures (510) (1 ,266) (174) 833 (602) 1,783 763 135 {2,363) 412 



Other financing sources (uses) 
Transfl:rs in 2,019 258 489 497 573 579 543 1,517 1,146 962 

Transkrs out (2,039) (278) (485) (537) (628) (579) (543) (1,500) (1,146) (1 ,006) 

HonJs issu~:J 2,710 3,200 

Bonds rd'unJ~:J (2 ,660) 

I' rem i um on bonds issued 355 

Sal~: or capital assets 189 259 

Total other linan~:ing 

sourc~:s ( us~:s) (20) (20) 54 (40) (55) 3 ,572 189 215 

Net change in Cund balances $ (530) $ (1,286) $ (120) $ 793 $ (657) $ 1,783 $ 763 $ 3,707 $ (2,174) $ 627 

lkbt s~:rv ic~: as a pcr~:cntagc or 

noncapital expenditures* 2.88% 2.80% 4.15% 3.01% 2.97% 4.72% 2.47% 4.54% 3.37% 3 .77% 

• This ratio was calculated by dividing the debt service (principal and interest) by the non-capital expenditures. 
Non-capital expenditures were calculated by subtracting capital outlay from total expenditures. 

City of Kelso 

"' 
Gener al Governmental Tax Revenues by Source 

Ol L ast Ten Fiscal Y cars 
(modilied accrual basis of accounting) 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Fisca l l'ruperty Sales Utility Busi ness Other 
Year Tax Tax Taxes Taxes Taxes Total 
~ $ 1,138 $ 2,014 $ 2,534 $ 659 $ 161 $ 6,506 
2010 1,121 2,150 2,542 671 123 6 ,607 
2011 1,152 2,154 2,611 713 115 6,745 
2012 1,178 2,103 2,827 755 92 6,955 
2013 1,197 2,141 2,748 772 82 6,940 
2014 1,209 2,410 2,809 821 112 7,361 
2015 1,247 2,546 3,099 875 161 7,928 
2016 1,353 2,899 3,265 944 194 8,655 
2017 1,255 2,883 3,320 945 456 8,859 
2018 1,519 2,932 3,358 986 459 9,254 



Fiscal Residential 
Year Property• 
2009 
2010 436.850 
2011 443.827 
2012 429,082 
2013 367,517 
2014 375.497 
201 5 390,452 
2016 403,206 
2017 436.557 
2018 513.324 

City of Kelso 
.-\ssessed Value and Estimated .-\ctual Value of T axable Property 

(amounts expressed in thousands) 

Real Pro~er!! 
'ion- State 

Residential .-\ssessed Personal Total Assessed Estimated 
Property• Pro~ertyt Pro~ertyt Valuet Value 

$ 727,939 $ 830.033 
227.782 22,065 41 .508 728.204 812.728 
234.608 23,732 51 ,23 1 753,399 817,136 
230,187 24,973 59,015 743.257 793,231 
227,510 25,170 60.067 680,264 707,871 
217.853 26,579 58.108 678.037 723.625 
213,41 3 28,575 57,771 690,210 723,491 
205.578 30,182 64.586 703,552 805,901 
227,543 29.706 71.815 765,621 834,919 
205.673 31 ,239 67,549 817.786 890.834 

' Cowhtz County Assessor's Office · distrtbutton represents countywtde allocatton 
, Department of Revenue · Property Tax Dtvts ton 
Note- distribution represents countywtde allocatton. Certain other mformation was not available pnor to 20 10 
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Ratio of 
Assessed Value 

Direct To Estimated 
Tax Rate Actual Value• 

1.8102% 87.7% 
1.7985% 89.6% 
1.7643% 92.2% 
1.8131% 93.7% 
2.0116% 96.1% 
2.0557% 93.7% 
2.0467% 95.4% 
2.0612% 87.3% 
1.9237% 91.7% 
1.8485% 91 .8% 
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City of Kelso 
Proper ty Tax Rates 

Direct and Overlapping Governments 
(Per $1,000 of Assessed Value) 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal C ity Total School Port of Cowlitz 
Year Regular Citl:: District Longview County 
2009 $ 1.8102 $ 1.8102 $ 4.3766 $ 0.4037 $ 1.6629 
2010 1.7985 1.7985 
2011 1.7643 1.7643 
2012 1.8131 1.8131 
2013 2.0116 2.0116 
2014 2.0557 2 0557 
2015 2.0467 2.0467 
2016 2 0612 2.0612 
2017 1.9237 1.9237 
2018 1.8485 1.8485 

Diking and Mosquito Di stricts are not included 

Source: Cowlitz County Assessor's Office 

4.4339 0.3906 1.6904 
5.1213 0.3933 1.7304 
5.1967 0.2192 1.8647 
5.7004 0.2164 1.9408 
5.6506 0.4500 2.0423 
5.6186 0.4500 2.1404 
5.5153 0.4177 1.9728 
5.2898 0.3438 1.9155 
4.9389 0.2586 1.8898 

Cowlitz 2 
State of Fire 

Washington District Total 
$ 2.0593 $ 1.4044 $11 .7171 

2.1058 1.4643 11 .8835 
2.2954 1.5000 12.8047 
2.3733 1.5000 12.9670 
2.4478 1.5000 13.8170 
2.3356 1.5000 14.0342 
2.2824 1.5000 14.0381 
2.0837 1.4982 13.5489 
2.1369 1.8025 13.4122 
2.8988 1.6671 13.5017 



Tax~a~er Rank 
Foster F anns Poultry 1 $ 
Three Rivers Mall LLC 2 
Burlington Northern Santa Fe 3 
Mario Segale 4 
C & CLogging 5 
.IMK Limited Partnership 6 
.-\LS Group USA 7 
Riverway SPE LLC 8 
Allen Street Investments 9 
Storedahl 10 
SW Paper Inc. 12 
Dayton Hudson 15 
Surnmerwind Properties LLC 13 
RiM Olson Properties LLC 
CAS Holdings 

$ 

Source: Cowlitz County .-\ssessor's Office 

City of Kelso 
Principal Property Taxpayers 

December 31, 2018 
(amounts expressed in thousands) 

2018 
Percentage of 

Assessed Total Assessed 
Valuation Valuation 

35,131 4.03% 
27,739 3.18% 
18,636 2.14% 
14,664 1.68% 
11 ,945 1.37% 
9,867 1.13% 
7,803 0.90% 
7,060 0.81% 
6,944 0.80% 
6,774 0.78% 
6,271 0.72% 
5,585 0.64% 
6.327 0.73% 

164,746 18.91% 
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2009 
Percentage of 

.-\ssessed Total .-\ssessed 
Rank Valuation Valuation 

1 $ 35,281 4.89% 
2 26.577 3.09% 
9 6.409 0.88% 

11 
3 8,492 1.30% 

12 
7 6,775 0.93% 

4 8,007 1.09% 
6 7,213 0.99% 
8 6,690 0.92% 
10 6,309 0.87% 
5 7.213 0.99% 

$ 118,966 15.95% 



City of Kelso 
Principa l Utili ty Taxpayers 

December 31, 20 18 

20 18 
Percentage of 

Utility Tax Ty[!e Rank Tax Tax to Tota l Rank 
Electricity* 1 $ 733,808 21.85% 1 
Sewer* 2 545,242 16.23% 2 
Water* 3 368,674 10.98% 4 
Cable Television* 4 210,015 6.25% 6 
Garbage* 5 163,636 4.87% 8 
Cell Phone** 6 117,21 4 3.49% 3 
Telephone** 7 80,922 2.4 1% 5 
Natural Gas* 8 67,852 2.02% 7 

2,287,363 68.11% 

*Taxes paid by single utility provider 
**Taxes paid by multiple providers 
Source: City of Kelso 
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2009 
Percentage of 

Tax Tax to Total 
$ 539,015 21.28% 

352,009 13.89% 
196,428 7.75% 
104,005 4.11 % 
88,880 3.51% 

241 ,214 9.52% 
124,916 4.93% 
95,717 3.78% 

1,742,184 68.76% 
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City of Kelso 
Property Tax Levies and Collections 

Last Ten Fiscal Yeat·s 

Total Percent of Collections in Total 
Fiscal Tax Current Tax Current Taxes Subsequent Tax 
Year Lev~ Collections Collected 
2009 $ 1,316,848 $1 ,254,188 95.2% 
2010 1,309,655 1,242,802 94.9% 
2011 1,329,252 1,262,544 95.0% 
2012 1,347,579 1,285,794 95.4% 
2013 1,368,390 1,309,790 95.7% 
2014 1,393,874 1,335,634 95.8% 
2015 1,412,682 1,361,171 96.4% 
2016 1,450,135 1,397,191 96.3% 
2017 1,472,804 1,423,709 96.7% 
2018 1,511 ,643 1,463,408 96.8% 

Basis tor property tax rates is per $1,000 of assessed valuation 
Sourcc: Cowlitz County Assessor's Ofti cc 

Years Collections 
$ 62,660 $ 1,316,848 

66,853 1,309,655 
66,708 1,329,252 
61,785 1,347,579 
58,600 1,368,390 
58,240 1,393,874 
51 ,511 1,412,682 
46,036 1,443,227 
31 ,080 1,454,789 

1,463,408 

Ratio of Ratio of 
Total Tax O utstanding Delinquent 

Collections to Delinq uent Taxes to 
Total Tax Levy Taxes Total Tax Lev~ 

100.0% 0.0% 
100.0% 0.0% 
100.0% 0.0% 
100.0% 0.0% 
100.0% 0.0% 
100.0% 0.0% 
100.0% 0.0% 
99.5% 6,908 0.5% 
98.8% 18,015 1.2% 
96.8% 48,235 3.2% 
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City of Kelso 
Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type 

Last Ten Fisca l Years 
(amounts expressed in thousands, except per capita amount) 

Governmental Activities Business-T~ee Activities 
General Water/Sewer 

Fiscal Obligation Miscellaneous Revenue Miscellaneous 
Year Bonds Notes Bonds Notes 

2009 $ 2,875 $ 273 $ 840 $ 
2010 2,770 250 5,235* 
2011 2,710 227 5,050 
2012 2,585 204 4,865 
2013 2,408 182 4,603 
2014 2,294 4,441 
2015 2,175 - 4,285 
2016 5,744** 4,085 
2017 5,120 - 3,880 
2018 4,832 3,665 

Nutc. Detail~ rcgardtng the Ctty'~ out~tanding debt can be round tn the note~ to the financtal ~tatemcnt~. 

Ni l\ - lnlt>rmallon not available 

I l'ersonal tncomc was cakulated by mulllplymg the County's per capita tncome by the City's population 

2 Sec the sched ule or Demographic and l:conomtc Stattsllcs o n page 136 lor perso nal income and populallon data 

•Cny tssucd $4,475 tn revenue bonds tn 201 0. 

••cny Issued $3,200 111 li.O. bonds tn 2016 

*'•City borrowed $3,74H !rom the Drink tng Water State Rcvolvmg Loan bonds tn 20 I H. 

2,322 
2,119 
1,916 
1,714 
1,472 
1,284 
1,097 

909 
972 

4,332*** 

Total 
Primary 

Government 

$ 6,310 
10,374 
9,903 
9,368 
8,665 
8,019 
7,557 

10,738 
9,972 

12,829 

Percentage 
of Personal Per 

I nco met Capitaz 

1.68% $ 533 
2.72% 881 
2.48% 831 
2.25% 785 
2.02% 726 
1.76% 670 
1.57% 632 
2.23% 897 
2.07% 832 

N/A 1,062 



Fiscal Assessed 
Year Value*1 
2009 $ 727,939 
2010 728,204 
201 1 753,399 
2012 743,257 
2013 680,264 
2014 678,037 
2015 690,210 
2016 703,552 
2017 765,621 
2018 817,786 

*Amounts expressed in thousands 
1Cowlitz County Assessor's Office 

$ 

City of Kelso 
Ratio of General Bonded Debt Outstanding 

Last Teo Fiscal Years 

General Less: Amounts 
Obligation Available in Debt 

Bonds Service Fund Total 
2,875,000 $ 2,875,000 
2,770,000 2,770,000 
2,710,000 2,710,000 
2,585,000 2,585,000 
2,408,189 2,408,189 
2,294,356 2,294,356 
2,175,000 2,175,000 
5,407,314 5,407,314 
5, 119,561 5,119,561 
4,831 ,807 4,831 ,807 

2See the Schedule of Assessed Value and Estimated Actual Value of Taxable Property on Page 126 for property value data 

!Population data can be found m the Schedule of Demographic and Economic Statistics on page 136 

Note: Details regarding the City's outstandmg debt can be found m the notes to !he financml statements. 
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Percentage of 
Estimated 

Actua l Taxable 
Value of Per 

Proeertyz CaeitaJ 
0.35% $ 243 
0.34% 235 
0.33% 227 
0.33% 217 
0.34% 202 
0.32% 192 
0.30% 182 
0.67% 452 
0.61% 428 
0.54% 400 



City of Kelso 
Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt 

December 31,2018 

Estimated 
Debt Percentage 

1 urisdiction Outstanding Applicablet 
Direct: 
City of Kelso $ 4,831 ,807 100% 
Overlapping: 
Cowlitz County 35,207,416 8% 
Kelso School District 69,773,333 39% 
Port of Longview 8,040,000 10% 
Cowlitz Fire District #2 9,786,133 30% 

Subtotal, overlapping debt 122,806,882 

Estimated 
Share of 

Overlapping 
Debt 

$ 4,831,807 

2,816,593 
27,211 ,600 

804,000 
2,935,840 

33,768,032 

Total direct and overlapping $ 127,638,689 $ 38,599,839 

Source: Cowlitz County Assessor's Office 

N01e; Overlappmg governments are those that comcide, at least m pan, with the geographic boundanes of the City. 

Th1s schedule estimates the port1on of the outstanding debt of those overlappmg governments that IS borne by the 

res1dents and businesses of the City of Kelso. This process recogruzes that, when cons1denng the City's ability 10 

1ssue and repay long-lenn debt, the entire debt burden borne by the res1den1s and businesses should be taken mlo 

account. However, llus does nolunply that every taxpayer IS a resident , and therefore respons1ble for repaymg the debt, 

of each overlappmg government. 

1 The percentage of overlapping debt apphcable 1s esumated usmg taxable assessed property values. Applicable 

percentages were estJmated by detenrurung the Junsdiction's taxable value tha11s wutun the City's boundanes and 

diVIding u by the JUOSdiction's total taxable assessed value. 
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Debt limit 

Total m:t t.kbt appl icabk to limit 

l.cgal th:bt margin 

Total n<.:t d..:bt appli.:abk to th<.: limit 
as a per.:cntage or debt limit 

2009 

$ 54,595 

1,270 

$ 53,325 

2.33% 

2010 

$ 54,615 

2,046 

$ 52 ,569 

3.75% 

City of Kelso 
Lcgall>ebt Margin Information 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 
(a mounts expressed in thousands) 

Fiscal Year 

2011 2012 2013 

$ 56,505 $ 55,744 $ 51,020 

1,893 1,637 1,378 

$ 54,612 $ 54,1 07 $ 49,642 

3.35% 2.94% 2.70% 

2014 2015 2016 2017 

$ 50,853 $ 51 ,766 $ 52,766 $ 57,422 

2,315 2,175 5,070 __ 4,800 

$ 48,538 $ 49,591 $ 47,696 $ 52,622 

4.55% 4.20% 9.61% 8.36% 

Legal Debt Margin Calculation for F isca l Year 201!1 

Assessed value 

lkbt limn (7.5% or total assessed valu<.:) 
Debt appli..:able to limit. 

Ocncral obligation bonds 
l.ess: Amount set aside lor repayment 

or general obligation dt.:bt 
Total m:t debt applicabk to limit 

Legal debt margin 

Nutt:. Tlu..: ('uy uf Kr.:bu 1::. .1uthuntr.:d to 1::.suc \h.:bt pur::.uant to the A~ts of the.: State ufWashutgtou. Wllh vuh.:r approval tht: Clly r.:an 1ssu~.: ~h;bt up to 2.5 pr..:n.:cnt uf thc a::.::.cs::.cd valuut1un u!'tu:abh: property w 1lh111 the Cuy 

Without a vole, the L'1ty can uu..:ur c.h.:bt up tu an amount ~.:quaiiO 1.5 pr.:na;nt oft he; asst:sscd valuauun. Furtht:r, vuh.:d 111dcbtc.:dncss IS pcrnuttcd lOr water, arufktalll~hts, and ::.cwcru~c up to 2 .5 pcn.:cnt uf assessed valuat ion, 

with an dd.duauu.-1 2 5 pt:n.:~.:lll avallablt.: lur ac~u1nng open spiU,;c IUr park fa-.:thtic~ l"hc cumbmalton u!' unlunlha.l lax { Yui..:.U) and lmut~,;U lax {nun -vut~;d) general ubll~alluU d..:.bl IUr d. I! purposes cannot cx c~,;cd 7 5 pcrc~;JU 

ofa~:!.C3:!.Cd Yd!UdltUII 

2018 

$ 61,334 

4,530 

$ 56,804 

7.39% 

$ 817,786 

61,334 

4,530 

4,530 
$ 56 ,804 



City of Kelso 
Pledged-Revenue Coverage 

Last Ten Fisca l Years 

Water/Sewer Revenue Bonds 
Less: Net 

Fiscal Water/Sewer Operating Available Debt Ser viceJ 
Year Reveoues1 Expenses2 Revenue Princ i~al In terest 
2009 $7,124,034 $6,102,630 $1 ,021,404 $ 75,000 $ 35,291 
2010 7,256,265 5,871 ,745 1,384,520 80,000 33,454 
2011 7,569,205 5,664,324 1 ,904,881 185,000 194,836 
2012 7,584,880 5,740,359 1,844,521 185,000 189,738 
2013 7,805,929 6,125,903 1,680,026 190,000 193,409 
2014 8,280,269 6,092,495 2,187,774 195,000 216,772 
2015 8,796,003 6,599,416 2 ,196,587 195,000 214,992 
2016 8,978,127 6,675,819 2 ,302,308 200,000 167,381 
2017 8,982,591 7,034,003 1,948,588 205,000 161 '159 
2018 9,433,897 7,883,278 1,550,619 215,000 152,380 

1 Total revenues (including investment earnings) exc lusive of capital recovery charges and capital grants. 
z Total operating expenses exclusive of depreciation and interest. 
>lncludes principal and interest of water/sewer revenue bonds only. 
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Coverage 
9.26 

12.20 
5.02 
4.92 
4.38 
5.31 
5.36 
6.27 
5.32 
4.22 



City of Kelso 
Demographic and Econom ic Statistics 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Info available a t County level on I! 
Per Capita 

Fiscal Persona l Personal Unemployment 
Year Popula tion' locome2 lncome2 
2009 11 ,840 $ 3,235,488 $ 31 ,681 
2010 11 ,780 3,314,467 32,368 
2011 11,920 3,426,188 33,479 
20 12 11 ,930 3,557,907 34,941 
2013 11 ,940 3,667, 139 36,002 
2014 11 ,960 3,894,794 38,135 
2015 11 ,950 4,177,087 40,371 
2016 11 ,970 4,358,825 41 ,449 
2017 11 ,980 4,585,187 42,888 
2018 12,080 N/A N/A 

N/ A - information not available. 
1 Source: Office of Financial Management 
zSource: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis. 
>Source: Kelso School District 
~source: Bureau of Labor Statistics 
Personal income amounts are expressed in thousands of dollars. 
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Rate4 
13.4% 
13.0% 
12. 1% 
10.9% 
10.1% 
8.4% 
7.6% 
7.1% 
6.1% 
5.9% 

School 
EnrollmentJ 

5,022 
5,034 
4,970 
4,091 
4,908 
4,974 
4,951 
5,030 
5,045 
4,941 



City of Kelso 
Principal Employers 

C urrent Year and 'iine Years Ago 

2018 
Percentage 

of Total County 
Employer Em~lovees Rank Em~lo:z:ment 

StJohn's Medical Center/Peace Health 1,700 1 3.9% 
Weyerhaeuser 1,500 2 3.4% 
Longview School District 905 3 2.1% 
Kapstone Paper & Packaging I Longview Fibre 800 4 1.8% 
Wai-Mart 750 5 1.7% 
Foster Fanns 700 6 1.6% 
Kelso Schoo l District 650 7 1.5% 
JH Kelly 600 8 1.4% 
Cowlitz County 600 9 1.4% 
Fred Meyer 417 10 1.0% 
Safeway Grocery 
Lower Columbia College 

Total 8,622 19.8% 

Note- Principal employer information is available on a county-wide basis only. 
Sources: Cowlitz- Wahkiakum Council of Governments, Kelso Longview Chamber of Commerce 

Was hington State Employment Security Department and Cowlitz Economic Development Council 
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2009 
Percentage 

of Total County 
Em~loyees Rank Em~lovment 

1,874 1 5.0% 
1,580 2 4.3% 

925 4 2.5% 
1,020 3 2.7% 

800 6 2.2% 
832 5 2.2% 
600 8 1.6% 
570 9 1.5% 

550 10 1.5% 
738 7 2.0% 

9,489 25.5% 



City of Kelso 
Fu ll-time Equivalent City Government Employees by Func tion 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Function 

( iem:ral (iovcrnment 
Community lk velopmcnt 5.0 50 2.3 3.0 3.0 2.5 1.5 3.0 3.0 3.0 
Finance 8.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 
City Attorney 1.0 1.0 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 
t\dmin. 2.0 2.0 1.8 1.7 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.6 2.6 2.6 
I ~nginecring 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 4.1 4.1 4.6 5.0 5.0 4.0 
Airport 0.0 0.0 0.0 1 0 1 0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

Public Salcty 

Police 
Orticers 29.8 27.0 27.0 24.3 24.0 24.0 25.0 25.0 27.0 26.0 
Ci vilians 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 

l lighways & Streets 
Maintenam:e 1.4 1.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

w 
2.5 1.3 1.3 CX> Tranic 1 5 1.3 1.3 1.0 1.0 2.0 1.0 

Culture anJ recn:ation 7.1 6.0 6.0 6.0 6.3 6.3 7.0 7.0 7.0 8.0 
Water 8.7 7.5 7.5 7.5 88 8.8 8.0 8.5 9.0 9.0 
Sewer 6.7 5.5 5.5 5.5 6.8 6.8 6.0 6.5 7.0 7.0 
Drainage 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 30 3.0 3.0 

Total 85.6 76.0 71 .1 69. 1 72.1 72.6 71 .9 75.4 79.4 77.4 

Soun.;c ( 'uy Payroll Dcpt:trllncut 



City of Kelso 
Operating Indicators by Function 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 
Futu.·tiou 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
l'olu.;c 

Phystcal arrest> 1,668 1,608 1,435 1,309 1,163 1,065 1,227 1,169 1,204 1,607 
T rame vwlallons 1,176 2,477 2,471 1,310 1,114 1,197 645 391 856 2 ,11 3 

Ftre (contracteu wt th Cowl tV 2 Ftre and Rescue) 
Number or calls answcreu 3,981 3,743 3,974 4,180 4,225 4 ,107 4 ,636 4,950 4,953 4 ,918 

l ltghways and stree t> 
Street rcsurtacmg (lmear lt:ct) 5,150 35,957 21 ,056 6,300 3,800 13,500 4 ,700 4 ,500 3.000 1,127 

Santtatton (contracted wtth Waste Control I:..Jtttpmcnt Inc) 
Restdenual rcliose collected (tons monthly average) 519 495 507 524 513 641 642 677 696 712 
Restdenual recydablcs collected (tons monthly average) 50 51 46 50 41 40 41 38 41 39 

Water 
Number ul' ~crv1...:~-: cunnc...:twns 4,725 4 ,758 4 ,775 4,782 4,778 4,781 4,784 4,789 4 ,799 4,810 
Water matn breaks 6 11 9 5 7 7 3 6 6 10 
Average uatly conSU illflllon 

(1111ll10ns oi' gallons) 2.3 2 .2 2.2 2.0 2.1 2.1 2.3 2.2 2 .19 2.10 
S~wt!r 

Number ol' scrv1cc t.:tmncctwns 3,938 3,943 3,931 3,924 3,933 3,950 3,982 4,029 4 ,059 4,072 
Average uatly sewage treatment 

w (nu llwns or gallons) 2.4 2.6 2.7 2.9 2.3 2.5 2.7 2.7 2.7 2.5 c.o 
Sources Vanou, <:tty uepartnl<.:nts 



City of Kelso 
Capita l Asset Statistics by Function 

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year 
Function 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 
Pol ic.: 

Stations 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 
Patrol units 8 8 8 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 

llighways and strc.:..:ts 
Stn.:..:t (milt:s) 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 64 
Stn.:..:tl ights 380 432 432 432 441 469 469 483 502 502 
Tra rtic signals 12 13 13 13 13 15 15 15 15 15 

Cultur..: and r..:creation 
l .ibraries 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 
Park ucr.:ag..: 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 

Wat..:r 
Wat..:r mains (miles) 73.00 73.00 73.00 73.56 73.56 73.56 73.85 74.28 56.30 56.46 
l;in: hyd rants 550 550 554 554 554 556 605 606 606 606 

.f>. Maximum dai ly capacity 0 
( 111 iII ions or gallons) 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 3.60 

Scwcr 
Sanitary sewers (milcs) 52.00 56.00 56.00 56.52 56 .52 56.52 56.80 57 .02 44.84 44.84 
Storm sewers (miles) 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 55 
Maximum daily treatment capacity 

(millions or gallons) 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 

Soun.:cs: Various City departments. 


